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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERHES

Dear Shareholders,

| am pleased to present the annual report of Huajun International
Group Limited (formerly known as Huajun Holdings Limited) (the
"Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the "Group”) for the
year ended 31 March 2018 (the “Review Year”) for the shareholders’
perusal.

HIGHLIGHTS

In the past year, the lurking China-US trade war provoked anxiety
in the global market and also inflicted impacts on the political
situations in the Asia-Pacific regions that were beyond imagination.
The economic structure of China is currently under transformation.
Although the growth of industrial production is slowing down,
China overall economy continues to develop as being driven by
“innovation”. The internal consumption and domestic demand
continue to grow, indicating that the national power of China is
strengthening. Amid such changing environment, an enterprise
can only maintain steady economic growth if it can study closely
the changing environment, apply the right strategies according to
different scenarios and manage both internal and external matters
efficiently so as to keep the Company healthy and strong, and in
order to create values for the company and its shareholders. During
the Review Year, the Group has achieved a turnover of RMB3.92
billion, representing an increase of 18.3% over RMB3.31 billion for
last Year. The increase in turnover was contributed by the growth
of Huajun Energy segment businesses, which indicated that the
development strategy of “One with Two"” adopted by our Group is
in the correct direction.

Currently, Huajun International Group is in the progress of
organization restructuring and has set up three segments under
the strategic development strategy of “One with Two”, namely
industries, finance and real estate, adopting the business model
of multinational diversified integrated enterprise. These business
segments are interrelated, demonstrating the abundant resources
and financial strength of our Group and create a synergic effect
which enhances the overall operational efficiency. Besides, based
on the national policies, our Group reviewed and planned our future
development in a forward-looking manner. Our Group upholds the
enterprise’s core value of “Honorable people are not ostentatious;
people of moral integrity are realistic”, consolidating our existing
businesses and actively seeking opportunities for takeovers
and mergers both domestically and overseas so as to seize the
opportunities of economic development in China and around the
world.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ETRBES

PROSPECTS

2018 will be a year of reform for Huajun. Huajun International
Group has transformed the development model of its business
from quantitative to qualitative, and its business structure from a
loose one to a sizable and effective one. It depends on the vision
and execution ability of the Company’s management to seize the
opportunities in the uncertain environment currently. We need to
be vigilant in peacetime, be aware of our own strengths as well
as the others’, and be visionary, in order to achieve sustainable
development and create long-term values for our Company
and our shareholders. Only by improving ourselves constantly
in this constantly evolving market can we truly put ourselves in
an unbeatable position. In the process of overall upgrading and
transformation of our Group, we need the understanding and
support of our shareholders, and their supports along the journey.

Huajun International Group will endeavor to enhance its corporate
governance and continue to serve all of its shareholders and

stakeholders from various walks of life. | would like to express our
gratitude again to all of you!

Meng Guang Bao
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2018
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEE W N DT

BUSINESS REVIEW

Huajun International Group Limited (formerly known as Huajun
Holdings Limited) (the “Company”), is an investment holding
company. The Company engages in 8 businesses which are
aggregated into 5 reportable segments based on similar economic
characteristics, nature of products and production processes,
end-use markets, channels of distribution and regulatory
environment. The Company's reportable segments are Printing,
Trading and Logistics, Property Development and Investments,
Solar Photovoltaic and Financial Services. The Company includes
business not included in the reportable segments, such as industrial
equipment in others segment.

Our strategy is continue to strengthen our foundation, better
diversify our business portfolio, and grow, both organically and
through strategic acquisitions. We believe that this strategy will
increase our Shareholders value by creating an even stronger
Huajun.

For the Review Year, revenue was approximately RMB3,921.6
million, representing an increase of approximately RMB607.6
million, or 18.3%, compared to a revenue of approximately
RMB3,314.0 million for last year. The overall increase in revenue
was attributable to the growth of Trading and Logistics business,
in particular the increase in distribution and sale of petrochemical
products in the Review Year. The Printing segment continued to
register a stable growth.

Our Group generated most of its revenue from Trading and
Logistics segment which accounted for approximately 60.4% (2017:
35.4%) of the total revenue followed by Solar Photovoltaic segment
which accounted for approximately 19.4% (2017: approximately
41.4%) of the total revenue.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWR D
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

The table below sets forth our Group’s revenue by business
segment for the two years ended 31 March 2018 and 2017:

For the year ended 31 March
BE=-A=1t—-HLEE

2018 2017
—E2-N\F T —tF

RMB Million %  RMB Million %

ARBEER AREBET
Printing E1fml 658.1 16.8% 544.7 16.4%
Trading and Logistics B 5 K 2,367.2 60.4% 1,173.0 35.4%

Property Development ek Y e

and Investments 53.0 1.3% 15.3 0.5%
Solar Photovoltaic YN AN 760.2 19.4% 1,371.3 41.4%
Financial Services T RARTS 47.3 1.2% 169.5 5.1%
Other HAh, 35.8 0.9% 40.2 1.2%
3,921.6 100% 3,314.0 100.0%

TR ARERE_T-—NFR_FT—tF=
A=T—HALmBEFEREES D (REFSH
M)z EHR

The table below sets forth our Group's revenue by geographical
locations based on the location by customers for the two years
ended 31 March 2018 and 2017:

For the year ended 31 March
BE=-A=1t—-HLEE

2018 2017
—E-N\F T —tF
RMB Million %  RMB Million %
ARBEETR AREBET
The PRC s 3,302.4 84.2% 2,731.1 82.4%
The United States ESJE 283.8 7.2% 196.0 5.9%
Hong Kong B 237.9 6.1% 272.3 8.2%
European countries HONEIES 59.4 1.5% 52.8 1.6%
Other countries H A Bz 38.1 1.0% 61.8 1.9%
3,921.6 100% 3,314.0 100.0%
i g—
5=
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEE W N DT

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Below are details of the financial and trading prospects of the core
business segments of the Group:

Printing

New Island Printing Company Limited (“New Island”) is one of
the leading and reputable printing and packaging companies in
Hong Kong and China. New Island produces high quality packaging
and paper products with the capability to serve our international
clients in the areas of beauty and cosmetics, pharmaceutical, food
and beverage globally. We further develop overseas and local
customers portfolio and expand our production capacities by
setting up factories in Jiangsu and Hunan Provinces of the PRC and
relocate our Dongguan operations.

Printing will continue to be the major business segment of the
Group and contribute stable revenue and profit to the Group.

Trading and Logistics

This segment is principally engaged in the distribution and sales of
industrial software, electronic parts and devices and petrochemical
products. In August 2016, Shanghai Huajun Petrochemical Trading
Corporation Limited (E/8ZEZE{t THRAF]) was set up, it trades
a large spectrum of petrochemical products and the year under
review is the first full year operations of our petrochemicals
distribution business. The Group expects vast demand of
petrochemical products in Hong Kong and the PRC and with our
strength of strong network of suppliers ensure stable supply of
products managed by our team, the Group will continue to support
the growth of distribution and sales of petrochemical products.

On 31 October 2017, we have completed the disposal of effectively
22% equity interest in Candice Group Limited which engaged in
distribution and sales of industrial software, electronic parts and
devices and since then, Candice Group Limited ceased to be a
subsidiary of the Group.

EBERE(E)

THBAREEZOERH D MNTBERE SRR

1o
B

FUNENRI AR AR ((HM )R —REEREER
PENEANELEBEEERIFNERNEBEAT -
MNEEREBRNMAKRER  ASRMARE
RERRCHK REREKBENBEREFS R
% - RAGEBRBRHN THEPERTEHEM
WEE AR REE R 7 SE — FRIEAINE
B o

ORBEBRAEENEEEZBDE - RAKE
MR MY & RBERE

B 5 RIR

HAMERREDHERFEE TEET - EFFMH
NAHURACER - R-_T—RFN\A - L&
ERCIBERABMKIL - BETRZNACER
B% BAFERRMANBLIBEEHLENE
BETBFE - AEERATERTEBOLER
FOREL R - TR AR HEE A RPN E
mEERTE  AEEBHEF O HRHEEAL
EmmER -

R-Z—tHFt+HA=1+—H BZfiexKtE
EEMBEEEERARI(RFENHRHEETLRH
- BEFEHRAMH) 2% EEAE - Atk
EEZMBREBRERARTERETEENNE A
1

ANNUAL REPORT 2017/2018



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEE W N DT

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)
Property Development and Investments

This segment consists of land consolidation and development, real
estate development and sales, property leasing and management,
and various real estate business. Leveraging on the rich resources
in the PRC, the Group seeks development projects with asset
appreciation potential for investment and enjoys asset appreciation
while generating stable revenue. There are several core projects
held by the Group and under development during the year as
follows:

Shanghai Bao Hua International Plaza

On 17 August 2016, Shanghai Baohua Wanlong Real Estates
Company Limited (E/BREEEEZEZEAFRAF]), an indirectly wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, successfully bid for the land use
rights of the land in Minhang District, Shanghai, the PRC through
the auction held by Shanghai Minhang District Planning and Land
Administration Bureau (E/8MRITEMREIM LHEIER) offered for
sale by way of tender at a bidding price of RMB2,305 million. The
land is under development and will offer commercial and office
complex named Shanghai Bao Hua International Plaza (/8 {RZEE
B E35) with total gross floor area (“GFA") of approximately 185,000
square metres. Full completion of Shanghai Bao Hua International
Plaza is scheduled for 2019.

Dalian

On 30 March 2017, we acquired two property projects, namely Bao
Hua Financial Centre (IRE S BH 1)) and Bao Hua Wang Yuan* ({R
M 48), from a company controlled by Mr. Meng, the chairman, an
executive Director and a substantial shareholder of the Company at
a total Consideration of RMB1,920 million. Both Bao Hua Financial
Centre (IRE£ B L)) and Bao Hua Wang Yuan* (fREERESE) are
located in Dalian City, Liaoning Province, the PRC. In particular,
Bao Hua Financial Centre (fRE£ R L)) comprises a parcel of
land with a site area of approximately 10,857.10 sq.m. situated at
Xinghai Bay business area, Dalian. It is under development into a
commercial and Grade A office development complex with total
GFA of approximately 146,000 square meters to be erected thereon.
The development will be developed into a 51-storey commercial
and office complex with a 2-storey basement for car parking and
ancillary uses. Full completion of Bao Hua Financial Centre is
scheduled for 2019.

2017/20184F %k
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEE W N DT

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)
Property for sale - Gaoyou

In May 2017, Yangzhou Baohua Jianfeng Real Estate Co., Ltd., an
indirectly 80% owned subsidiary of the Company, successfully bid
for the land use rights of two pieces of land in Gaoyou District,
Jiangsu Province, the PRC at a bidding price of RMB739.7 million.
The two pieces of land are under development into a commercial
and residential project named Gaoyou Bao Hua — Jun Ting (=¥
{RZE «E[E) with two phases and has a total GFA of approximately
307,500 square meters. The first phase has offered for pre-sale in
February 2018. At 31 March 2018, a total of approximately 29,400
square meters were promptly sold for proceeds of RMB251.4
million.

Solar Photovoltaic

In 2017, the global solar photovoltaic industry had newly-
introduced photovoltaic capacity of 100GW with accumulated solar
photovoltaic installed capacity reaching 400GW. The global solar
photovoltaic industry maintained steady growth. China continued
to rank first in the new solar photovoltaic installations, representing
50% of the market shares with the annual installed capacity for
50GW surpassing countries such as the US, Japan and India. To
seize the opportunity, the Group’s Solar Photovoltaic operations are
principally engaged in business including manufacturing and sales
of monocrystalline silicon, polycrystalline silicon, silicon wafers,
solar cells, and solar modules. Our operations are located in Jiangsu
Province, the PRC.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEE W N DT

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Finance Services

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Finance Lease

This segment consists of the leasing of land, property, plant
and equipment, and other tangible assets. The operations of
this segment is mainly located in the PRC where the Group
seeks stable revenue with controllable risk.

Provision of Finance

The Group provides finance to prospective customers
who would provide securities for the performance of their
respective obligations to repay the Group. The Group will
take a prudence approach to develop this business segment,
diversify the customer portfolio and seek opportunity to
cooperate with its business partners.

Securities Investments

The Group invests in Hong Kong and overseas securities.
We mainly utilise the extensive investment experience of the
management to make medium and short-term investments by
searching for stable revenue with controllable risk, diversifying
the corporate operating risk and improving asset liquidity of
the Group.

Securities brokerage and assets management

During the year under review, the Group acquired a licensed
corporation which is licensed to carry out Type 1 (dealing in
securities), Type 4 (advising on securities) and Type 9 (asset
management) regulated activities under the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571) of the laws of Hong Kong)
("SFO"). We commenced the securities brokerage business
under the name of “United Securities Limited” in 2018.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEE W N DT

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

Our Group's revenue for the year ended 31 March 2018 was
approximately RMB3,921.6 million, representing an increase of
approximately RMB607.6 million, or 18.3%, compared to revenue of
approximately RMB3,314.0 million for last year. For the year ended
31 March 2018, our Group's major business segments, namely (1)
Printing reported a revenue of approximately RMB658.1 million
(2017: approximately RMB544.7 million); (2) Trading and logistics
reported a revenue of approximately RMB2,367.2 million (2017:
approximately RMB1,173.0 million); (3) Solar Photovoltaic recorded
a revenue of approximately RMB760.2 million (2017: approximately
RMB1,371.3 million); and (4) Financial services recorded a revenue
of approximately RMB47.3 million (2017: approximately RMB169.5
million).

As a group with diversified businesses, we look for opportunity of
sustainable growth. The overall increase in revenue was primarily
attributable to growth of trading and logistics in particular the sales
of larger spectrum of petrochemical products and with first full year
operations in the year under review.

Gross Profit and Gross Margin

Gross profit was approximately RMB339.8 million for the Review
Year (2017: approximately RMB477.3 million), with gross profit
margin of approximately 8.7% (2017: approximately 14.4%). The mix
of business segments that the Group operates affects its results of
operations such as its gross profit margins since different segments
have different profitability. While our printing business maintained
a stable gross margin, the decrease in gross profit was mainly due
to the change of revenue mix with higher contribution of trading
revenue which earning a lower gross profit margin compared to
financial services earning a higher profit margin.

1 %5 o 8
EER

REBBE-_T— ) \FZA=+—HIFENE
EBAMOANREIICABT  BEFLHESE
HARME3I14.0EETEMNARKE07.688
TTK183% - HE-_T—\F=ZA=1+—HILHF
B AEEEZEZBHE - BIONENRIERTS &2
BOARESSIAETL(ZE—HF  HARE
S447BE&ETL) QB S RYNBBEEBHAR
2,367 2BBT(ZE—tF  HARK1,173.0
BEL)  QAGREALRESEEBNOARE
760288 TT(ZE—+tF  HARK1371 388
L) RAERREHEEEEBOARKLI3F
BL(ZZ—tF  HARKI1958ETT) °

ERBEZTCEBNEE - RAIBORSZKA
FSEBRRNOKE - EXEBRENETZHANES
RYMRER  LERRAFERERETELESF
B HEEZERNOER °

ENREFR

RAFE  TRAEHAREIVNSEEL(ZZ
—tF  HYARBATIZIEET)  EFRAEDY
8% (—ZT—+%5F : £914.4%) - ARTR D HH
BRENTR  AEEKENEBIBEEEY
BH R ZE (HIIETFR) o EERMAEDR
EBEMNEREBE TR DEEHREEEA
AHEE) BB IN T BESEN XK SRR
(EA BTN XRES)KNE 5 A EBNER
A0 o

ANNUAL REPORT 2017/2018



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEE W N DT

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Selling and Distribution Expenses

For the Review Year, selling and distribution expenses increased
by approximately RMB33.1 million (or 39.1%) to approximately
RMB117.7 million, or 3.0% of revenue for the year under review, from
approximately RMB84.6 million, or 2.6% of revenue for the last year.
The increase was primarily due to the increase in transportation
costs for the distribution of petrochemical products.

Administrative Expenses

For the Review Year, administrative expenses increased by
approximately RMB14.0 million or 4.6% to approximately RMB323.6
million, was due to increase in research and development expenses.

Finance Costs

Finance costs for the Review Year was approximately RMB163.7
million (2017: approximately RMB110.5 million), representing an
increase of 48.1% compared to last year. The increase was primarily
due to issue of convertible bonds and increase in bank borrowings
compared to last year.

Provision for financial guarantee contracts

The Group recorded a provision for financial guarantee contracts
of approximately RMB496.8 million for the year ended 31 March
2018. The provision was made in respect of two financial guarantee
contracts. Details of the provision for financial guarantee contracts
are set out in note 35 of the consolidated financial statements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEE W N DT

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Impairment loss of available-for-sale ("AFS") investments

The Group recorded an impairment loss of AFS investment of
approximately RMB133.9 million for the year ended 31 March
2018 in respect of its subscribed shares of China Huacai Finance
Equity Investment Fund SP. Details of the Impairment loss of AFS
investments are set out in note 24(b) of the consolidated financial
statements.

Impairment loss in respect of property, plant and equipment

The Group recorded an impairment loss on property, plant and
equipment of approximately RMB114.1 million for the year ended 31
March 2018. The impairment loss on property, plant and equipment
was due to the suspension of operations of certain subsidiaries of
the Company, which were engaged in manufacturing and sale of
solar photovoltaic products businesses. Such suspension was due
to the Company's strategic plan to re-develop the land owned by
the two subsidiaries, where the relevant machinery and equipment
were situate at. Further details of the impairment loss in respect
of property, plant and equipment are set out in note 15 of the
consolidated financial statements.

(Loss) profit attributable to shareholders of the Company
for the year

As a combined effect of the above, during the year under review,
our Group recorded a loss attributable to shareholders of the
Company of approximately RMB931.1 million, as compared to a
profit of approximately RMB22.7 million for last year.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Liquidity and Financial Resources
Shareholders’ Funds

Total shareholders’ funds amounted to approximately RMB2,681.5
million as at 31 March 2018, as compared to approximately
RMB3,525.8 million at 31 March 2017, representing a decrease of
23.9%.

Financial Position

As at 31 March 2018, the Group had current assets of approximately
RMB4,985.6 million (31 March 2017: approximately RMB4,690.9
million) comprising cash and cash equivalents of approximately
RMB255.1 million (31 March 2017: approximately RMB172.7 million),
and current liabilities of approximately RMB5,982.6 million (31
March 2017: approximately RMB4,863.3 million). The Group’s
current ratio (defined as current assets divided by current liabilities)
was 0.8 (31 March 2017: 1.0).

Our gearing ratio, expressed as a percentage of interest-bearing
liabilities to total assets, was at 48.4% as at 31 March 2018 as
compared to 31.0% as at 31 March 2017.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

As at 31 March 2018, our Group had cash and cash equivalents of
approximately RMB255.1 million (31 March 2017: approximately
RMB172.7 million), most of which were denominated in Renminbi.

Borrowings

Our Group had interest-bearing bank borrowings and other
borrowings of approximately RMB4,594.1 million (31 March
2017: approximately RMB3,120.4 million). Of these borrowings,
approximately RMB4,228.4 million (31 March 2017: approximately
RMB3,086.4 million) were secured by the Group's assets.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Capital Expenditure

The Group's capital expenditure mainly represents additions to
investment properties, property, plant and equipment and prepaid
lease payment totaling of approximately RMB1,127.5 million (2017:
approximately RMB4,961.4 million).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on listed bond
instruments, held for trading instruments, bank balances and cash,
trade and other receivables, trade and other payables, bill payables
and borrowings that are denominated in currencies other than
the functional currency of the operations to which they relate. The
Directors will ensure that the net exposure is kept to an acceptable
level, by buying or selling foreign currencies at spot rates where
necessary to address short-term imbalances.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Except also disclosed in note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31
March 2018.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group recognises environmental protection is of vital important
to the long-term development of the Group. In order to minimise
the environmental impact, the Group will continue to review and
improve the effectiveness of its management practices from time to
time.

An separate report “Environmental, Social, and Governance
Report” will be published by the end of September 2018. For
details, please refer to the Company’s website.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Meng Guang Bao (# fE & % %), aged 45, joined our Company
and has been appointed as an Executive Director and the Chairman of
the Board of the Company in September 2014. He holds a bachelor’s
degree in law from BBEE T3 K2 (Harbin Institute of Technology) in
the PRC. Mr. Meng is a substantial shareholder and president of the
EFEZ(ZO)BMRAF (Huajun Enterprise (Ying Kou) Co. Ltd.) and
a senior partner of & % Z & £ fl = # FT (Liaoning Huajun Law Firm)
since 1998. Mr. Meng had been honoured by EZE% RJAEE (Liaoning
Provincial Department of Justice) as X B3ZAM (Civilised Lawyer) in 2003.

Ms. Zhang Ye (FREEZ £ ), aged 43, has been appointed as an Executive
Director and Chief Executive Officer of the Company on 20 December
2017. She holds a master’s degree of finance from Peking University
and an MBA degree from the Wharton School at the University of
Pennsylvania. Ms. Zhang has extensive financial and investment
experience and has been working in both financial and investment fields
for over a decade. Ms. Zhang has worked at Matlin Patterson Global
Opportunities Fund, Bank of China Group Investment Limited and China
Merchants Securities (HK) Co., Limited.

Mr. Guo Song (28#85£%), aged 62, joined our Company and has
been appointed as an Executive Director and the Deputy Chief
Executive Officer in September 2014. He holds a bachelor’s degree
in engineering from J&[5E% K2 (Shenyang Jianzhu University
and formerly known as EEFETIREMR (Liaoning School of
Architectural Engineering)) in the PRC. Mr. Guo has over 10 years
of extensive management experience in banking and securities
investment.

Mr. He Shufen (i #f ZF % 4 ), aged 55, has been appointed as
an Executive Director of the Company on 20 December 2017.
He holds a master’s degree in civil engineering and a bachelor’s
degree in marine engineering from X2 T K& (Dalian Technical
University*) in the PRC. He also holds the professional qualification
as certified senior engineer, architect, appraiser, cost engineer
and supervision engineer. He had over 30 years of management
experiences in the property development industry. Prior to joining
the Company, Mr. He was the deputy general manager of X &
REE H E B % B R A 7] (Dalian Baohua Property Development
Limited*), the general manager of # ) &2 F 5 #b &= F % A R A A
(Zhuang He Qian He Property Development Limited*), the general
manager of KA &% (HMR)2AF] (Changsha Real Estate Limited*)
under 18 X #b &= & B & R 2 @ (Evergrande Real Estate Group
Limited*), the general manager of 3L/ XEFHEFZER A F] (Bei
Hai Tian Long Property Development Limited?*), the deputy general
manager of each of F{E#FE (K E ) XYIEMR A F] (Citic South China
(Group) Shenzhen Limited*) and A {52/ (£ &) EMNAR A A (Citic
South China (Group) Guangzhou Limited*) and the manager of &
REAEMRTREABMRAF (Guangdong Foundation Engineering Group
Co., Limited?*), respectively.
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BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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Mr. Zeng Hongbo (ZAL % 5£4), aged 41, has been appointed as an
Executive Director and Chief Risk Officer of the Company on 1 July
2018, he holds a Master’s degree in civil and commercial law from &
Bl EUARE (China University of Political Science & Law) in the PRC.
Mr. Zeng is a member of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Mr. Zeng worked in Bank of China Investment Limited
for the period from March 2011 to December 2014, holding his last
position as a senior manager of the assets management division. He
joined our Company in December 2014.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zheng Bailin (B3#8# £ %), aged 72, joined our Company in
September 2014 and has been appointed as our Independent
Non-executive Director. Mr. Zheng is also the Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit Committee
and Nomination Committee of the Company. He holds a
bachelor’'s degree in Spanish. Mr. Zheng was employed by Citicorp
International Limited from 2007 to 2008, with his last position as a
senior adviser of Greater China of China marketing department. Mr.
Zheng worked in Bank of China and was the head of its Shanghai
branch, general manager of Hong Kong Kwangtung Provincial Bank,
managing director of Bank of China, London Branch and general
manager of Bank of China, New York Branch. Mr. Zheng has been
honoured by the Department of State, State of New York, as one
of the recipients of the “Outstanding 50 Chinese Americans in
Business Award” in 2001.

Mr. Shen Ruolei (L& & 5£%), aged 73, joined our Company in
September 2014 and has been appointed as our Independent Non-
executive Director. Mr. Shen is also the Chairman of the Nomination
Committee and a member of Audit Committee and Remuneration
Committee. He holds a bachelor’s degree from # R BT ALK E (Central
University of Finance and Economics (formerly known as 1 R EBFER &
BiEBT (Central Finance and Economics College)). Mr. Shen is also
an independent non-executive director of China Trustful Group
Limited (formerly known as Powerwell Pacific Holdings Limited)
(stock code: 8265). Mr. Shen currently serves as a chief executive
officer of an enterprise established in the PRC which involves in
managing investments. Mr. Shen has extensive experience in the
banking industry. He was the head of Shanghai branch of Industrial
and Commercial Bank of China from June 1992 to June 1997. He
was a director of Shanghai Commercial Bank and Bank of Shanghai
from March 1999 to May 2012 and from April 2005 to April 2013
respectively. Mr. Shen was also the general manager and chairman
of the board of directors of Shanghai United International Investment
Ltd. from September 1998 to February 2012.
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Mr. Pun Chi Ping ((&&-F5%%), aged 51, joined our Company
in October 2010 and has been appointed as our Independent
Non-executive Director. Mr. Pun is also the Chairman of the
Audit Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee
and Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. Pun is also an
independent non-executive director of Birmingham Sports Holdings
Limited (stock code: 2309) and EPI (Holdings) Limited (stock
code:689) respectively. He holds a Master’s degree of Science in
Finance and a Bachelor degree of Arts in Accountancy, both from
the City University of Hong Kong. Mr. Pun is a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and an associate
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Mr. Pun has extensive experience in corporate finance, accounting
and auditing. Mr. Pun currently acts as the Financial Controller of
Poly Property Group Co., Limited (stock code: 119).

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Tam Ka Lung (FEXBFEL4), aged 39, is the Chief Financial
Officer of the Company. He graduated from the Hong Kong
University of Science and Technology with a Bachelor of Business
Administration (Hons) Accounting degree. Mr. Tam is a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Mr. Tam has extensive experience in auditing,
financial management, corporate finance and IPO. Prior to joining
the Company, Mr. Tam has worked in KPMG Hong Kong for more
than 10 years and his last position before leaving was Senior Audit
Manager. He joined the Company in November 2014.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) believes that
good corporate governance practices are increasingly important for
maintaining and promoting the confidence of the Shareholders. The
Company is committed to ensuring a high standard of corporate
governance. The Board will review the corporate governance
practices of the Group from time to time to ensure that they
reflect the latest development and meet the expectations of the
Shareholders.

The Company has applied the principles and complied with the
code provisions of the Code on Corporate Governance Practices
(the “CG Code") contained in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) for the Review Year, the
Company has fully complied with the CG Code.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors (“Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors. Having made specific enquiry of all
Directors, the Company confirmed that all Directors have complied
with the required standard set out in the Model Code throughout
the Review Year.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for establishing strategic directions,
setting objectives and business plans and monitoring business
performance. The management is responsible for the day-to-day
management and operations of their respective individual business
units.

The Board has established a schedule of matters specifically
reserved to the Board for its decisions and those reserved for the
management. The Board reviews this schedule from time to time to
ensure that it remains appropriate to the needs of the Group.

The Board currently comprises 5 Executive Directors, namely
Mr. Meng Guang Bao (Chairman), Ms. Zhang Ye (Chief Executive
Officer), Mr. He Shufen, Mr. Guo Song (Deputy Chief Executive
Officer) and Mr. Zeng Hongbo and 3 Independent Non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Zheng Bailin, Mr. Shen Ruolei and Mr. Pun Chi
Ping. The biographical details of the Directors are set out under the
section headed “Biography of Directors and Senior Management”
on pages 17 to 19 of this annual report. The list of Directors and
their respective role and function are currently available on the
Group's website at http://www.huajunintlgroup.com and on HKEx's
website at http://www.hkex.com.hk.

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has entered into
an appointment letter with the Company pursuant to which each of
them is appointed for service with the Company for a period of one
year or two years. The appointment shall be automatically renewed
for successive terms of one year or two years unless terminated by
either party in writing prior to the expiry of the term.

The broad spectrum of background of the independent Non-
executive Directors is valuable on the diversified perspectives
in the Board. They come from diverse business and professional
backgrounds. They have experiences in general management to
professional knowledge, from PRC business to global enterprise. All
of them have proven experiences in forming corporate strategies,
risk management and corporate governance.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

The Company has received from each of the Independent Non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation in writing of his
independence and is satisfied that each of them continues to be
independent in accordance with the requirements of the Listing
Rules.

The Company will provide a comprehensive, formal and tailored
induction to each newly appointed Director on his/her first
appointment in order to enable him/her to have appropriate
understanding of the business and operations of the Company and
that he/she is fully aware of his/her responsibilities and obligations
under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory requirements.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. Directors are continually updated on developments in
the statutory and regulatory regime and the business environment
to facilitate the discharge of their responsibilities. The Company
has provided timely technical updates, including the briefing on the
amendments on the Listing Rules and the news release published
by the Stock Exchange to the Directors. Continuing briefing
and professional development for Directors are arranged where
necessary.

During the Review Year, all Directors proactively participated in
continuous professional training including the professional training
provided by the Company and developed and updated their
knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to the Board
remained comprehensively informed and relevant.

The full Board meets no less than four times a year to review,
inter alia, the financial and operational performance of the Group.
Additional Board meetings are held when necessary. Due notice
and Board papers are given to all Directors prior to the meeting
in accordance with the Listing Rules and the Code. The Board has
established a procedure to enable Directors, upon reasonable
request, to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company’s expenses. Appropriate insurance
policy and cover for directors have been arranged as well.

There were four regular Board meetings and one annual general
meeting held in the Review Year. The attendance record of each
Director at the regular Board meetings and general meeting is
shown below. All business transacted at the above meetings has
been duly documented and is maintained in accordance with
applicable laws and regulations.
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Attendance of Attendance of
Directors full Board meetings general meeting

HEESE HERRAS

=3 RSERE SRIRE
Executive Directors:
HITESF -
Mr. Meng Guang Bao (Chairman) 4/4 171
REERE(ER)
Mr. Wu Jiwei (Note 1) 4/4 171
RUERFTHE(HaE1)
Ms. Zhang Ye (Note 2) N/A N/A
sREEZ I (ff7E2) TiE A A
Mr. He Shufen (Note 3) N/A N/A
Al 25 58 & (et 3) T A N3 FA
Mr. Guo Song 4/4 1/1
FBIEF A
Mr. Zeng Hongbo (Note 4) N/A N/A
BADR S (ffaE4) TiE A A
Independent Non-executive Directors:
BYIIFHITES -
Mr. Zheng Bailin 4/4 1/1
EpEMSE A
Mr. Shen Ruolei 4/4 11
B E
Mr. Pun Chi Ping 4/4 1/1
BTk
Notes: Biat -
1. Resigned on 30 March 2018. 1. RZTE—N\E=A=1+HEHT -
2. Appointed on 20 December 2017. 2. RZE—+tF+-_A=-+HZE-
3. Appointed on 20 December 2017. 3. N—F—F+—F—+HEF -
4. Appointed on 1 July 2018. 4. RZE-N\FtA—BZEE-
2017/2018%5 ¢
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established in 2005 pursuant
to the recommendations of the CG Code. The Remuneration
Committee is governed by its terms of reference, which have
been revised by the Board on 27 March 2012. The terms of
reference are currently available on the Group’'s website at
http://www.huajunintigroup.com and on HKEx's website at
http://www.hkex.com.hk.

The Remuneration Committee now consists of 4 members, namely
Mr. Zheng Bailin, who is the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee, Mr. Shen Ruolei, Ms. Zhang Ye and Mr. Pun Chi Ping.
The majority of the members of the Remuneration Committee are
Independent Non-executive Directors.

The Company aims to design a remuneration policy that attracts
and retains executives needed to run the Group successfully and
to motivate executives to pursue appropriate growth strategies
of the Group while at the same time taking into account the
performance of the individuals. The remuneration should reflect,
inter alia, the performance and responsibilities of the individuals;
and the remuneration packages are structured to include salary,
bonus and other benefits to provide incentives to directors and
senior management of the Group and to improve their individual
performance.

FMEES

RAARR_ZEZERFREBELEERTANE
BTN EES - FTHNEESAETES
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

The roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee include
the formulation and review of the recommendation to the Board on
the remuneration policy as well as the determination of the specific
remuneration packages of the Executive Directors and the Group's
senior management. No Director or any of his associates is involved
in deciding his own remuneration.

For the Review Year, the remuneration of individual directors is
disclosed by name in note 13 to the financial statements, while
the remuneration of senior management is disclosed by bands as
follows:

yMEES(E)

FrENE B & 2 B KB AE B HE L 5 E Medge T 5 A
BZ RMEFSREES  UREERTEELR
SEEREREE2@EMNGFMTE - WEEFEHE
ERBMEASEEEEARS 2 HH -

RAFE  BREE e KB WO EHREK
MIEE13mEE - MeEREERE <M KBERKE
LU

2018 2017
—E-NF F—tfF
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
AH AH
HK$1,000,000 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,000/ 7T 2 1,500,000/% 7T 1 -
HK$1,500,001to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T 2 2,000,000/% 7T 1 -
HK$5,500,001 to HK$6,000,000 5,500,0017% 7T £ 6,000,000/ 7T = 1
HK$6,000,001 to HK$6,500,000 6,000,0018 7T £6,500,0007 7T = 1
2 2
The Remuneration Committee met once during the Review Year and HEZE@NAFERITT — e FHEE
the work carried out by the Remuneration Committee included the ~ &#T2 THEBRIENUT :
following:
- reviewed the remuneration policy of the Group; and —  BEANEEZHMKE R
—  reviewed the specific remuneration packages of the Executive  —  Igst AREEHT %%&%%&%ﬁﬁ@$¢

Directors and senior management of the Group for the Review
Year.

The attendance record of each member of the Remuneration
Committee is shown below. All business transacted at the above
meetings has been duly documented and is maintained in
accordance with applicable laws and regulations.

2017/20184F %k

J& 2 {85 2 B A<

FERBEEKB ZHFELEHINT - £ L
ERETZYER  ERBEMERIERE
RIFHE
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

yMEEE(E)

Remuneration Committee Members Attendance
FHEEERE R E
Mr. Zheng Bailin (Chairman) 1/1
B A ()

Mr. Wu Jiwei (Note 1) 1/1
RIBE LM

Ms. Zhang Ye (Note 2) N/A
SREEL L (MfaE2) AN 3E A
Mr. Shen Ruolei 1/1
MEEE

Mr. Pun Chi Ping 1/1
ERF L

Notes: HiaE -

1. Resigned on 30 March 2018. 1. RZTE-NF=ZA=1+HEHE -

2. Appointed on 20 December 2017. 2. R—E—+F+_F=-+HEE-

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

On 27 March 2012, the Board established a Nomination Committee
pursuant to the recommendations of the CG Code. The Nomination
Committee is governed by its terms of reference, which have been
adopted by the Board on 27 March 2012. The terms of reference of
the Nomination Committee are currently available on the Group's
website at http://www.huajunintlgroup.com and HKEx's website at
http://www.hkex.com.hk.

The Nomination Committee consists of 4 members, namely Mr.
Shen Ruolei, who is the chairman of the Nomination Committee,
Ms. Zhang Ye, Mr. Pun Chi Ping and Mr. Zheng Bailin. The majority
of the members of the Nomination Committee are independent
non-executive Directors.

The primary duty of the Nomination Committee is making
recommendations to the Board on appointment and removal of
directors and management of Board succession.

The Nomination Committee has considered the past performance,
qualification, general market conditions and the Company’s Bye-
laws in selecting and recommending directors for retirement
rotation. The Nomination Committee resolved that all the existing
Directors should be recommended to remain in office by the
Company. Further, in accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws, Ms.
Zhang Ye, Mr. He Shufen, Mr. Zeng Hongbo, Mr. Guo Song, Mr.
Pun Chi Ping and Mr. Zheng Bailin would retire, and being eligible,
would offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company.

REZES

EEEN T —_FoAZTHARBLES
ABTFAUZEEXNIIREEES - RELZEEA
BTFTEEEN T ——F=A-+tBREMNZ
BAEEE - A B & IR R R R AR SR Ak
http://www.huajunintlgroup.com N B 22 BT 48k
http://www.hkex.com.hk2: 5 -
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

The Nomination committee met once during the Review Year. At
the meeting, all members of Nomination Committee are present
and performed the work including the following:

- reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board;

- identifying individuals qualified to become board members
and select or make recommendations to the board on the
selection of individuals nominated for directorships;

- assessing the independence of independent non-executive
directors; and

- recognising the importance of having a broad complement of
skills, experience and professional knowledge on the Board.

The attendance record of each member of the Nomination
Committee in the aforesaid meeting is shown below. All business
transacted at the above meeting has been duly documented and is
maintained in accordance with applicable laws and regulations.

REZES(HE)

REAZBENAFERTT —RGH - IARS

ZEGZREELELETEBREATZIN:

- BEEFENRE - RERAK

- YeEARRBEEARAUKAEFEREMNA
T UhBREBEALTHEESIBU
AEFSREMEER

—  AMERBEMIFRTESMELME R

- BRE=gREEZORE  KREEXE
HMBNEEN

REZEENU BB SFPERE 2 HFE LN

FIANTS - A L EHAETZ —EER EREE
FRIERIERZBFE -

Nomination Committee Members Attendance
REEZEENE HEIRE
Mr. Shen Ruolei (Chairman) 171
IEEBEREERE)
Mr. Wu Jiwei (Note 1) 171
RIEREEET)
Ms. Zhang Ye (Note 2) N/A
sREEZZ L (HfaE2) A3 A
Mr. Pun Chi Ping 11
EATRE
Mr. Zheng Bailin 1/1
EAAMRSE A&
Notes: Hiaz
1. Resigned on 30 March 2018. 1. REZZE—N\F=A=1+HEHL -
2. Appointed on 20 December 2017. 2. RZE—+F+-_RA=-+HZE-

g
2017/2018%F 2

27



28

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERRE

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established in 2004 pursuant to
the recommendations of the CG Code. The Audit Committee
is governed by its terms of reference, which have been
revised by the Board on 31 December 2015. The terms of
reference are currently available on the Group’'s website at
http://www.huajunintigroup.com and on HKEx's website at
http://www.hkex.com.hk.

The audit committee comprises 3 Independent Non-Executive
Directors and reports directly to the Board. The audit committee
meets regularly with the Group’s senior management and the
Company’s external auditor to review the financial reporting
and internal control systems of the Group as well as the financial
statements of the Company.

The roles and functions of the Audit Committee include the
review of the financial statements of the Company, the oversight
of corporate governance, financial reporting and internal control
procedures of the Group as well as the review of the Group's
relationship with the external auditor of the Company.

The Audit Committee met twice during the Review Year and the
work carried out by the Audit Committee included the following:

- reviewing the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Group;

- reviewing the unaudited interim financial report of the Group;

- reviewing and discussed with the Company’s external auditor
in respect of the audit plan for the consolidated financial
statements of the Group;

- reviewing and discussed with the senior management of
the Group and the external auditor of the Company major
accounting, audit and internal control issues;

- reviewing and discussed with the senior management of the
Group the corporate governance practices and compliance
issues of the Group;

- reviewing the independence and objectivity of the external
auditor of the Company;

- monitoring the non-audit services undertaken by the
Company's external auditor or their affiliates; and

- reviewing and approved the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditor of the Company.

EEEI N
ARAR-TTMFRECESATAMNE
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (Continued)

The attendance record of each member of the Audit Committee
is shown below. All business transacted at the above meetings
has been duly documented and is maintained in accordance with
applicable laws and regulations.

FEAEZBERNE ZHECEEIINT - AL
ERETZYVER  ERBERERIERZ
RIFHE

Audit Committee Members Attendance
B ZEEEgHE R B
Mr. Pun Chi Ping (Chairman) 2/2
ERERE(ERE)

Mr. Zheng Bailin 2/2
BN ST

Mr. Shen Ruolei 2/2
BB A

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board has the overall responsibility for the corporate
governance of the Group and reviews its effectiveness, and adopts
all necessary and appropriate actions, to maintain sufficient and
effective corporate governance policy and functions from time to
time. The Audit Committee assists the Board in the review of the
corporate governance policy and functions to ensure the upheld of
good corporate governance which are of the best interests of the
Shareholders and the Group.

The Audit Committee has, during the Review Year, made
arrangements to review the Group's the policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board,
to review and monitor the policies and practices of the Group on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, and to review
the compliance by the Group with the Corporate Governance Code
(Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules) and the disclosure requirements
for the Corporate Governance Report.

2017/20184F %k

EEERIRE
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INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has the responsibility for the reviewing internal
control system of the Group and examining its effectiveness,
and to adopt all necessary and appropriate actions, to maintain
sufficient and effective internal control system from time to time.
The Audit Committee assists the Board in the review, which
covers operational, financial and compliance controls and risk
management functions, in order to maintain an adequate and
effective internal control system to safeguard the interests of the
Shareholders and the assets of the Group.

The Directors have, during the Review Year, made arrangements to
review the Group's internal control system as well as the adequacy
of resource, qualification and experience of the staff of the Group's
accounting and financial reporting function. The purpose of the
review was to provide a reasonable assurance on the effectiveness
and efficiency of the Group's operations in achieving the
established corporate objectives, to safeguard the Group's assets
against unauthorised use or disposition, to ensure the maintenance
of proper accounting records of the Group for the provision of
reliable financial information for internal use and for publication,
and to ensure the Group’s compliance with relevant legislation and
regulations.

AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

During the Review Year, the Company’s auditor charged the
Company RMB2.42 million for audit services and RMBO0.32 million for
non-audit services.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chan Wing Hang (“Mr. Chan”), the Company Secretary of
the Company, is employed on a full time basis and has taken no
less than 15 hours of the relevant professional training during the
Review Year. Our Company Secretary coordinates and supplies
of information to the Directors. Our Company Secretary ensures
that board procedures and all applicable rules and regulations are
complied with for all board meetings.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the preparation of
the financial statements of the Company for the Review Year, which
have been prepared on a going concern basis.

The reporting responsibility of the auditor of the Company is set
out in the Independent Auditor’s Report from pages 49 to 61 of this
Annual Report.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The objective of communications with Shareholders is to ensure
that the Shareholders, both individual and institutional, and,
in appropriate circumstances, the investment community at
large, are provided with ready, equal and timely access to
balanced and understandable information about the Company
(including its financial performance, strategic goals and plans,
material developments, governance and risk profile), in order
to enable Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed
manner, and to allow Shareholders and the investment
community to engage actively with the Company. In this
respect, a written shareholders communication policy has been
established and is currently available on the Group's website at
http://www.huajunintlgroup.com.

The Company uses a range of communication tools to ensure
Shareholders are kept well informed of key business imperatives.
These include general meetings, interim and annual reports,
announcements and circulars. The Company’s website offers
a communication channel between the Company and the
Shareholders, and is frequently updated with key information of the
Group.

At the Company’s 2017 AGM, separate resolutions were proposed
by the Chairman in respect of each separate issue, including the re-
election of Directors.

The Company regularly informs the Shareholders of the procedure
for voting by poll and ensures compliance with the requirements
about voting by poll contained in the Listing Rules and the
constitutional documents of the Company. A consolidated
version of the Company’s Memorandum of Association and
Bye-laws is currently available on the Group’s website at
http://www.huajunintlgroup.com and on HKEx's website at
http://www.hkex.com.hk. There is no significant change in the
Company’s Memorandum of Association and Bye-laws during the
Review Year.

2017/20184F %k
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures for Convening of Special General Meeting
("SGM") on requisition of Shareholders

(1)  The Directors of the Company, notwithstanding anything
in the Company’s Bye-laws shall, on the requisition of
Shareholders holding at the date of the deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of such of the paid-up
capital of the Company as at the date of the deposit carries the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company, forthwith
proceed duly to convene a special general meeting of the
Company.

(2)  The requisition must state the purposes of the meeting,
and must be signed by the requisitionists and deposited at
the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal place
of business at, 36th Floor, Champion Tower, 3 Garden
Road, Central, Hong Kong. Such requisition may consist of
several documents in like form each signed by one or more
requisitionists.

(3) The requisition will be verified with the Company’s Share
Registrars and upon their confirmation that the requisition is
proper and in order, the Company Secretary will ask the Board
to include the resolutions in the agenda for the SGM. And such
meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of
such requisition.

(4)  If the directors do not within twenty-one days from the date
of the deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a
meeting, the requisitionists, or any of them representing more
than one half of the total voting rights of all of them, may
themselves convene a meeting, but any meeting so convened
shall not be held after the expiration of three months from the
said date.

(5) A meeting convened under this section by the requisitionists
shall be convened in the same manner, as nearly as possible,
as that in which meetings are to be convened by the Directors.

Procedures for sending enquiries to the Board
The enquiries must be in writing with contact information of
the enquirers and submitted to the Company Secretary at the

Company'’s principal place of business at 36th Floor, Champion
Tower, 3 Garden Road, Central, Hong Kong.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (Continued)

Procedures for Shareholders to put forward proposals at
general meetings

Pursuant to the Companies Act, any number of Shareholders
representing not less than one-twentieth of the total voting rights of
all the Shareholders having at the date of the requisition a right to
vote at the meeting to which the requisition relates or not less than
one hundred Shareholders, can request the Company in writing to:

(a) give to Shareholders entitled to receive notice of the next
annual general meeting notice of any resolution which may
properly be moved and is intended to be moved at that
meeting; and

(b) circulate to Shareholders of the Company entitled to have
notice of any general meeting send to them any statement of
not more than one thousand words with respect to the matter
referred to in any proposed resolution or the business to be
dealt with at that meeting.

The requisition must be deposited to the Company not less than six
weeks before the meeting in case of a requisition requiring notice of
a resolution or not less than one week before the meeting in case of
any other requisitions.

CONCLUSION

The Board believes that the quality and standard of corporate
governance reflects the quality of the management and the
operations of the Group's business. Good corporate governance
can safeguard the proper use of the Group’s assets and effective
allocation of the Group's resources as well as protecting the
interests of the Shareholders. The management is committed to
advocating good practice in corporate governance and will strive to
maintain, strengthen and improve the standard and quality of the
corporate governance of the Group.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHREE

The Directors have pleasure in submitting their annual report
together with the audited consolidated financial statements of
Huajun International Group Limited (formerly known as Huajun
Holdings Limited) (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
refer to as the "Group”) for the Review Year.

CHANGE OF COMPANY NAME

Pursuant to a special resolution passed by the shareholders of
the Company held on 24 May 2018, the English name of the
Company has been changed from “Huajun Holdings Limited”
to “Huajun International Group Limited”, and the Chinese name
of "EEZHMBEEABMRAA" be adopted and registered as the
secondary name of the Company in place of the existing Chinese

name of “FEFEABRAF]" which was adopted for identification
purpose only.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. It consists
of 8 businesses which are aggregated into 5 reportable segments
based on similar economic characteristics, the nature of the
products and production processes, end-use markets, channels
of distribution and regulatory environment. The Company'’s
reportable segments are Printing, Trading and Logistics, Property
Development and Investments, Solar Photovoltaic and Financial
Services. The Company includes business not included in the
reportable segments,such as industrial equipment in Others.

A review of the business of the Group during the Review Year, a
discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group
and an indication of likely future developments in the Group's
business are set out under the section headed "Management
discussion and analysis” in this annual report.

The analysis of the geographical segments of the operations of the
Company and its subsidiaries during the year is set out in note 7 to
the consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The profit/loss of the Group for the Review Year and the state of the
Group's and the Company's affairs as at that date are set out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 62 to 65 and 236 to 237
respectively.

DIVIDEND

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend
(2017: Nil) for the Review Year.
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CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Charitable donations made by the Group during the year amounted
to RMB145,000.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company'’s subsidiaries at 31 March 2018 are set
out in note 51 to the consolidated financial statements.

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years is set out on pages 240 to 241.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The information in respect of the Group's sales and purchases
attributable to the major customers and suppliers during the year is
as follows:

I3

REBRFANEEERSARK145,0007T °
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ARABIMBRARAR -ZE-N\F=A=+—HHF
BEINN R E M RRM LS -

hF P HHRE

AEBRBERLETREENESE  EENAE
BEH I NE240F2418 -

FEHEFNEF

EFR - I2EPMHERD R ASEHER
MERBREEROT

%
Sales HE
Five largest customers in aggregate HEREFLM 13.2%
The largest customer BRAREP 3.5%
Purchases REE
Five largest suppliers in aggregate TR A JE 7 42 AN 24.3%
The largest supplier mAMER 7.3%

At no time during the year have the Directors, their associates or
any shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors, owns
more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any interests as
defined in the Listing Rules in these major customers and suppliers.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in property, plant and equipment during the year are
set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Movements in investment properties during the year are set out in
note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company are set
out in note 38 to the financial statements.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and of the Company are set
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 66
and note 52 to the financial statements respectively.

BORROWINGS

Particulars of borrowings of the Group at 31 March 2018 are set out
in note 34 to the financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:
Executive Directors:

Mr. Meng Guang Bao (Chairman)

Ms. Zhang Ye (appointed on 20 December 2017)
Mr. Guo Song

Mr. He Shufen (appointed on 20 December 2017)
Mr. Wu Jiwei (resigned on 30 March 2018)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Zheng Bailin
Mr. Shen Ruolei
Mr. Pun Chi Ping

In accordance with the Bye-laws 86(2) & 87 of the Company’s Bye-
laws, Ms. Zhang Ye, Mr. He Shufen, Mr. Guo Song, Mr Pun Chi
Ping and Mr. Zheng Bailin will retire by rotation from office at the
forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company or any of
its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Company or any of
its subsidiaries within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Details of the directors’ remuneration of the Company are set out in
note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Review Year, the Group had entered into the following
transactions which constituted connected transactions for which
the disclosure requirements under the Listing Rules have been
complied with. Brief particulars of each transaction are set out as
follows:

1) On 23 May 2017, F=EE T EEF(ZH)BRAA (Huajun Industrial
Equipment (Yingkou) Limited), a company established in
the PRC with limited liability and an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into the equity transfer
agreement with EEZEFRERIEBRAF] (Liaoning Huajun
Equipment Manufacturing Limited), a company established
in the PRC with limited liability and a direct wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group, in relation to the disposals of equity
interests in EEIRIK(LHEBEABRAF (Liaoning Yinzhu
Chemtex Group Co. Limited) and # T E& /G4 5 R A 7]
(Zhejiang Linhai Machinery Limited). For details, please refer
to the announcements of the Company on 23 May 2017, 29
June 2017, 28 July 2017, 29 September 2017, 31 August 2017,
30 November 2017 and 29 December 2017 respectively and a
circular on 29 November 2017.

2)  On7July2017, ZRYIMEEREHREBR QA (Shenzhen Huajun
Financial Leasing Ltd.*), a company established in the PRC with
limited liability, a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into an equity transfer agreement with & Q¥R $1E
WEBRAT (Yingkou Huajun Jinkong Investment Company
Limited*), a company established in the PRC with limited liability
and is ultimately owned as to 97.5% by Mr. Meng and 2.5% by
Ms. Bao as at 7 July 2017. In relation to the disposal of 20%
equity interests in EEILH @REERX S OABRAE] (Liaoning
Bei Fang Financial Assets Exchange Co., Ltd.*), a company is
established in the PRC with limited liability. Such disposal had
been terminated on 29 March 2018. For details, please refer to
the announcements of the Company on 7 July 2017, 31 August
2017, 30 November 2017 and 29 March 2018 respectively.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

3) On 28 September 2017, Huajun Energy Group Limited, (¥
BEREREBEABR AR, (formerly known as Huajun Logistics
Co. Limited (EZWR AR AF]), a company incorporated in
Hong Kong with limited liability and an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with On Win Corporation Limited (EZEER A 7)), a
company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability and
a wholly-owned subsidiary of China Ruifeng Renewable Energy
Holdings Limited (2 Blim @8R IZER B BR A ) (Stock Code:
527), a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with
limited liability, the shares of which are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited in relation to the disposal and
deemed disposal of approximately 22.00% equity interests in
aggregate in Candice Group Limited by the Company. Such
disposal was completed on 31 October 2017. For details,
please refer to the announcements of the Company on 28
September 2017 and 31 October 2017 respectively.

INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS OF
THE DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OF
THE COMPANY IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

Interests of Directors and chief executive

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the interests and short positions
of each Director and chief executive of the Company in the
shares or underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
any associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance ("SFO") which were required to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions in which he was taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO), or which were required, pursuant to section
352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein,
or which were required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange were as follows:
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INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS OF AKNBEERTETHRAERK
THE DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OF NEIHEM BB EE 2 RHD « 18
THE COMPANY IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING RO LREESDEEo EZR
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY S #%&(%&)

OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATION (Continued)

Interests of Directors and chief executive (Continued)

EERTBTRABZER(E)

Interests in the Shares R0z =
Approximate
percentage of
interests in the
issued share
Number of capital of
Director Nature of interests Shares the Company
LR NN
ERITRAER
=3 EaME R E ZBABE DL
Mr. Meng Guang Bao Interest in controlled corporation®ete 44,202,780 (L) 72.86%
BEELAE FIT ¥ il 25 [ ) e s (03T
Beneficial owner 425,719 (L) 0.70%
EmlEA A
Share Options 387,351 (L) 0.64%
BB
Ms. Zhang Ye Share optionsMete? 274,050 (L) 0.45%
o B 22+ 5 i i (2)
Mr. He Shufen Beneficial owner 1,320 (L) 0.002%
IS 55 S Em#EA A
Mr. Guo Song Beneficial owner 30,000 (L) 0.05%
SRME S E EmAEAA
Share optionsMete2 274,050 (L) 0.45%
R [ A (Hi222)
Mr. Zeng Hongbo Beneficial owner 3,560 0.006%
BADR B4 EnlEBA
Share optionsMete? 274,050 0.45%
B & 4 (Hiiz2)
Mr. Zheng Bailin Share optionsMete? 387,351 (L) 0.64%
ERFEMRSE A& s [ i (2)
Mr. Shen Ruolei Share optionsMete2 387,351 (L) 0.64%
LB ETE HEE R e (2)
Mr. Pun Chi Ping Share optionsMete? 387,351 (L) 0.64%
AT AE i A (2 2)
The letter “L” denotes a long position in the Shares. [LIRKRRHGZ4F R - L
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INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS OF

THE DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OF

THE COMPANY IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATION (Continued)

Interests of Directors and chief executive (Continued)

Interests in the Shares (Continued)

Notes:

1. Long positions in 44,202,780 Shares are held by China Huajun Group
Limited (“CHG") (formerly known as Huajun International Limited). The
entire issued share capital of CHG is beneficially owned by Huajun Real
Estate (Gaoyou) Co., Ltd.* (EZ E % (S ¥ ) AR 2 &) which is wholly-
owned by Huajun Enterprise (Yingkou) Co., Ltd.* CEEEX(E0)ABRA
A)). Huajun Enterprise (Yingkou) Co., Ltd.* EEEX(Z0)BRAA]) was
owned as to 97.0% by Mr. Meng Guang Bao (“Mr. Meng”) and 3.0% by
Huajun Enterprise (China) Limited* GEZ E % (FE) BR A7), respectively.
Mr. Meng was deemed to be interested in all Shares held by CHG by virtue
of the SFO.

2. Details of the movement of share options under Share Options Scheme are
set out under the section headed “Share Option Scheme” in the Report of
the Directors.

ESRIRTHRABZERE (B)
RIRH 2 #ax (4B)
At -

1. 44,202,780 2 I E AP REZEEFR QA
(TPEZEEEE ] (FBEZRBEERAF)FE °
FHREZEEZ2HPEBRTRAHEEEE ()
BRARE=ES  MEEBXE(RB)ARAAH
EEZEE(BN)BARAAZERA  -HZEEXRE
([REEDREEZEX(FR)BRARDFIERE
EEE(END)BRARF7.0%M3.0%8E - RIFHE
HFRHBERD  REERRERTEEEEERH
ZEBERMDTHERER

2. B EATERELDFBEANEETIRES
W [t &) ] —& o

Interests in shares in associated corporations RAEESEBR G 2
Amount of
registered Approximate
capital/ percentage
number of interest in the
shares held in capital of the
the associated associated
Associated corporation Director corporation  Capacity corporation
AR E L CREE e ]
2B AEE IR 1 2
HBEE E=x FiERHOEE SH6 ZBAED
Huajun Enterprise (Yingkou) Mr. Meng RMB2,000,000,000  Beneficial owner 97%
Co., Ltd.x Note 3 REE AR#2,000,000,0000t Em#EEA

(i%ﬁ% % n )E@/&ﬂ)(%?ﬂ)

3. CHG and Huajun Real Estate (Gaoyou) Co., Ltd.* (EEE B % (R ) BR A F)
are wholly-owned subsidiaries of Huajun Enterprise (Yingkou) Co., Ltd.* (3£
EEE(ZO)BRRAA).

3. TREFREREREXR(SB)ERAFAA/ERE
X(ZDERABNEZENEAT -
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INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS OF

THE DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OF

THE COMPANY IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATION (Continued)

Interests in shares in associated corporations (Continued)

As at the Latest Practicable Date, save as disclosed above, none of
the Directors and chief executive of the Company had any interests
or short positions in the shares (“Shares”), underlying Shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required (i)
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the provisions of Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests or short positions which they were taken or deemed to
have such under provisions of the SFO); or (ii) pursuant to section
352 of Part XV of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred
to therein; or (iii) pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

2017/20184F %k
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INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS Bi5E S KA S IF
DISCLOSEABLE UNDER THE SFO AND THE ZhR 21&"\&}

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at the Latest Practicable Date, so far as was known to the
Directors, the following persons, other than a Director or chief
executive of the Company, had an interest or short position in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3
and section 336 of Part XV of the SFO, or were directly or indirectly,
interested in 10% or more of the nominal value of any class of

share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general

meetings of the Company:

RERERAITES  REEMRAN  ARRE
FHERTBRABINZIAT ALRARR ZK
0 R ARRE R 0 o A R IR E 5 R B GBI EXV
BE2RID A2 MEX R FEIB6GNRERBMAR
BB SRR NERKEEEEH AR
MEMBBERATRARRBRERERAE EREZEM
R AREE 2 10%30 A ErI#ESS

Approximate
percentage
of interests

in the issued

share capital
of the
Company as
at the Latest
Practicable

Name of Shareholders Number of Shares Capacity Date
HREERER
4T BHEAAR A F
ERITRAER
RREHE ROBE 5S4 ZHNE DL
Bao Le 45,015,850 (L) Interest held by spouse (Note (a)) 74.20%
ks BB R B 2w (fYat(a))
CHG 44,202,780 (L)  Beneficial owner 72.86%
FEEELE EmEA A
Huajun Real Estate (Gaoyou) 44,202,780 (L)  Interest of controlled corporation 72.86%
Co., Ltd.* (Note (a))
EEBEX(SH)ERAR] Fr 2= il A B ) i i
(KtaE(a))
Huajun Enterprise (Yingkou) 44,202,780 (L)  Interest of controlled corporation 72.86%
Co., Ltd.* (Note (a))
EEZBEE(EH)ARAT Fr 2 il A B ) i i
(KtaE(a))
Mr. Meng 44,202,780 (L)  Interest of controlled corporation 72.86%
TAEE (Note (a))
Fr 2= il A B ) i i
(KtaE(a))
425,719 (L)  Beneficial owner 0.70%
EnlEA A
387,351 (L)  Share Options 0.64%
fERR
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INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS
DISCLOSEABLE UNDER THE SFO AND THE
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (Continued)

Note:

a) Long positions in 44,202,780 Shares are held by China Huajun Group
Limited (“CHG") (formerly known as Huajun International Limited). The
entire issued share capital of CHG is beneficially owned by Huajun Real

Estate (Gaoyou) Co., Ltd.* (EZ E % (&S ¥ ) AR 2 &) which is wholly-
owned by Huajun Enterprise (Yingkou) Co., Ltd.* CEEEX(ZH)ABRA
7). Huajun Enterprise (Yingkou) Co., Ltd.* CEZEX* (& H)ERAF) was
owned as to 97.0% by Mr. Meng Guang Bao (“Mr. Meng”) and 3.0% by
Huajun Enterprise (China) Limited* GEZ E % (FE) BR A7), respectively.
Mr. Meng was deemed to be interested in all Shares held by CHG by virtue
of the SFO.

The letter “L" denotes a long position in the Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at the Latest Practicable Date, none
of the Directors nor the chief executive of the Company was aware
of any other person (other than a Director or chief executive of the
Company) or corporation which had an interest or short position in
the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 and section
336 of Part XV of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SIGNIFICANT
CONTRACTS

Save as set out in note 49 to the consolidated financial statements,
no contract of significance to which the Company, or any of its
holding company or subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party
and in which a Director of the Company had a material interest,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the Review
Year.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 28 September
2007. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide the
Company with a flexible means of giving incentive to, rewarding,
remunerating, compensating and/or providing benefits to Executive
or Non-executive Directors including Independent Non-executive
Directors or any employees (whether full-time or part-time) of
each member of the Group (the “Participants”) and for such other
purpose as the Board may approve from time to time. Pursuant to
a special resolution passed by the shareholders of the Company at
a special general meeting held on 25 October 2017, the new share
option scheme (the ‘Scheme”) has been adopted and approved.
The Scheme shall remain valid and effective until 24 October 2027.

The principal terms of the Scheme are summarised as follows:

(i)  The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all share options to be granted under the Scheme and
any other share option schemes of the Company shall not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of Shares in issue
as at the date of adoption of the Scheme, unless approved
by Shareholders and which must not in aggregate exceed
30% of the total number of the relevant class of securities of
the Company in issue from time to time. The total number
of Shares available for issue under the Scheme is 6,066,920
Shares.

(i)  The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the share options (including both exercised and
outstanding options) granted pursuant to the Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Company to each of the
Participants in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the
total number of the relevant class of securities of the Company
(or its subsidiaries) in issue.

(ili) The exercise price shall be solely determined by the Board,
and shall be at least the highest of: (a) the closing price of the
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet
on the date of offer of the share option to the Participants,
which must be a day (other than a Saturday or a Sunday) on
which licenced banks are open for business in Hong Kong
and the Stock Exchange is open for business of dealing in
securities (the "Business Day”); (b) the average closing price
of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotation sheets for the five Business Days immediately
preceding the date of offer of the share option to the
Participants; and (c) the nominal value of the Shares.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

(iv) A share option may be exercised at any time during a period
determined by the Board at its absolute discretion and
notified by the Board to each grantee the period during which
an option may be exercised and in any event, such period shall
not be longer than 10 years from the date upon which any
particular option is granted in accordance with the Scheme.

(v)  There is no minimum period for which a share option must
be held before the share option can be exercised unless
otherwise determined by the Board.

(vi)  According to the Scheme, the offer of a grant of share options
may be accepted within 28 days from the date of offer, HK$1
is payable by each of the Participants to the Company on
acceptance of the share options as consideration for the grant.
The share options to which the offer relates shall be deemed
to have been granted on the date of offer of such share
options.

As at 31 March 2018, the number of share options have been
granted and remained outstanding under the Scheme was 3,638,583
(2017: 5,801,999) representing approximately 6.0% (2017: 9.6%) of
the Company in issue at that date.

The movement of share options under the Scheme during the
Review Year is presented as follows:
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Note:

(@)  On 5 March 2018, the Company has conducted a share consolidation
whereby every one hundred existing issued and unissued existing shares
of par value of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company have
been consolidated into one consolidated share of par value of HK$1.00
each (“Share Consolidation”). All consolidated shares rank pari passu in all
respects with each other.

The Share Consolidation has let to adjustments to (i) the conversion price
and the number of shares falling to be issued upon the exercise of the
conversion right attaching to the convertible bonds in accordance with
the terms and conditions of the convertible bonds; and (ii) the exercise
price of the share options and the number of shares comprised therein in
accordance with the terms and conditions of the share option scheme of
the Company. These adjustments have been taken up elsewhere in these
annual report.

ARRANGEMENT FOR DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Apart from the Scheme as disclosed above, at no time during the
year was the Company, any of its holding company, subsidiaries
or fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other
body corporate.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Bye-laws, although there is no restriction against such rights under
Bermuda Law.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S SHARES

During the Review Year, the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the shares.
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USE OF PROCEEDS IN FUND RAISING

ACTIVITIES

The Company has conducted the following fund raising activities for

the year ended 31 March 2018:

Date of announcements Fund raising activities

Net proceeds
(approximately)

W
o
s
@

=

NGIES
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i
vid

Intended use of proceeds

FRiEFE A
—NF=ZA=1+—ItFREE#ETT

Actual use of proceeds

NERS 54ED FERARE(BH) FERERERR FIEREERRE
20 October 2017 Issue of the First HK$349,000,000 The net proceeds from the issue of the  Approximately HK$301.3
Convertible Bond First Convertible Bond will be used as ~ million, HK$13.2 million
general working capital and HK$34.5 million of the
net proceeds had been
used for (i) repayment of
bank loan; (i) payment
of consideration for
acquisition of a licensed
corporation; and (iii)
operating expenses of the
Gro respectlvel
e a: $AEH UOUOO0ET  BOE-HTRRESZHERE A @%EEF FI0137
AHkES FBERAE-REEES B 132BEBTLR34S5
E%r’éﬁﬂ)ﬁﬁ%)ﬁ}&fﬂ
-t (II)E’Mﬁgﬁﬁ/ﬁ'
TRE : RiiAEENE
i
7 December 2017 Issue of the Second HK$29,700,000 The net proceeds from the issue of the Al the net proceeds had been
Convertible Bond Second Convertible Bond will be used for payment of the
used as general working capital for Company's administrative
payment of the Company's monthly expenses from January to
administrative expenses after April 2018
completion of issue of the Second
Convertible Bond .
“S-LE+oALE B NI0000ET  BAE-ATAREEIGENEIES 2URSHBIEEANLNE
Ak ES W’F*ﬁa@ﬁ% L&HM}ETE@?‘E ARg-_E-\F-RZEN
I%?é?ﬂ% BUAREFROBATE  ANTERX
%
13 December 2017 Issue of the Third HK$217,700,000 The net proceeds from the issue of the  Approximately HK$43.0
Convertible Bond Third Convertible Bond will be used million, HK$10.0 million
for settlement of progress payment and HK$164.7 million of
for the Group's property development  the net proceeds had been
project in respect of the Bao Hua used for (i) repayment of
Financial Centre* (R 2B L), a borrowings of the Group; (i)
property wholly- owned by the Group working capital of a licensed
and situated in Dalian City, the PRC corporation of the Group;
and (iii) other operating
expenses of the Group,
of which approximately
HK$73.8 m|ﬁon had
been used for the Solar
Photovoltaic Business and
approximately HK$90.9
miﬁion had been used for
the Property Business,
) respectivel N
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RETIREMENT SCHEMES

Particulars of retirement schemes of the Group are set out in note 39
to the financial statements.

STAFF

As at 31 March 2018, the Group had a total staff of 3,173 (2017:
3,444).

The Group provides employee benefits such as staff insurance,
retirement schemes and discretionary bonus and also provides in-
house training programmes and external training sponsorship.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this
annual report, there is sufficient public float of not less than 25% of
the Company’s issued share capital as required under the Listing
Rules.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the
year ended 31 March 2018 have been audited by Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu who will retire and being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

By Order of the Board
Meng Guang Bao
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 June 2018
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B ZBENRES

Deloitte.

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF HUAJUN HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Huajun
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the "Group”) set out on pages 62 to 239, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2018, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2018, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements which indicates that as of 31 March 2018, the Group's
current liabilities exceeded its current assets by approximately
RMB997.0 million. In addition, the Group has capital commitments
of RMB2,436.0 million as disclosed in note 47 to the consolidated
financial statements. The Group's ability to continue as a going
concern is dependent on the ongoing availability of finance to
the Group, including the credit facility from its immediate holding
company and ultimate controlling party, banks and institutional
investors. If the finance were not available, the Group would be
unable to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due.
These conditions, along with other matters as set forth in note 2
to the consolidated financial statements, indicate that a material
uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified
in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In addition to
the matter described in the Material Uncertainty Related to Going
Concern section, we have determined the matters described below
to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report.
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B XEEN RS S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

BARETEH(E)

Key audit matter
HEETTER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMRERNAEERRETSE

Valuation of available-for-sale (“AFS”) investment in an unlisted fund investment

FEmEEREFARLE([AIHNE ) REZAE

We identified the valuation of AFS investment in an
unlisted fund investment as a key audit matter due
to significant management estimation involved in
assessing the recoverable amount of the investment.
HASFELTESREPAIHEERE ZGHET AR
B FEDHNFEZRENATRESE S REANEE
BhE -

As disclosed in note 24 to the consolidated financial
statements, the unlisted fund investment in China
Huacai Finance Equity Investment Fund SP (“China
Huacai”) is measured at fair value. The major underlying
asset of China Huacai is a prepayment for acquisition
of power stations from Hareon Solar Technology Co.,
Limited (“Hareon Solar”). This unlisted fund investment
is classified as an AFS investment, for which the
changes in the carrying amount are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated under the
heading of investment revaluation reserve.

MRS S MR IM FE24 P 4R EE - M RHEH S RRERE
Ee((hEEM D2 ETESKRERAAEFNE - hBE
2 X EHEEEREEERBRBRNER AR ([EE
KDKWEHBUMAE N 2AMNKIE - I LTESKRE
DERAIHEERE  WEREELZH N EMME2EKER
MR - WNREERHEEHRNRE -

Our procedures in relation to the valuation of AFS
investment in the unlisted fund investment included:
BB BB ETESREFIHEERE 2 MERRAE
FrE4E

o Understanding the management's basis and
assessment in relation to the valuation of the AFS
investment in the unlisted fund investment;

. THREREHNF I MESREFPAHRLEREY
B RGHE

o Reviewing the terms and conditions of the China
Huacai's investment agreement and discussing
with the investment manager of China Huacai Fund
to understand the structure of fund, rights and
obligations of fund holders, the current status of
underlying assets of the fund and actions taken by
China Huacai to recover the prepayments; and

o RATEEMZREREZGERIMESE  WEPE
EPRGIRELETRNTRESZIRE £
FAEAZEBNEEE ESHEBEEZB AR
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

BERENSIE(E)

Key audit matter
HEETER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEARBJARNAEERRETEHR

FEMEESREFAIRLE([AIRNE ) REZEEE)

Valuation of available-for-sale (“AFS”) investment in an unlisted fund investment (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2018, Hareon Solar was
unable to transfer the power stations to China Huacai nor
refund the prepayment in accordance to the investment
agreement. In view of this, the Directors considered that
the fair value of AFS investment is significantly decreased
and a fair value loss of RMB133,877,000 is recognised in
investment revaluation reserve.
BHE_Z-N\E=ZA=+—HLFE SHARRERER
AR T EEERERTHEEN - T IERERNRE -F
BN BERL - IHEHERENAABERETE - AR
BEEEAR133,877,0007 IR E S A #EATER

As at 31 March 2018, the Directors reviewed the available
financial information in respect of Hareon Solar and
determined to provide a full impairment of RMB133,877,000
in respect of its investment in China Huacai. As a result,
the cumulative fair value loss previously recognised in the
investment revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or
loss.

RZZE—NF=ZA=+—08  EFRITBEESEARZER
PRS2 &R WRERENFEEY 2 IKEBBIRMBEA
R#133,877,0007T ° Bt - ZAITRAIREEAHHEARNERZ R
AAREEREEN SRS ER -

o Reviewing the financial information of Hareon Solar
to understand its latest financial position; and

o EHEBEANZMBER  UTBRESHUBEMAR
&

o Assessing the reasonableness of the impairment
loss made on the investment with reference to
management's assessment and latest available
information in respect of Hareon Solar and China
Huacai.

o FERZ2ZEMEEARNRTEREEN 2 ERENEK
RS ERMRUBBREFL OREBEZ 2N -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

BARETEH(E)

Key audit matter
HEETER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEARBJARNAEERRETEHR

Financial guarantee contracts provision

BIERE KB

We identified financial guarantee contracts provision
as a key audit matter due to significant management
estimation involved in determining the value of the
Group's financial guarantee contracts.
BPAEMBEERAOBEISAREASTEIAREREZ
MBERANTEECEBEIRENERERE -

As disclosed in note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group provided financial guarantee of
(1) RMB383,361,000 in respect of the obligations and
liabilities of Hareon Solar and Jiangyin Hareon Solar
Energy Electrical Power Co., Ltd. ("Jiangyin Hareon") and
(2) RMB77,000,000 to secure a banking facility granted to a
subsidiary of Hareon Solar.
WANERE ISR M ISP - EEE()EE AR RIT
BEEAGEENBRAR(NIRER]) 2EARBERH
BT S HEIR AR #383,361,0007T & (2) 12 A R ¥#77,000,0007T
LAERSHR T8 BRI B AR 2 RITRLE -

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Directors are of
the opinion that the financial condition of the borrowers
have significantly deteriorated with certain of their debts
being default in payment. The Directors considered that
it is probable that the creditors will demand the Group to
settle the outstanding principal and interest of the subject
debts under the financial guarantees provided by the
Group.

BE_Z-\FZA=Z+—HILFE ZBZRRERANHY
BRREBEEE - WHERETHRENER - EFARERE
ARBAEKERERERBEESRERENMHERERENE
REBNRRAS RAE -

Our procedures in relation to the financial guarantee
contracts provision included:

BN BRAMBERS OBRE 2 AERRNEFE2H

o Understanding the management’s basis and
assessment on the credit risk of Hareon Solar and
Jiangyin Hareon and the probability of payment to
settle that obligation under the financial guarantee
contracts;

. TREBREHNREMBERSOEBEAARIRE
EOEERRRABETAEREEMR AL AIRILEL
EERFHE

o Reviewing the financial guarantee contracts and
discussing with the management of the Company
and legal counsel to understand the arrangement,
obligation and financial maximum exposure arising
from the financial guarantee contracts in case of
default in payment by Hareon Solar and Jiangyin
Hareon;

s BMAMBEFRAAN  ABBENRERREOEEERN
A A T R s8R e IR RO L e R R R IE R 2 R HE
BERVBERE QI B &M B ER

o Reviewing the financial information of Hareon
Solar to understand its latest financial position and
identify events which may affect repayment ability of
Hareon Solar and Jiangyin Hareon; and

o EREBERRZMBER T RESKHMBMLE
BRI EBBAARIIRERZERE N ZE
s R

° Inspecting the statutory demands issued by creditor
to evaluate the exposure of the financial guarantee
contracts provision.

e BHERAZBLHKZETEXRERS
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

BERENSIE(E)

Key audit matter
HEETER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEARBJARNAEERRETEHR

Financial guarantee contracts provision (Continued)

B IERE KB ()

The Group has recognised a financial guarantee provision
of RMB496,793,000 which is the Directors’ best estimation
on the probable cash outflow on the obligations of the
financial guarantee contracts.
ERECRAMBEREBARK496,793,0007T - REER
PBREREHETNBERS R NREMET

o Assessing the resonableness of the estimated
provision for obligation under financial guarantee
contracts with reference to management assessment
and public announcements of Hareon Solar.

e  MEKRSERBEARZEERETHRAEEMBEM
BREREHNZBEEIELZ B EE L SEMY -
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B XEEN RS S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

BARETEH(E)

Key audit matter
HEETER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEARBJARNAEERRETEHR

Valuation of investment properties

REYEZIG1E

We identified the valuation of investment properties as
a key audit matter due to the significance of the balance
to the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
combined with the management estimations required in
determining fair values.
BPEREMEZ HES RAREAFIATDA N EAREE
BEAVBRRNEEN N EEEEARET I ABEED
HE -

As disclosed in note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements, the investment properties of the Group
comprised of completed investment properties of
RMB402,320,000 and investment properties under
construction of RMB5,022,460,000, of which are all
located in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC") and
represented 46% of the Group's total assets.

MR E MISMERM NV 7AEEE - BEEECREMELER
% TR E W2 AR 402,320,000 R AE B2 EMEARE
5,022,460,0007C * 2 #RHMURFEARLMSE ( [HE]) -
WEEREEEELS -

Fair value loss on investments properties of
RMB96,948,000 were recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income for the year ended 31 March 2018.
KREMENRAEBERARKI,94800TERBE_F
—NF=ZA=T—HIEFENGeER MEMEEEERA
TR -

In estimating the fair value of its investment properties,
the Group engages independent qualified professional
valuers (the "Valuers”) to perform the valuation. The
management of the Group works with the Valuers to
establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs
to the model.

EfFEEEREVENLAER  EEEZEBIAER
HEMER(HEMDETHE  BEXE 2 ERERGERM
TS EUSMAERE R EE O ERE LB AR -

Our procedures in relation to the valuation of investment
properties included:

B BRREYEZAERBRNERFBHE

° Evaluating the Valuers’ competence, capabilities
and objectivity and reviewing their terms of
engagement with the Group;

e FHAMEMZERE I RFBELHEIFEEREXES
BHE A 2 155K

° Discussing with the Valuers to understand their
valuation techniques, the performance of the
property markets, significant assumptions adopted,
critical judgmental areas, key inputs and data used
in the valuations to assess if they were consistent
with the requirements of HKFRSs and the industry
norms;

e HEEMAWATREMGLERIN  FHETSHR
B RANEARR - ERHEES - HEMRES
NEIZHABBLEE  UHEEERENREEY
BREERNRITREEPORE

° Evaluating the reasonableness of the key inputs and
source data used in the valuations by comparing
them, on a sample basis, to existing tenancy profiles,
publicly available information of similar comparable
properties and our knowledge of the real estate
industry; and

o BHHESA - BARGENHT28HABERIREIE
BB HBEOMRN - BUTHLDEN DA SER AR
BPEEHETENTHRLE  UFEESEN &

2017/20184F 3k
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BB RES

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

BERENSIE(E)

Key audit matter
HEETER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEARBJARNAEERRETEHR

Valuation of investment properties (Continued)

REYEZGE(E)

As further disclosed in notes 5 and 17 to the consolidated
financial statements, the completed investment properties
at a fair value of RMB155,200,000 were measured using the
fair value model based on the market comparison method
and the significant unobservable input was adjusted
market unit sale rate while the remaining completed
investment properties at fair value of RMB247,120,000
(2017: Nil) were arrived at based on income approach,
where the unobservable inputs are adjusted monthly
rent and the market yield. The investment properties
under construction were valued either using the residual
approach or depreciated replacement costs approach and
the significant unobservable inputs were adjusted market
unit sales rate, adjusted monthly market rent, expected
developer’s profit margin and estimated total construction
cost to complete.

BINER A S HREMFSRI17E—SHE DRI REYE
Z R {ERARY155,200,0007T - TIERATSLEEAR
REREGE  EEATAHERABBACHENISEML
HEBR  MARERARK247,120,000T( =T —+%F :
BIZHRTEXRTREMEDRBAEMES - T ATEA
YEREABRGAES LTHL®MEK - ERREVEAR
BRERITEEBEURNEME - REERTAERRAZRBE AR
AEMSBEMHEER  KRABRSATSHES  EREEH
i M B R A AR TR RSN o

o Assessing the appropriateness of estimated cost
to complete for investment properties under
construction by comparing the costs incurred to
date against the budgets provided by the Group
and evaluating whether the expected property
developer’s profit margins are comparable to the
market and the Group's specific information.

. HEREEERKANEE SERENTBEEEITHERN
FEETRAERREMENMBITRANBES M - WaFE
MEZRB2ERGNERTEMSERESEEZETE
ERHEE -
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B XEEN RS S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

BARETEH(E)

Key audit matter
HREETER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BRSSO MEEEARESEE

Valuation of properties held for sale

FELEMYEZ 1518

We identified the valuation of properties held for sale as
a key audit matter due to the significant management
estimations involved in determining the net realisable
value of properties held for sale.
BHERIEHENYE L HEERABAREAZTEANEE
FIERENYE 2 I EIFER Y REANEERE G ©

As disclosed in note 26 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group had properties held for sale with
carrying amount of RMB2,435,166,000, which included
completed properties held for sale of RMB507,899,000
and properties under development for sale of
RMB1,927,267,000, which are all located in the PRC.
WMANERE MIS MR 26T EE - BEEEE 2IFELEN
YIEIRTEE A AR 2,435,166,0000T @ & F BIED IR THE
HERYEARYES07,899,000 R ERBFFENEARE
1,927,267,0007T © & &L E -

These properties held for sale are stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value (the “NRV") on an individual
basis. As disclosed in note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements, NRV is estimated at the actual or estimated
selling price less estimated costs to complete and the
estimated costs necessary to make the sales. If the actual
NRV on properties held for sale is less than expected as
a result of change in market condition and/or significant
variation in the budgeted development cost, material
allowances for impairment losses may result if the NRV is
less than the carrying amount.
ZEFELENWEMER AKA K] S FE ([ 7] #1R)F
B DBEETIER - BAERE PR WAMI TSP EE - ATEI
FETRER LA EEREMFTNRIRARELHER
FHEETRAREET o WIERENME 2 BR AT #3R%E
EmishR s M/ RN AAE LR EAZE MERTE
Hi - mAlSEFEENREE - AR gSRERESE
B o

Our procedures in relation to valuation of properties held
for sale included:

BB AR EHENYE 2 BERRNERF B

° Assessing the reasonableness of the estimated
selling price used by the management with
reference to the selling prices in the presale
agreement and market prices achieved for
comparable properties, including an evaluation of
the appropriateness of the comparable properties
used by the management of the Group based on our
knowledge of the Group's business and the property
markets in the relevant locations on a sample basis,
if applicable; and

e REXRMUEEEEBLBBAMHZYENT ST E
BMEEE(ER) HHEREE2EREHATHNE
BRALYMEZTENER2BAESEZAENE 8
B EEEEREEEAZATLMEZEEN &

° Assessing the reasonableness of the anticipated
costs to completion of properties under
development for sale by comparing the previous
budget costs to actual development costs incurred,
and checking to construction contracts committed
and relevant market information showing the latest
cost trend.

e BERCEANERAARBANBERAETLR
N ERPEEVENTBTRINANSIEMNE - I
BEMAENRETIZEAN N RR&HKABEHE
M5 ER o
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B AR EE

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

HfE 2

BERRESHFHEAMERAE - HBEERET
BRFHRANER - ETREFEMBRR LK
IR B R &

BAHSGAMBHREENBERL TREEMES -
BRI HZEEMERBEREMEANERS
Am

BRBRMBERAMBHEERNET  RANEESE
BIEEMES  HUERT  EEREMEEES
B AMBHRRARMERBETAEENT
AEEEREELE AT FEEAERRANTE
R BERBMERITOHIIE - WREMRBAEAM
EEFEEAHERRL HMAFTEHELFE -
FENE - BIYPLEEMRE

BERE RS I WwR AR

ERoA
HEE

i

BERAIEERAERBBEESMAGHEMDN
(BEBMBHRE L) RBBLRRHEDDHRER
EHEREMTENSREMBEHRE  UHERR
REFEVBRROBE T FERRRFFHER
MERNEAHRRAMFHOALEHEE -

ERERAVBHRERE  EFARTHESRER
B YTEERBATHRERSERLE
BRNEER UREAFECERGTER K
HEEEEREEEFRIZILELZE  HHIER
BRI ERITE -

AEERARAEEBEESEENP RSB
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B ZBENRES

AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies
Act and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents
of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

2017/20184F %k
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BANER  RUGEMBERIEBESAFHE
N ERRF S #E 3R T S B B K #8 R RO ER S & 32
RiE - WIRBEBREQRDEFROGKERZRKE
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IR RS TR AEE M AR o ARTTL AR ATTHR
&2 ABREEEMA T RBEMEERERE
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RB(ERETERDETHERN ER—EXHE
R F R AR AR 3L IR o SRR AT A B BRFE 3k
FREREIE - MR AIBTEH T M E IR AR AT
EFESAMBERRERE KRB BREMIEL
EREIRTE » BB RS RIRR AT AR (EE K o

ERB(EBFFERDETEANBRES K
PERTERAE - R TERRREER ° &
I

o BRIMFHEARRFERERMEBRERM
BRERFEERNERBARR - RET R
MITEZF A ELRR - A RER
ARMEZENRTRE  FARMAEED
EiE - ARNAGEAIRES R BR - B - &
BER  EERR - SORBRARESZ
£ FAREEHRARFMERHE A
AR R R S R BE IR RS SR T G 2
MBS RIR A A R o

o THREZREMOANES - URFHEE
MEERF - BEEMNLIFHEREARRE
HEBEREERER -
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SRt MAER R EN AN -

59



60

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B AR EE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

RE A ETRE M B RRAEN
BEE(E

s HEERAKELCLSHERNBREMIE
HaEw o RIBFAERNBIIEE  BER
AFEEEELBERGENERNTEE
- R R E R H ERE N AL
NEFERER - MREMBRFEEKX
THEE M - AIB B2 EZBEN &R E T IRR
EREIZHEEM BRI T AOEMBE -
BREAHENBETRE - MIRMEEERE
BERERR - HPIWNERSERZBE K
S HIEFBENENERE - AT - RXF
AHER AT B E B T RERELE -

o TEGAMBHMRNERIIELA &
MAR  BREE  URESWIERERE
B ERRIBARZSNER -

s NEKBAEBIAXBLIBNUBKESE
M  BENETRE  UHEEHB
BRERER - RMAREKREETNT
M EEMAT -  RASFAEELAER
BEME -

BREMEIRS - HAIEREEER T FH 8RR
E - HEZH EXEFERES - 8REMAE
FAT R RI A BRI 0 (AT =R ER o

BMEMAEERRER  HAKMEFTEEH
B TR R ERESR - WEMPERA A
e RARELERMBE LA BERAN
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B ZBENRES

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Lawrence Lam.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

28 June 2018

2017/20184F %k
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

meRmkHEMEERER

For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —F—tF
Notes RMB'000 RMB’000
et ARBTR ARBTTT
Revenue LR 6 3,921,601 3,313,992
Cost of sales and services $HEE T2 RS A AN (3,581,803) (2,836,682)
Gross profit EA 339,798 477,310
Other gains and losses Eofth U 2 K g5 18 8 22,458 (50,586)
Other income H A Y A 9 26,373 10,239
Change in fair value of investment REMEZ RREES
properties 17 (96,948) 196,271
Selling and distribution expenses $HE KD ER AN (117,699) (84,620)
Administrative expenses 1TEE (323,646) (309,559)
Provision for financial guarantee contracts Bff&HEIR & 4R 5 (484,122) =
Impairment loss of available-for-sale AHE ([T HEHEE]DIRE
("AFS") investments ZRIEEIE 24(b) (133,877) =
Impairment loss in respect of property, BEAME  BEAEREZ
plant and equipment B 18 15 (114,083) =
Finance costs B 75 & 10 (163,681) (110,535)
Share of profits from associates SaN g Al/NEIb | 25 3,441 6,028
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries ek NN gy 45 188,829 -
Gain on disposal of associates k=N gy 25 2,611 -
Change in fair value of convertible bonds AR EH 2 A x EEH
— derivative component - PTEE D (74,484) —
(Loss) profit before tax KRR (E518) s A (925,030) 134,548
Income tax expense FriSfiA X 11 (3,425) (91,147)
(Loss) profit for the year FE(HER) &R 12 (928,455) 43,401
Other comprehensive (expense) income FEHM2ME(BX)kH
for the year
Items that may be reclassified ARRNEAZENSEERR
subsequently to profit or loss: WIE R :
Exchange differences on translating of MHEGINEEZIENERR
foreign operations (28,705) (76,238)
Change in fair value of AFS investments  AJEHE®RE 2 AR EEE (135,264) 8,151
Reclassification adjustment relating to BRATHEERE 2EH
impairment of AFS investments DEPE 133,877 -
Reclassification adjustment relating to AFS HERHHERE 2 EH
investments disposed of DERRE (524) 2,170
(30,616) (65,217)
Item that will not be reclassified to BIrEEMIBEEREN
profit or loss: A :
Exchange differences on translation to HRMAEY B BN ERE
presentation currency 120,577 79,996
Other comprehensive income for the year FE H b2 H Uk 89,961 14,079
Total comprehensive (expense) income FEZ2HE(BIX)WFHE
for the year (838,494) 57,480
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

GeBmkEMAEERGER

For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—tF
Notes RMB'000 RMB’000
e AR¥ETF T ARBTTT
(Loss) profit for the year attributable: JEIREE (B )m A
Shareholders of the Company VNN S (931,079) 22,717
Non-controlling interests FEFE AR AR R 2 2,624 20,684
(Loss) profit for the year FE(EE)HA (928,455) 43,401
Total comprehensive (expense) income (AR EFEEN
attributable to: N
Shareholders of the Company iN/NET S (840,164) 35,941
Non-controlling interests FEIE AR A R M 2 1,670 21,539
(838,494) 57,480
RMB RMB
AR T AR
(Restated)
(K& E5)
(Loss) earnings per share BB (GE)EF 14
Basic HAK (15.35) 0.38
Diluted e (15.35) 0.38
s —
% ®
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e IR R

At 31 March 2018
R=-FE—-/\F=HA=1+—H

2018 2017
—E-N\F —FE—tF
Notes RMB’'000 RMB’000
LiFz3 ARET T ARET T
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEMEE
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB NMRE 15 911,156 1,048,945
Prepaid lease payments TEfHEFKIE 16 147,562 199,505
Investment properties EYE 17 5,424,780 4,706,173
Goodwill [l 18 13,933 63,084
Club membership RS 20 1,701 1,868
Finance lease receivables A & e W EkE 19 - 60,472
Deferred tax assets EEFIEE E 37 9,762 5,148
Deposits for purchases of machineries BBEME IR
and an investment property KEMEI LS 22 153,447 42,906
Deposits for acquisitions Wigik e 23 - 500,000
Available-for-sale investments A HERE 24 70,741 232,236
Interests in associates REEE R R 2 = 25 45,873 120,959
6,778,955 6,981,296
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Properties held for sale BIEHE 2= 26 2,435,166 1,120,494
Deposits for acquisitions WhEE & 23 564,000 -
Prepaid lease payments TR HEERIE 16 3,849 4,832
Inventories =g 27 321,799 391,766
Finance lease receivables A & e W EkE 19 11,434 210,888
Trade and other receivables, and B 5 Kk EMERFIE KR
prepayments T RIE 28 878,881 938,462
Loan receivables and JE U E R P R B
interest receivables 21 107,294 888,831
Tax recoverable AU B #5718 44,020 329
Held for trading investments BEBEZ2EE 29 101,222 82,731
Pledged bank deposits RITHEIPER 30 262,823 879,874
Bank balances and cash RITEBR MRS 30 255,113 172,686
4,985,601 4,690,893
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade and other payables, and B 5 K& H At JE R IE
other liabilities HivafE 31 1,739,900 932,662
Bill payables ENERE 32 503,552 2,375,438
Convertible bonds - liability component  AJ[# & &% — B E&ZBH 43 721,580 -
Convertible bonds — derivative component R & (&5 — HTHE D 43 127,628 -
Corporate bonds RNelfEH 42 128,042 =
Amount due to an associate e —fEEt & AR 2 508 25 - 21,372
Tax payable FESRITE 94,744 73,664
Borrowings N 34 2,170,314 1,425,356
Financial guarantee contracts provision BT TSR A 4O 35 496,793 34,800
5,982,553 4,863,292
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e IR R

At 31 March 2018
R=-FE—-/\F=HA=1+—H

2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+tF
Notes RMB’'000 RMB’000
LiFz3 ARET T ARET T
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES BEREBAEE (996,952) (172,399)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERABEE
LIABILITIES 5,782,003 6,808,897
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREEE
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBEE 37 28,520 66,631
Amount due to immediate holding e E R A A
company 218 33 520,000 999,321
Borrowings =N 34 2,423,739 1,695,000
Corporate bonds NAEES 42 128,223 243,161
Convertible bonds - liability component  A[# % &% — B &L 43 - 259,864
Convertible bonds — derivative component AJ[# & &% — $TE 2D 43 - 19,073
3,100,482 3,283,050
NET ASSETS FEE 2,681,521 3,525,847
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BARR#E
Share capital &N 38 55,203 55,203
Reserves HiE 38 2,481,599 3,336,717
Equity attributable to shareholders RARIRREIEE R
of the Company 2,536,802 3,391,920
Non-controlling interests JEIERR IS R A 25 144,719 133,927
TOTAL EQUITY R 2,681,521 3,525,847

The consolidated financial statements on pages 62 to 239 were #NFE2E29AZEAPBRRDEFSN -
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 ZE—\FRXAZ+/\BE/ELFFAIEE - WHIA

June 2018 and are signed on its behalf by: TEERREE
Mr. Meng Guang Bao Ms. Zhang Ye
BEERE REELZ L
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EE EE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

Attributable to shareholders of the Company

KOERRER
Retained Attributable
Statutory  Exchange  Share-based Deemed  Investment profits tonon-
Share Share surplus  translation ~ payment  contribution  revaluation Other  (accumulated controlling
capital ~ premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses) ~ Subtotal interests Total
HRhAER RERH FERER

Bx  RbEE iERBGE  ERGR  2MURE BEZREG RREGER  RMER (2R U 11 8
RMBOO  RMBOD  RMBOO  RVBON  RMBUM  RMBOO  RMBOX  RMBON  RVBOD  RMBOI)  RWBOD  RMBON
ARBTT  ARBTZ  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARRTn  ARETR  ARMTR ARETR

Balance at 1 April 2016 RE-RERR-BZER 51,767 2,095,804 29,100 359 17,059 13735 8:410) 508 156,120 2,864,230 111,09 2975,32
Proftlortheyear SRA - - - : : . . - wm oam s G
Other comprehensive income forthe year ~ EE A2 NS - - - 2903 - - 1032 - - 13204 895 14019

Total comprehensive income for theyear  EEE2ANE = = o 2903 = = 10321 = 211 35,941 159 57,480
Capitalinjection by a non-controling ~EREARMFRERE

shareholder of a subsiclary (note) = - B B B B - = = = 1292 1292
Issue of shares (note 39) 3416 23178 - - - - - - - 266,592 - 266,592
Expense incurred in connection with

the issue of new shares (note 38) - (6932) - - - - - - - 6932) - (6932)
Deemed contribution from acquistion of

asubsidiary (note 49) ) = = o - - 182,189 - - - 182,189 - 182,189
Recognition of share-based payments IURAEER R

(note 41) ) - - - - 49900 - - - - 49,900 - 49900
Transfer to reserve EHTEE = = 5577 o o = = = (5.577) = = =
Balance at 31 March 2017 W-8-t=A=1-R

bi 55,203 2,551,848 35,284 6,498 66,959 195,924 1911 5,033 473,260 3391920 133921 3,525,847

(Loss) profit for the year - - - - - - - - (93,079 (931,079) 2624 (928459)

Other comprehensive income (expense)

for the year - - - 92,826 - - (1.911) - - 90,915 (954) 89,961
Total comprehensive income (expense) o~ £EE2FENE(FR)

the year - - - 92,826 - - (1.911) - (931,079 (840,164) 1,670 (838,494)
Capital injection by non-controling &(Hz

shareholders of subsidlaries (note) - - - - - - - - - - 35,816 35,816
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 43) HEHEA 5) - - - - - - - - - - (22,747) (22,747)
Expiry of share options (note 41) Efignd( - - - - (15,970) - - - 15,970 - - -
Acquisition of subsidiary with KRR

non-controlling interest - - - - - - - - - - (1,280) (1,280)
Dividend paid to non-contolling interest B -ENBATARKE 2 RE

shareholder of a subsidiary - - - - - - - - - - (2,667) (2,667)
Deemed contribution from the controlling ~ BIEREBRAFZEEH:33)

company (note 33) - - - - - 50,812 - - - 50,812 - 50,812
Reversalof deemed contribution from RERMEBRAT LA

the controlling company (note 33) - - - - - (65,766) - - - (65,766) - (65,766)
Transfer to reserve BhTEE - - (50) - - - - - 50 - - -
Balance st 31 March 2018 HZB-NF=R=1-R

bis 55,203 2,551,848 35,234 99,324 50,989 180,970 - 5,033 (441,799) 2,536,802 149 2,681,521

Note: During the years ended 31 March 2018 and 2017, the Group has established  ffit - H#E T —N\FR-ZT—+tF=A=+—HIHF

certain non-wholly owned subsidiaries in the People’s Republic of China. B AEEERPEARLMBKLE T IEZEN
The amounts represented initial capital injection by the non-controlling BRA - 252 BERARBIERBRR 2B ERNT
shareholders. -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

n‘/-ﬁ/\iﬁlﬁlﬂbiﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —tF
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
fitsx ARBT T ARETT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES EEHHLRE
(Loss) profit before tax [ﬁfﬁml (B8)EN (925,030) 34,548
Adjustments for: HE
Allowance for bad debt on trade receivables BHRKTIESZR B 695 1,589
Amortisation of financial guarantee contracts E\M‘%%ﬁé\iﬁz%% (22,129) (9,481)
Change in fair value of convertible bonds - AREF I AR ER
derivative component DTS 74,484 -
Change in fair value of held for trading investments BEEBEZREZAAEED (639) 13,326
Change in fair value of investment properties REMEZ DR EEE) 96,948 (196,271)
Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets 3F,,@j]é§2%ﬁ%&ﬁiﬁ 113,156 94,535
Dividend income from securities investments HHRE ZREBA (7,787) (9,044)
Equity-settled share-based payments %/\%ﬁb{ﬁxf’ﬁﬁﬁ%ZHﬁ - 49,900
Finance costs B%E R 163,681 110,535
Financial guarantee contract expenses FISERANHEY - 44,28
Gain on disposal of associates HERE ARz Wa (2,611) -
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries NG e (188,829) =
Impairment of property, plant and equipment mE - BERREAE 114,083 -
Interest income on bank deposits and RBTRERRBITEATR
pledged bank deposits FRER 2 FI S A (14,577 (4,146)
Interest income on deposits for acquisitions Wiig 2 e FSMA - (1,620)
Interest income on finance lease receivables BB EREBFIER SHA (17,928) (32,746)
Interest income on loan receivables FEE A S (21,586) (127,691)
Loss (gain) on disposal of property, HWENE - BE R ER
plant and equipment (W) 290 (826)
(Gain) loss on disposal of available-for-sale HEMHEERE 2 (R BB
investments (524) 2,170
Net foreign exchange gain SNE I 55 5 48 (151) (473)
Provision for financial guarantee contracts PBERENERE 484,122 =
Impairment loss of available-for-sale investments AELERE ZRESE 133,877 -
Share of profits from associates DIEHE R AR (3,441) (6,028)
Operating cash flows before movements in EEACEYRLETERE
working capital (23,896) 62,558
Increase in properties held for sale BELE 2 ML (1,361,749) (121,733)
Increase in deposits paid for acquisitions Wi EIEE MRS Em (564,000) -
Increase in inventories FEEM (83,318) (161,442)
Increase in trade and other receivables B 5 Rt fE W sRIEE (211,075) (123,814)
Decrease in loan receivables EWEZRD 677,505 186,965
Increase in held for trading investments BEEE ZIEEM (10,454) (43,924)
Decrease (increase) in finance lease receivables BMEREEYGER D (M) 259,926 (18,360)
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 R E A JE 1T FRIRIE A 703,493 56,864
(Decrease) increase in bill payables FERZE R )5 (1,202,841) 343,909
Cash (used in) generated from operations BE(FTAMERE (1,816,409) 181,023
Income tax paid Hﬁﬁ Sy (50,604) (22,065)
Interest received on loan receivables BB EHFS 126,413 26,397
Interest received on finance lease receivables Bl EEAERIIEF S 17,928 32,746
Dividend received from securities investments BHEFRE ZRERA 7,787 9,044
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM RETE (A EE2HSTE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES (1,714,8895) 227,145
2017/2018%5 ¢
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

nv'_R Eﬁﬁ/)lbi%‘%

For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

2018 2017
ZE-N\F —Z—+F
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
fitsx ARBT T ARETT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REED

Purchase of property, plant and equipment BAYE  BENERE (137,918) (62,982)
Proceeds from disposal of plant and equipment HERE R& ﬁﬁﬁ—%?ﬂ 2,905 3,862
Payment for purchase of investment properties BAREME AR (365,175) (2,427,432)
Acquisition of available-for-sale investments WL ERE - (6,146)

Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale HEA M HEREMGHE

investments 47,000 147,144
Payment for prepaid lease payments XA ENEEFIE (12,447) (878)
Interest received on bank deposits EUERITEHAE 14,577 4,146
Release of pledged bank deposits ﬁﬂﬁﬁfﬂﬁﬁrm 624,788 336,837
Placement of pledged bank deposits FRSEATERTR - (426,214)
Payment for establishing of associates v NG RE S - (23,753)
Interest received from deposits for acquisitions Bl RS 2 F S - 1,620
Refund of deposits paid for acquisitions WS 2 Re R 500,000 60,000
Deposits paid for acquisitions WS zke - (500,000)
Deposits paid for purchases of plant and equipment and  WEEBE KR EIA K —IB

an investment property REMEL F 2k (147,503) (42,906)
Net cash outflow for acquisition of subsidiaries WENBARZEFRS R 45 (52,433) (1,018,596)
Net cash inflow from disposal of subsidiaries HEMRBARZFRERA 45 79,606 -
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES BR&EEHEL(FR)REFE 553,400 (3,955,298
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEED
Proceeds from borrowings ERFETE 2,784,852 2,643,728
Acquisition of additional interest from -2 R B R I ME &

a non-controlling shareholder (1,280) =
Repayment of borrowings BEEH (785,388) (1,104,870)
Advance received from bill payables REGVANESE W5 S - 1,002,500
Repayment of bill payables BEEMNER (673,930) =
Interest paid RANEES! (400,391) (191,020)
Capital contribution by non-controlling shareholders  F{BA Tiﬂ BRREZEE

of subsidiaries 35,816 1,292
Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares ? TERRAERE - 266,592
Proceeds from issue of convertible bonds ﬁ_I]‘-ﬁHﬂI%Fﬂ%f)ﬁ 486,180 258,621
Proceeds from issue of corporate bonds NEEEMSHE 50,902 276,250
Repayment of corporate bonds TELA AES (24,390) -
Payment of transaction costs for issue of ordinary shares ?‘ﬁ LB 2 R AT - (6,932)
Payment of transaction costs for issue of BIRREF X HRANH

corporate bonds (4,434) (39,397
Payment of transaction costs for issue of BITRRESR 2 R HRANK

convertible bonds (4,706) (3,453)
Advance from an associate %E*Fﬁﬂﬁﬁ*é/&jz%%ﬂ - 21,372
Repayment to an associate BE—RHBELRZR (21,372) -
Advance from immediate holding company REBEEE ’”‘TZ§TA 805,812 5,891,136
Repayment to immediate holding company EEERE “/‘TZ (999,321) (5,239,809)
Dividend paid to non-controlling shareholders of a BER—HBA

subsidiary JEE J]XHXKZHXQ (2,667) -
NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES METBELZREFR 1,245,683 3,776,010
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS B4R RS EEMEMFE 84,198 47,857
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FORERAESEY

THE BEGINNING OF YEAR 172,686 124,725
Effect of exchange rate changes on the balance of T“@Jﬁﬁﬂ#%%fﬁé\

cash held in foreign currencies Va7 (1,771) 104
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FREERAESEY

THE END OF YEAR 255,113 172,686
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B R M

For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

GENERAL

Huajun Holdings Limited is a limited company incorporated in
Bermuda as an exempted company and its shares are listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”). The registered office of the Company
is located at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton
HM11, Bermuda. The principal place of its business is 36/F,
Champion Tower, 3 Garden Road, Central, Hong Kong. As at
31 March 2018, the directors of the Company (the “Directors”)
consider that immediate holding company of the Company
to be China Huajun Group Limited (formally known as Huajun
International Limited) which is incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands and ultimate holding company of the Company
is Huajun Enterprise (Yingkou) Co., Ltd., which is established
in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). Its ultimate
controlling party is Mr. Meng Guang Bao (“Mr. Meng”), who is
the chairman of Board of Directors and an executive director
for the Company.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) are set out in notes 6
and 51.

The functional currency of the Company is Hong Kong dollars
("HK$") while the consolidated financial statements of the
Group are presented in Renminbi (“RMB"”) to enable the
shareholders of the Company to have a more accurate picture
of the Group's financial position and performance.

2017/20184F 3k

e 2

ERFERERQAA AR AR EZMAL
ZEBRRERAR - MEKRGDES BB
ERGHMBERRR([BRM]) TR E
e ANRAAE Mg EEMA N Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11,
Bermuda c EEX Z& XM BB B IRIE
BEE3IFEEANEE -NR_T—N\F=
A=+—8 ' ARRAEZEH([EF]RARK
NElzHEEERARIRPHAEZEEGR
ARI(AIBEBEBRERALAG) ZRARAR
—FRNEBERESTMAZHRE - W
ARAMREERAGAEEEE(EA)
BRATR - ZABRAEAREFE([H
Bl DY - HERERTRARFEZESSE
FERNTEFARERE((REE]D -

ARAIREMBAR (HKE [ AEE])ZE
DEBH AW FOR51A ©
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R¥ D275 AR EREMEARRRBRRE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
by R BB

For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

70

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
Directors have given careful consideration to the future
liquidity of the Group in light of the fact that as of 31 March
2018 the Group's current liabilities exceeded its current assets
by RMB996,952,000.

As of 31 March 2018, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded
its current assets by RMB996,952,000 and the Group has
capital commitments of RMB2,435,958,000. The Directors
considered that the consolidated financial statements are
preparing on the going concern basis due to (i) continuous
financial support from immediate holding company and
ultimate controlling party, including grant of a credit
facility with an aggregate sum of RMB4,000,000,000 which
will not be demanded for repayment of the balance due
to immediate holding company until 1 July 2019 of which
RMB2,000,000,000 has been advanced to the Group in June
2018 and used to finance the acquisition (which disclosed as
the capital commitment), (ii) the Group has unutilised banking
facility amounting to RMB1,462,074,000 to support its daily
operations, and (iii) the Group is in discussion with banks
and institutional investors for long term financing, including
refinancing through pledge of assets and issuing corporate
and convertible bonds.

The Directors believe that, taking into account the above
factors, the Group will have sufficient working capital to
satisfy its present requirements for at least the next twelve
months from the date of approval of these consolidated
financial statements. However, should the above financing be
unavailable, the Group may be unable to operate on a going
concern, in which case adjustments might have to be made
to the carrying values of the Group’s assets to state them at
their realisable values, to provide for any further liabilities
which might arise and to reclassify its non-current assets and
non-current liabilities to current assets and current liabilities,
respectively.

REMBHRRNVERELE

ERBE-_T—N\FE=ZA=+—8" ' &
SECZRBDEEBRBRERHEEARE
996,952,0007T * M #RELERE B F5 MR B -
EETETHEEBERNEEZ R RENE -

HE-_Z—-N\F=A=+—H0 &%
BErndaEEBERBEEARK
996,952,000 L R A E@ 2 EAEEBAR
#52,435,958,0007T - EERBLEA MIER
RIEFHEK **%/‘%iﬁ*” REAGREERE
BEERARRSERIER—F 2B ERY
e aﬁ&%m,\/\ﬁm 000,000,0007T
ZIEE HEEE-_ZT-AFtLA—BHT
SWREREEENERIERARZE

Hrh A R#2,000,000,000cER = —\
FRNABNTFAEBETAELKRBEER
B(RERAEETUEE) « (VLT EE
AR 1,462,074,0007T 2 SR 1T R0 & LASE
HHEAFELE M) AL B EHERIT M
BEEERNRARE  BIESAKEE
ERBTARRAIBRESETHE -

RAAREER  KEELMAREZRR K
SEEERENEEESURNAEE DB
Tttﬁﬁl:i???é\ﬁﬁﬁ#&i‘%Elﬁﬂiifi)é-f—_ﬂ
REVERIFK - i EORERIS Eal
é ZIKEITQ%E/H”E%FZ*Z&%%E“Z&
CHEMEAT AT EHAEENEED
EEETEVEH%H% NIRHE A ZBREZY
T Bt Al REEE A B (R — P B EE L&
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BENMOBEARBEERREAE

ANNUAL REPORT 2017/2018



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBmRME

For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

The Group has applied the following amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA") for the first time in the current year:
Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative
Amendments to HKAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax
Assets for Unrealised Losses
Amendments to HKFRS 12 As part of the Annual

Improvements to HKFRSs
2014 - 2016 Cycle

Except as described below, the application of the
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group's financial performance and
financial positions for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative

The Group has applied these amendments for the first time
in the current year. The amendments require an entity to
provide disclosures that enable users of financial statements to
evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities,
including both cash and non-cash changes. In addition, the
amendments also require disclosures on changes in financial
assets if cash flows from those financial assets were, or future
cash flows will be, included in cash flows from financing
activities.

Specifically, the amendments require the following to be
disclosed: (i) changes from financing cash flows; (ii) changes
arising from obtaining or losing control of subsidiaries or other
businesses; (iii) the effect of changes in foreign exchange
rates; (iv) changes in fair values; and (v) other changes.

A reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of
these items provided in note 50 of the consolidated financial
statements. Consistent with the transition provisions of the
amendments, the Group has not disclosed comparative
information for the prior year. Apart from the additional
disclosure, the application of these amendments has had no
impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements.

2017/20184F %k
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R AR AT

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE—T—\F=A=1—HIFFE

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs and Interpretations issued

but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs and Interpretations that have been issued but are not

yet effective:
HKFRS 9

HKFRS 15

HKFRS 16
HKFRS 17

HK(IFRIC) - Int 22

HK(IFRIC) - Int 23

Amendments to HKFRS 2

Amendments to HKFRS 4

Amendments to HKFRS 9

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 19

Amendments to HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 40

Amendments to HKFRSs

Financial Instruments’

Revenue from Contracts with
Customers and the related
Amendments’

Leases?

Insurance Contracts®

Foreign Currency Transactions
and Advance Consideration'

Uncertainty over Income
Tax Treatments?

Classification and Measurement
of Share-based Payment
Transactions'

Applying HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments with HKFRS 4
Insurance Contracts'

Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Plan Amendment, Curtailment
or Settlement?

Long-term Interests in
Associates and Joint Ventures?

As part of the Annual
Improvements to HKFRSs
2014-2016 Cycle!

Transfers of Investment Property’

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2015-2017 Cycle?
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBmRME

For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs and Interpretations issued
but not yet effective (Continued)

1

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

determined
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs and
Interpretations mentioned below, the Directors anticipate
that the application of all other new and amendments to
HKFRSs and interpretations will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the classification
and measurement of financial assets, financial liabilities,
general hedge accounting and impairment requirements for
financial assets.

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 which are relevant to the Group

alie:

all recognised financial assets that are within the scope
of HKFRS 9 are required to be subsequently measured
at amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, debt
investment that are held within a business model whose
objective is to collect the contractual cash flows, and
that have contractual cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal outstanding
are generally measured at amortised cost at the end
of subsequent accounting periods. Debt instruments
that are held within a business model whose objective
is achieved both by collecting contracting cash flows
and selling financial assets, and that have contractual
terms of the financial asset that give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding, are
measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVTOCI"). All other debt investments and
equity investments are measured at their fair value at
the end of subsequent accounting periods. In addition,
under HKFRS 9, entities may make an irrevocable
election to present subsequent changes in fair value
of an equity investment (that is not held for trading) in
other comprehensive income, with only dividend income
generally recognised in profit or loss.

2017/20184F %k
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R AR AT

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE—T—\F=A=1—HIFFE

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs and Interpretations issued
but not yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

° in relation to the impairment of financial assets, HKFRS
9 requires an expected credit loss model, as opposed
to an incurred credit loss model under HKAS 39
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.
The expected credit loss model requires an entity to
account for expected credit losses and changes in those
expected credit losses at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition. In other
words, it is no longer necessary for a credit event to have
occurred before credit losses are recognised.

Based on the Group's financial instruments and risk
management policies as at 31 March 2018, the Directors
anticipate there will be potential impact on initial application
of HKFRS 9:

Classification and measurement:

o Debt instruments classified as loan receivables carried
at amortised cost as disclosed in note 21: these are held
within a business model whose objective is to collect
the contractual cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal outstanding.
Accordingly, these financial assets will continue to be
subsequently measured at amortised cost upon the
application of HKFRS 9.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 3. ERAFTIREEITEBMBER
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING EEA([HEBBREER])
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued) (%)

EHEMEERERZHTREERTE

New and revised HKFRSs and Interpretations issued

but not yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

. Listed bond instruments classified as available-for-sale

investments carried at fair value as disclosed in note
24: the Group will continue to measure the listed bond
investments at FVTOCI, and the fair value gains or losses
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve will
continue to be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss
when the listed debentures are derecognised, if the
contractual terms give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest and would sell in the
open market. Any remeasurement, if applicable, would
be adjusted to opening accumulated losses as at 1 April
2018.

Unlisted fund investments classified as available-for-sale
investments carried at fair value as disclosed in note 24.
The Group will measure these investments at fair value at
the end of subsequent reporting periods with fair value
gains or losses to be recognised in profit or loss.

All other financial assets and financial liabilities will
continue to be measured on the same bases as are
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currently measured under HKAS 39. FTEMERELENS -

In addition, the Directors also anticipate that the application of UbSh - ERIRNTERIE A M s 4R
the expected credit loss model of HKFRS 9 will result in earlier FORMIEHMEEFRRABZHAEER
provision of credit losses which are not yet incurred in relation ERBERBUBREEFEIRIE  AAEEHE
to the Group's financial assets measured at amortised costs REHEKAAE2eMEENAREMAE
and other items that subject to the impairment provisions HOREREBONIEER 2 M RELNEEEE
upon application of HKFRS 9 by the Group. However, the LERIEE - AT EFEWEEBEHEREE
Directors do not anticipate that the application of the I mEEAFEIFNRREEBIRERG
expected credit loss model of HKFRS 9 will have material HR-_Z-NFHA-—HAZHNEAER
impact to the opening accumulated losses at 1 April 2018. BERTE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
by R BB

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE—T—\F=A=1—HIFFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs and Interpretations issued
but not yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

HKFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single
comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for
revenue arising from contracts with customers. HKFRS 15 will
supersede the current revenue recognition guidance including
HKAS 18 Revenue, HKAS 11 Construction Contracts and the
related interpretations when it becomes effective.

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should
recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods
or services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled
in exchange for those goods or services. Specifically,
the standard introduces a 5-step approach to revenue
recognition:

. Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer.

o Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the
contract.

° Step 3: Determine the transaction price.

° Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract.

° Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity

satisfies a performance obligation.

Under HKFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as)
a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of
the goods or services underlying the particular performance
obligation is transferred to the customer. Far more
prescriptive guidance has been added in HKFRS 15 to deal
with specific scenarios. Furthermore, extensive disclosures are

required by HKFRS 15.

T RS E] & 8 B 1% 3R
F%;%Eﬁi%iﬁ%ﬁﬁuj)

EHEMEERERZHTREERTE
BUBREEAR2E(E)

BEBUBHREEREISHERETEFENZ
WA

BEMIEREERFE1SKEB/M - HET
—EE-—MRAENHEEANRRER
FPREIAHEELEZIRA - EREVBRE
ERI SB 15557 AL R H‘fHX{‘%EEf:IZJ—W)\ﬁE
B T‘é%l BEAEGHERE18RMLA
iﬁla e ERFENREZS I RIERAR
2o

%-5@ﬁﬁ%iﬁiﬁﬁ‘lfﬁw#ZV&\F U]

ol

%Z%&&HE% E%%ﬁ/ﬁ&ﬂ%}iﬁfﬁﬁﬂ
FEMBRBRILERZHME - AKX
ERS| AR HERFERWA

N\ﬂ]]?v>

e
T A

an

*  F—F: BRERPHAIILZIAHN -

* F_F:BHAHNZBHNEE-

s F=F BEXRSHER-

s FHF I BRJERIEEANZ
BRIBIE

* FhF: E(GKEEE)ERBENELD
RERERBA -

REBEEEWHEREERNE 155 - &
WEMER  BERERAOEEERM
IRB [EEREIBREFPK &
AERBA - EARBEZIESITMAT
BB mEERE155, - AR RINE
e BHN  BHEPERELERFEISHEINE
SRR B AR o

m}Nﬁfm
i oy
M 2 B0 wl

ANNUAL REPORT 2017/2018
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HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs and Interpretations issued
but not yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(Continued)

In 2016, the HKICPA issued clarifications to HKFRS 15 in
relation to the identification of performance obligations,
principal versus agent considerations, as well as licensing
application guidance.

The Directors anticipate that the application of HKFRS 15
in the future may result in more disclosures, however, the
Directors do not anticipate that the application of HKFRS
15 will have a material impact on the timing and amounts of
revenue recognised in the respective reporting periods.

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the
identification of lease arrangements and accounting
treatments for both lessors and lessees. HKFRS 16 will
supersede HKAS 17 Leases and the related interpretations
when it becomes effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on
the basis of whether an identified asset is controlled by a
customer. Distinctions of operating leases and finance leases
are removed for lessee accounting, and is replaced by a model
where a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability have to
be recognised for all leases by lessees, except for short-term
leases and leases of low value assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
by R BB

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE—T—\F=A=1—HIFFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs and Interpretations issued
but not yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and
subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain exceptions)
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liability. The
lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the
lease payments that are not paid at that date. Subsequently,
the lease liability is adjusted for interest and lease payments,
as well as the impact of lease modifications, amongst others.
For the classification of cash flows, the Group currently
presents upfront prepaid lease payments as investing cash
flows in relation to leasehold lands for owned use and those
classified as investment properties while other operating lease
payments are presented as operating cash flows. Under the
HKFRS 16, lease payments in relation to lease liability will be
allocated into a principal and an interest portion which will be
presented as financing cash flows.

Under HKAS 17, the Group has already recognised prepaid
lease payments for leasehold lands where the Group is a
lessee. The application of HKFRS 16 may result in potential
changes in classification of these assets depending on whether
the Group presents right-of-use assets separately or within the
same line item at which the corresponding underlying assets
would be presented if they were owned.

In contrast to lessee accounting, HKFRS 16 substantially carries
forward the lessor accounting requirements in HKAS 17, and
continues to require a lessor to classify a lease either as an
operating lease or a finance lease.
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs and Interpretations issued
but not yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

As at 31 March 2018, the Group has non-cancellable operating
lease commitments of RMB50,379,000 as disclosed in note 46.
A preliminary assessment indicates that these arrangements
will meet the definition of a lease. Upon application of
HKFRS 16, the Group will recognise a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability in respect of all these leases unless they
qualify for low value or short-term leases.

In addition, the Group currently considers refundable rental
deposits paid of RMB6,906,000 as rights under leases to which
HKAS 17 applies. Based on the definition of lease payments
under HKFRS 16, such deposits are not payments relating to
the right to use the underlying assets, accordingly, the carrying
amounts of such deposits may be adjusted to amortised cost
and such adjustments are considered as additional lease
payments. Adjustments to refundable rental deposits paid
would be included in the carrying amount of right-of-use
assets.

Furthermore, the application of new requirements may result
in changes in measurement, presentation and disclosure as
indicated above.
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80

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
("CO").

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for investment properties
and certain financial instruments that are measured at fair
values at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment,
leasing transactions that are within the scope of HKAS 17,
and measurements that have some similarities to fair value
but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2
Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Statement of compliance (Continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

For investment properties and financial instruments which
are transferred at fair value and a valuation technique that
unobservable inputs is to be used to measure fair value in
subsequent periods, the valuation technique is calibrated
so that the results of the valuation technique equals the
transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The principal accounting policies are set out below.
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when
the Company:

o has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the shareholders of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries
that do not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The
carrying amounts of the Group’s relevant components of
equity and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect
the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries,
including re-attribution of relevant reserves between the
Group and the non-controlling interests according to the
Group’s and the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity
and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if
any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit
or loss and is calculated as the difference between (i) the
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and
the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the carrying
amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of
the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the Company.
All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities
of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred
to another category of equity as specified/permitted by
applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained
in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent
accounting under HKAS 39 or, when applicable, the cost on
initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint
venture.

2017/20184F %k

FEETTBR(E)

RERBEEE)

AEERBENE L B2 EERERZE

I G BN SR B K 5 BB B 8 B 0 12 Il 4
MAREERHBAREREER SR R
BERXH AN - AEBREEDAKED
IR RESNREED SRAE - A
RMEEMB AR 2 EMEREE (BHER
B AR E B I SRR B AR M s O 4% B Pl i s
ENRBAREKHERR RS Z A
BRERER) °

AR IFERBERES 2 SRR
KRR EZRAENEAERERER
ARERILFBARREEGA

ZH B AR EE N A EMIFERRE
S(WEIRARERE—RMBARZE
A RS BOH FERR o W e S BsIE N R 5 A R
R WROBEWBKEA A BEREIAIRE
REAABZEERHEE(RERE)Z
RHEEARREEAREHNEARZA
B2 EZ®BE - FABENE MRS
ERAEZMEB AR ZHIA - HIRBEMA
SECEELERMB AR ZHBEEN
BEARCHZEREEMBRELE 2B
B/ AR ERDEERERERES
—HRfEE) - RAREEGIEE BRATH B
ARBZEAREZ AN BERRETES
FHERIZE395R - MER AR HINEN L
R Z BN (WER) 7 2 HER R
BERNRHEERRZIRERA °

83



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R AR AT

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE—T—\F=A=1—HIFFE

84

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of
the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised
in profit or loss as incurred. At the acquisition date, the
identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are
recognised at their fair value.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over
the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed as at the acquisition date. If, after
reassessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds
the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of
the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any),
the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a
bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the
relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation
are initially measured at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair value. The choice
of measurement basis is made on a transaction by transaction
basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Acquisition of a subsidiary not constituting
a business

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities
that do not constitute a business, the Group identifies and
recognises the individual identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed by allocating the purchase price first to
the financial assets and financial liabilities at the respective
fair values, the remaining balance of the purchase price is
then allocated to the other individual identifiable assets and
liabilities on the basis of their relative fair values at the date of
purchase. Such a transaction does not give rise to goodwill or
bargain purchase gain.

For assets and liabilities acquired from controlling shareholder,
the difference between the purchase consideration and the
total fair value of the assets and liabilities transferred will be
recognised as deemed contribution reserve.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried
at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the
business (see the accounting policy above) less accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group's cash-generating units (or groups of
cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, which represent the lowest level
at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management
purposes and not larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash generating unit) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that
the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on acquisition
in a reporting period, the cash generating unit (or group of
cash generating unit) to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment before the end of that reporting period.
If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount,
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the
other assets on a pro rata based on the carrying amount of
each asset in the unit (or group of cash generating unit).
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Goodwill (Continued)

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable
amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the profit
or loss on disposal.

The Group's policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an
associate is described below.

Interests in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but
is not control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of an associate are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. The financial information of
an associate used for equity accounting purposes is prepared
using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for
like transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under
the equity method, an investment in an associate is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's
share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income
of the associate. Changes in net assets of the associate other
than profit or loss and other comprehensive income are not
accounted for unless such changes resulted in changes in
ownership interest held by the Group. When the Group's
share of losses of an associate exceeds the Group's interest
in that associate (which includes any long-term interests that,
in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in
the associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share
of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to
the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBmRME

For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Interests in associates (Continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes an
associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any
excess of the cost of the investment over the Group's share of
the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the
investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the
carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group's
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities over the cost of the investment, after reassessment,
is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in
which the investment is acquired.

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine
whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with
respect to the Group's investment in an associate. When
necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance
with HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets as a single asset by
comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and
fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any
impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount
of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is
recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the
recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest
in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being recognised
in profit or loss. When the Group retains an interest in the
former associate and the retained interest is a financial asset
within the scope of HKAS 39, the Group measures the retained
interest at fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded
as its fair value on initial recognition. The difference between
the carrying amount of the associate and the fair value of
any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing
the relevant interest in the associate is included in the
determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate.
In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to
that associate on the same basis as would be required if
that associate had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised
in other comprehensive income by that associate would be
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from
equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) upon
disposal of the relevant associate.
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HE-F—/\F=A=1—FILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Interests in associates (Continued)

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group,
profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the
associate are recognised in the Group's consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the associate that
are not related to the Group.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for
goods sold in the normal course of business, net of discounts
and sales related taxes.

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can be
reliably measured; when it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when specific criteria have
been met for each of the Group's activities, as described
below.

Sales of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods
are delivered and titles have passed.

Sales of properties

Revenue from sale of properties in the ordinary course of
business is recognised when the respective properties have
been completed and delivered to the buyers. Deposits
and instalments received from buyers prior to meeting the
above criteria for revenue recognition are included in the
consolidated statement of financial position under current
liabilities under trade and other payables.

Rendering of services

Service income is recognised when services are provided.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Dividend income

Dividend income from investments is recognised when
the shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been
established.

Interest income

Interest income is accrued on a time apportionment basis,
by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective
interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of
the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Rental income

The Group's policy for recognition of revenue from operating
leases is described in the accounting policy below.

Financial leasing income

Finance leasing income, including handling fee income
and interest from finance leasing business, is allocated to
accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of
return on the Group's net investment outstanding in respect of
the leases.

Determining whether an entity is acting as a principal
or as an agent

The Group is acting as a principal when it has exposure to the

significant risks and rewards associated with the sale of goods
or the rendering of services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
by R BB

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE—T—\F=A=1—HIFFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Determining whether an entity is acting as a principal
or as an agent (Continued)

Features that indicate that the Group is acting as a principal
include:

(@) the Group has the primary responsibility for providing
the goods or services to the customer or for fulfilling
the order, for example by being responsible for the
acceptability of the products or services ordered or
purchased by the customer;

(b)  the Group has inventory risk before or after the customer
order, during shipping or on return;

(c) the Group has latitude in establishing prices, either
directly or indirectly, for example by providing additional
goods or services;

(d) the Group bears the customer’s credit risk for the amount
receivable from the customer; and

(e) the amount the Group earns is not predetermined.
Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are
recognised as receivables at the amount of the Group's net
investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to
accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of
return on the Group's net investment outstanding in respect of
the leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBmRME

For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leasing (Continued)
The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term. Contingent rentals
arising under operating leases are recognised as an expense in
the period in which they are incurred.

Leasehold land for own use

When the Group makes payments for a property interest
which includes both leasehold land and building elements, the
Group assesses the classification of each element as a finance
or an operating lease separately based on the assessment as
to whether substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of each element have been transferred to the
Group, unless it is clear that both elements are operating
leases in which case the entire property is accounted as
an operating lease. Specifically, the entire consideration
(including any lump-sum upfront payments) are allocated
between the leasehold land and the building elements in
proportion to the relative fair values of the leasehold interests
in the land element and building element at initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for
as an operating lease is presented as ‘prepaid lease payments’
in the consolidated statement of financial position and is
amortised over the lease term on a straight-line basis except
for those that are classified and accounted for as investment
properties under the fair value model. When the lease
payments cannot be allocated reliably between the land and
building elements, the entire property is generally classified as
if the leasehold land is under finance lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
by R BB

For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

92

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation (including property under
construction for such purposes).

Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including
any direct attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at their
fair values. All of the Group's property interests held under
operating leases to earn rentals or for capital appreciation
purposes are accounted for as investment properties and are
measured using the fair value model. Gains and losses arising
from changes in the fair value of investment properties are
included in profit or loss in the year in which they arise.

Construction cost incurred for investment properties under
construction are capitalised as part of the carrying amount of
the investment properties under construction.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected from
its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of
the property (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is
included in profit or loss in the year in which the property is
derecognised.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment held for use in the production
or supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes, other than construction-in-progress, are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost,
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost, less
any recognised impairment loss. Costs include professional
fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised
in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. Such
properties are classified to the appropriate categories of
property, plant and equipment when completed and ready
for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same
basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are
ready for their intended use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
property, plant and equipment, other than construction-
in-progress, over their useful lives, using the straight-line
method. The estimated useful lives and depreciation method
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with
the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Club membership

Club membership with indefinite useful life that is acquired
separately is carried at cost less accumulated impairment
losses.

Club membership is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gain or loss arising from derecognition of club membership,
measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, is recognised
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other
than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation
can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to
individual cash- generating units, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for
which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
identified.

Club membership is tested for impairment at least annually,
and whenever there is an indication that they may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit)
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

FEETTBR(E)

BREEREREERE(BREEMN)

AEERSRENRENEBNEERE
WEENKREE  AHBEEBETRETR
FZEBERIEMBERRE - fHHIREM
BRATR M BBEERN WE S FE A
EEREBENIZE(WHE) o 68
FHERNEEM K@ SR - BIAKE
ZEEMBREELBMHNT KOS -
TR D B AN A B B — Bt - Bl
RXEETOEEERRSELEL - HE
ENVOBEZEAENAER —HOBEEERN
&/NERIR S EA B -

EERELEBFREEREMAAURRE
MR R ETTRE RIS o

A] e BR TY R Ao (B ) EE BRAS BE fE FR AE
EMENREE - RFAEREER @ &
ARBRERESEREEENREHSG
RRABRRRREREMFTNEENTE
R BB RE R KA AT R AR SR ERL
REHRE-

s EE(KREELBM) WA RES
BIONEEKEE NEE(KRSELE
) BEEEREE TR SR  REREL
BB R o

R EEERERED - AIZEE (IR E
B HREESENER AR E S ER
EHfEFHE MR MRAEREENSEA
ZEE(RBRSELEM) NBEFERE
RBEEBREAEEENREE - BES
By S B ME s HERR

ANNUAL REPORT 2017/2018
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are calculated using weighted
average cost formula. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated costs
of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

Properties held for sale

Completed properties, properties under development for
sale and leasehold land held for development for sale in the
ordinary course of business are included in current assets
and stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost includes the cost of land, development expenditure,
borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Group's
accounting policy, and other attributable expenses.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s
functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair
value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange difference arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items are
recognised in profit or loss in the year in which they arise.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, (i) the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into HK$; and (ii) the assets and
liabilities of the Group denominated or translated in HK$ are
then translated into the presentation currency of the Group
(i.e. RMB), using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Income and expense items are translated at
the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case
the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of exchange translation reserve (attributed to non-
controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in
an associate that includes a foreign operation of which
the retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of the
exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the shareholders of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
does not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary,
the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences
are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not
recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e.
partial disposals of associates that do not result in the Group
losing significant influence), the proportionate share of the
accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to profit or
loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments to identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed through acquisition of a
foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive
income.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of
those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

Financial assets

The Group's financial assets are classified into the following
specified categories: financial assets at FVTPL, AFS financial
assets and loans and receivables. The classification depends
on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is
determined at the time of initial recognition. All regular way
purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees paid or received that form an integral part
of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the debt
instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for
debt instruments other than those financial assets classified as
at FVTPL, for which interest income is included in net gains or
losses.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when the financial

asset is either held for trading or it is designated as FVTPL.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling
in the near term; or
o it is a part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments

that the Group manages together and as a recent actual
pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any
gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in
profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
incorporates any dividend or interest earned on the financial
assets and is included in the “other gains and losses” line item.
Fair value is determined in the manner described in note 44.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
AFS financial assets

AFS financial assets are non-derivatives that are either
designated as available-for-sale or are not classified as (a)
loans and receivables, (b) held-to-maturity investments or (c)
financial assets at FVTPL.

Equity and debt securities held by the Group that are classified
as AFS financial assets are measured at fair value at the end
of each reporting period. Changes in the carrying amount of
AFS debt instruments relating to interest income calculated
using the effective interest method and dividends on AFS
equity investments are recognised in profit or loss. Other
changes in the carrying amount of AFS financial assets are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
under the heading of investment revaluation reserve. When
the investment is disposed of or is determined to be impaired,
the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the
investment revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss
(see the accounting policy in respect of impairment loss on
financial assets below).

Dividends on AFS equity instruments are recognised in profit
or loss when the Group's right to receive the dividends is
established.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. Loans and receivables (including trade and
other receivables, loan receivables and interest receivables,
pledged bank deposits and bank balances and cash) are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less any impairment.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment loss of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for
indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period.
Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is
objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the
estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have been
affected.

For AFS equity investments, a significant or prolonged decline
in the fair value of the security below its cost is considered to

be objective evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment
could include:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;

or

o breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments; or

o it becoming probable that the borrower will enter

bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade
receivables, loan receivables and interest receivables, the
assets are assessed for impairment on a collective basis even if
they were assessed not to be impaired individually. Objective
evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could
include the Group's past experience of collecting payments,
an increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio
past the allowed credit period, as well as observable changes
in national or local economic conditions that correlate with
default on receivables.

For financial assets that are carried at amortised cost, the
amount of the impairment loss recognised is the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value
of the estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial
asset’s original effective interest rate.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES FESTHER(E)
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) EMIB(E)
Financial assets (Continued) TEEEE)

Impairment loss of financial assets (Continued)

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables and loan receivables and
interest receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced
through the use of an allowance account. When a trade
receivable, loan receivables and interest receivables are
considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance
account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written
off are credited to profit or loss. Changes in the carrying
amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or
loss.

When an AFS financial asset is considered to be impaired,
cumulative losses previously recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss in the period.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent
period, the amount of impairment loss decreases and the
decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment
loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the
carrying amount of the financial assets at the date the impairment
is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have
been had the impairment not been recognised.

In respect of AFS equity investments, impairment losses
previously recognised in profit or loss are not reversed through
profit or loss. Any increase in fair value subsequent to an
impairment loss is recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated under the heading of investment revaluation
reserve. In respect of AFS debt investments, impairment losses
are subsequently reversed through profit or loss if an increase
in the fair value of the investment can be objectively related
to an event occurring after the recognition of the impairment
loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period,
to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES FESTHBEK(E)
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) EMIB(E)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities at amortised costs

Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables,
bill payables, amount due to an associate, amount due to
immediate holding company, borrowings and corporate
bonds) are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Convertible bonds

Convertible bonds containing debt and derivative components

A conversion option that will be settled other than by the
exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset
for a fixed number of the Group’s own equity instruments or
with settlement option is a conversion option derivative.

At the date of issue, both the debt component and derivative
components are recognised at fair value. In subsequent
periods, the debt component of the convertible loan notes is
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
The derivative component is measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible
bonds are allocated to the debt and derivative components
in proportion to their relative fair values. Transaction costs
relating to the derivative component are charged to profit
or loss immediately. Transaction costs relating to the debt
component are included in the carrying amount of the debt
portion and amortised over the period of the convertible
bonds using the effective interest method.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the
issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder
for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make
payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument.

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are initially
measured at their fair values and, if not designated as at
FVTPL, are subsequently measured at the higher of:

()  the amount of obligation under the contract, as
determined in accordance with HKAS 37 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets; and

(i) the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised over the guarantee
period.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the assets expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that
had been recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES FESTHBEK(E)
(Continued)
Provisions s

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount
of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of
the consideration required to settle the present obligation
at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle
the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value
of those cash flows.

Share-based payment arrangement

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees are
measured at the fair value of the equity instruments at the
grant date. The fair value of the equity-settled share-based
payments determined at the grant date without taking into
consideration all market vesting condition is expensed on
a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the
Group's estimate of equity instruments that will eventually
vest, with a corresponding increase in equity (share-based
payment reserve). At the end of each reporting period, the
Group revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments
expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant non-
market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the
original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such
that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate,
with a corresponding adjustment to share-based payment
reserve. For share options that vest immediately at the date of
grant, the fair value of the share options granted is expensed
immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share-based payment reserve will be transferred
to share capital and share premium. When share options are
forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the
expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share-based
payment reserve will be transferred to accumulated losses.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from amounts as reported
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting
profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised
if the temporary difference arises from initial recognition of
goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that
the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in
the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBmRME

For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES FESTHBEK(E)
(Continued)
Taxation (Continued) HIB(E)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or
deferred tax assets for investment properties that are
measured using the fair value model, the carrying amounts
of such properties are presumed to be recovered entirely
through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted. The
presumption is rebutted when the investment property is
depreciable and is held within a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment property over time,
rather than through sale.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business combination.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans,
including state-managed retirement benefit scheme and the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme, are recognised as an
expense when employees have rendered service entitling
them to the contributions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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B BERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2018

HE-F—/\F=A=1—FILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit
in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after
deducting any amount already paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term employee
benefits are measured at the present value of the estimated
future cash outflows expected to be made by the Group
in respect of services provided by employees up to the
reporting date. Any changes in the liabilities’ carrying amounts
resulting from service cost, interest and re-measurements are
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that another
HKFRS requires or permits their inclusion in the cost of an
asset.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATION

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 4, the Directors are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

Critical judgement in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgement, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the Directors have
made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies and that have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 5. BAEESTHETRET(E)

AND ESTIMATION (Continued)

Critical judgement in applying accounting policies
(Continued)

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or
deferred tax assets arising from investment properties that
are measured using the fair value model, the Directors have
reviewed the Group's investment property portfolios and
concluded that the Group’s investment properties are held
under a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment properties over time. Therefore, in measuring
the Group's deferred taxation on investment properties, the
Directors have determined that the Group has a business
model for its investment properties whose objective is
to hold all its investment properties so as to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment properties over time, rather than through sale.
Accordingly, deferred taxation in relation to the Group's
investment properties have been measured based on the tax
consequences of recovering the carrying amounts entirely
through use.

Presentation of revenue from solar photovoltaic products

In assessing whether the revenue from solar photovoltaic
products should be presented at gross or net basis, the
Directors have reviewed (1) the business flow of the sale and
manufacturing processes; and (2) the business relationship
with the major customers and suppliers and concluded that
the Group has performed a series of processing transactions
with certain related companies. Therefore, in determining
the Group’s presentation of revenue from solar photovoltaic
products, the Directors have considered that processing
service income should be presented on a net basis. For the
gross amounts of each transaction with these related parties,
please refer to note 49 for detail.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
by R BB

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE—T—\F=A=1—HIFFE

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATION (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that may have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

(a)

(b)

Investment properties

The Group uses valuation techniques that include inputs
that are not based on observable market data to estimate
the fair value of investment properties. Note 17 provides
detailed information about the valuation techniques,
inputs and key assumptions used in the determination
of the fair value of investment properties. The carrying
amount of investment properties as at 31 March 2018 was
RMB5,424,780,000 (2017: RMB4,706,173,000) as set out in
note 17.

Estimated net realisable value on properties held for
sale

In determining whether allowances should be made to
the Group's properties held for sale, the Group takes into
consideration the current market environment and the
estimated net realisable value (i.e. the estimated selling
price less estimated costs necessary to make the sales).
An allowance is made if the estimated net realisable
value is less than the carrying amount. If the actual net
realisable value on properties held for sale is less than
expected as a result of change in market condition and/
or significant variation in the budgeted development
cost, material allowances for impairment losses may
result if the net realisable value is less than the carrying
amount.

The carrying amount of properties held for sale as at 31
March 2018 was RMB2,435,166,000 (2017: RMB1,120,494,000)
as set out in note 26.
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HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATION (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Impairment of loan receivables and interest receivables

When there is objective evidence of impairment loss,
the Group takes into consideration the estimation of
future cash flows. The amount of the impairment loss is
measured as the difference between the asset's carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash
flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been
incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate
computed at initial recognition). Impairment losses
are assessed and provided based on management's
regular review of ageing analysis and evaluation of
collectability. A considerable level of management'’s
estimation is exercised by the Directors when assessing
the creditworthiness and past collection history of each
individual customer or borrower. Where the actual future
cash flows are less than expected, a material impairment
loss may arise and would affect profit or loss in future
periods. No impairment is made for both years.

As at 31 March 2018, the carrying amount of loan
receivables and interest receivables was RMB107,294,000
(2017: RMB888,831,000) as set out in note 21.

Impairment of trade receivables and finance lease
receivables

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed
by the Group at the end of each reporting period to
assess whether there is any indication that an asset may
be impaired. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the assets is estimated to determine
impairment losses on the assets. Changes in facts and
circumstances may affect the conclusion of whether an
indication of impairment exists and result in revised
estimates of recoverable amounts, which would affect
profit or loss in future periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R AR AT

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE—T—\F=A=1—HIFFE

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATION (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(d)

(e)

Impairment of trade receivables and finance lease
receivables (Continued)

Impairment losses on trade receivables and finance
lease receivables are assessed and provided based on
management’'s regular review of ageing analysis and
evaluation of collectability. The Directors have assessed
the creditworthiness and past collection history of
each individual customer or borrower. Any increase
or decrease in impairment losses on trade receivables
and finance lease receivables would affect profit or
loss in future periods. As at 31 March 2018, the carrying
amount of trade receivables was RMB181,624,000
(2017: RMB411,960,000) and the carrying amount of
finance lease receivables was RMB11,434,000 (2017:
RMB271,360,000) as set out in notes 28 and 19,
respectively.

Impairment of unlisted fund investments

For AFS investments, a significant or prolonged decline in
the fair value of the security below its cost is considered
to be objective evidence of impairment. When an AFS
investment is considered to be impaired, cumulative
losses previously recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss in the period.

Impairment loss on AFS investment is assessed and
recognised based on the management’s regular review
of recoverability of the AFS investment. A considerable
level of management'’s estimation is exercised by the
Directors when assessing the valuation of the unlisted
fund investments. As at 31 March 2018, impairment of
AFS investment amounting to RMB133,877,000 (2017: Nil)
has been recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATION (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(f)

Provision of a financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are
initially measured at their fair values and subsequently
measured at the higher of (i) the amount of obligation
under the contract, as determined in accordance with
HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Assets; and (ii) the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised over the
guarantee period.

As at 31 March 2018, the Directors are of the opinion that
the financial condition of the borrowers have significantly
deteriorated with certain of their debts are default in
payment. The Directors considered that it is probable
the creditors will demand the Group to settle the
outstanding principal and interest of the subject debts
under the financial guarantees provided by the Group.

On 26 June 2018, three statutory demands were served
on the Company by a creditor to demand the Company
to settle the three outstanding debts totalling of
RMB278,153,000 pursuant to the financial guarantee
contract.

Therefore, the Directors consider that it is probable that
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation arising from the
financial guarantee contracts.

As at 31 March 2018, the Group has recognised a
provision of RMB496,793,000 which is the best estimate
of the Group on the probable cash outflow of the
obligations under the financial guarantee contracts.
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REVENUE

The principal activities of the Group are: (1) sales and
manufacturing of solar photovoltaic products; (2) sales
and manufacturing of high quality multi-colour packaging
products, carton boxes, books, brochures and other paper
products (hereinafter collectively described as printing
products); (3) trading and logistics; (4) property development
and investments; (5) provision of financial services; and (6) sale
and manufacturing of industrial equipment.

Revenue represents fair value of the consideration received
or receivable from sales of goods or properties, finance
lease income and related services, interest income from the
provision of finance, rental income from property investments,
dividend from securities investments, and income from
provision of medical management services, net of sales tax,
returns and discounts.

The Group's significant categories of revenue from its major
products and services recognised during the year are as
follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
by R BB

For the year ended 31 March 2018
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RMB’'000 RMB'000
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Sales of: $HE
— Solar photovoltaic products — KBZRE S IRE S 760,247 1,371,321
— Printing products — ENmll & 658,104 544,748
— Electronic parts and devices —EFEHRAEMH 390,233 347,072
— Oil and other related products — AL REMBEE®R 1,977,006 825,962
— Industrial equipment —T¥XE 35,758 32,616
— Properties o E3 49,596 9,607
Finance lease income and related services Fi&THE WA K HHE IR 17,928 32,746
Interest income from provision of finance 124taElE&E 2 F B WA 21,586 127,691
Rental income from property investments %% & 2 & WA 3,356 5,696
Dividend from securities investments BEKREZRS 7,787 9,044
Provision of medical management services %;g{ﬁ@}%réﬁﬁiﬁk - 7,489
3,921,601 3,313,992
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are
organised by different business lines. Information reported
to the Group's Executive Directors, being the chief operating
decision maker (“CODM"), for the purposes of resource
allocation and performance assessment, the Group has
identified the following five reportable segments.

° Printing: Sale and manufacturing of high quality multi-
colour packaging products, carton boxes, books,
brochures and other paper products

° Trading and logistics: Trading, logistics and supply chain

management

° Property development and investments: Property
development and investments

° Solar Photovoltaic: Sales and manufacturing of solar
photovoltaic products

o Financial services: Comprised of provision of finance

through money lending services; provision of finance
through finance lease; provision of securities brokerage
services and investment activities in equity securities,
funds, bonds and assets management services and other
related services

In addition to the operating segments described above, each
of which constitutes a reportable segment, the Group has
other operating segments which include provision of medical
management services and sale and manufacturing of industrial
equipment in the PRC. None of these segments meets any of
quantitative thresholds for determining reportable segments.
Accordingly, all of the above operating segments are grouped
as "All other segments”.

Business of sale and manufacturing of industrial equipment is
disposed of in the current year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R AR AT

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE—T—\F=A=1—HIFFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Year ended 31 March 2018

7. DEER(E)
BE-ZE—-\E=Z=A=+—HLEE

Property
Trading  development Reportable
and and Solar  Financial  segments'  All other
logistics investments photovoltaic ~ services total  segments Total
VESES #5250 fiE
BARIN RRE KBEAR  SRER B EpAd it
RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETR  ARETR  ARBTR  ARETn  ARETR ARETR ARETR
Segment revenue DHEA
Revenue from external customers — KESMIRREHMA 2,367,239 52952 760,247 47301 3,885,843 35,758 3,921,601
Segment results GEES 31,293 (140975)  (130041)  (93614)  (326423)  (8838)  (335,.261)
Unallocated amounts AR
Change in fair value of TaREH 2 AAEED
convertible bonds-derivative ~fiE85
component (74,484)
Corporate administrative expenses ~ C£17THER (77,888)
Corporate other income 30008 (6,755)
Finance costs SREH (163,681)
Gain on disposal of associates HEBENE hE 2,611
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries ~ HEMBAAZ W& 188,829
Other gains and losses EfbAERER 22,280
Provision for financial quarantee  BiEIERANER
contracts (484,122)
Share of profits from associates ~ HEHE A AR 3441
Group's loss before tax TEENRRAER (925,030)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Year ended 31 March 2017

7. DEER(E
BE-Z—tHE=A=+—HLEE

Property
Trading  development Reportable
and and Solar  Financial ~ segments’  All other
Printing logistics ~ investments  photovoltaic services total  segments Total
nERE #5559 it
HEl - EARMR REE ABEER  SRKH g Ead it
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000
ARRTT  ARETR  ARMTR ARBTR  ARMTR  ARETR  ARETR  ARRTR
Segment revenue ABUA
Revenue from external customers — RESNIZBHIMA S4748 117303 15303 1,371,321 169481 3273,867 40105 3313992
Segment results GEES 15,691 BK91751% Mmes 1M1 3959 {286 391163
Unallocated amounts AAEEE
Finance costs B SE (110,539)
Corporate administrative expenses £ E£7THER (118.987)
Corporate other income BEABKA 1,685
Other gains and losses EflaRER (34806)
Share of profits from associates ~ HEBERFEH 408
Group's profit before tax REENBRAET 134548
2017/2018%5 ¢
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
by R BB

For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7. DEER(E)
Other segment information Hitbn #H&E R
Year ended 31 March 2018 BE—_T—\F=A=1+—HULEFE
Property
Trading ~ development Reportable
and and Solar ~ Financial ~ segments’  All other
Printing  logistics investments photovoltaic  services total  segments Unallocated Total
VESES §E28 fi&

O ERRWE  RRE AREAR SRER i AR RoR it
RMB'00  RMB'OOO  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARETR

Amounts included in the measure B A2 PERTATE
of segment profit or loss or EvitBeel:
segment assets:

Depreciation and amortisation EnEREY

for the year 44,249 8,995 5236 44,898 290 103,668 6,141 3347 11315
Additions to non-current assets ERiEEnEAE

during the year 59,113 2,088 850,884 184,075 8,871 1,105,031 21,597 825 1,127,453
Allowance for bad debt on BARNGARE Ak

trade receivables 695 - - - - 695 - - 695
(Gain) loss on disposal of property, ~ EH% - BERRE

plant and equipment pAL 6] (36) - 339 - - 303 - (13) 29
Change in fair value of investment k&M% 2 A7 ES

properties - - 96,948 - - 96948 - - 96,948
Change in fair value of held for BEEEIREY

trading investments INNEEE) - - - - (639) (639) - - (639)
Realised gain on AFS investments A HERE Y

RES - - - - 5 (524) - - (524)

Interest income earned on bank RETEARRTER
balances and pledged bank deposits R ZFIEMA (2,092) (1,087) (6,007) (1,344) (378)  (10,908) (2,036) (1,633 (14577)
Interest income from finance REMERERYGE

lease receivables ZHEIA - - - - (17,928 (17,928) - - (17,928
Interest income from loan receivables KB ENEZ 2 FIEMA - - - - (21,586)  (21,586) - - (21,586)
Impairment of AFS investments A ERE ZRfE - - - - 133877 133877 - - 133817
Impairment loss in respect of property, &% « BERREL

plant and equipment HEEE - - - 114,083 - 114,083 - - 114,083
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7. DEER(E)
Other segment information (Continued) HihpHER(E)
Year ended 31 March 2017 BE—_ZT—+tF=A=1+—HIFE
Property
Trading  development Reportable
and and Solar  Financial ~ segments'  All other
Printing logistics investments  photovoltaic ~ senvices total  segments  Unallocated Total
VELES 8559 i
AW BARMR  RRE  AB#AR  EREE g Aps¥ &R a5t
RMBOO0  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB0O00  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTL ARETT ARMTR ARETn ARETR ARMTR ARBTR ARETR AREfR
Amounts included in the measure B3t AR HERHIHE
of segment profit or loss or EvitBeel:
segment assets:
Depreciation and amortisation ERfERSH
for the year 30212 8,605 3,562 42,09% 168 84,645 6,101 3769 94,535
Additions to non-current assets ERIEEEEAE
during the year 19,748 1697 4,900,975 31,54 28 495421 6,615 50 4961406
Allowance for (reversal of) bad BARNTESR
debt on trade receivables BE(EED) 1,622 - - - - 1622 (33) - 1,589
Gain on disposal of property, HENE  BREREE
plant and equipment pAi: (626) = = = = (626) = = (826)
Change in fair value of investment k&M% 2 A7 ES
properties - - (1921 - - (19.21) - - (196.21)
Change in fair value of held for BRI REL
trading investments MEEY - - - - 133 13326 - - 133
Realised loss on AFS investments ~ A/HEREY
PEREE - - - - 2,170 2170 - - 2170
Interest income earned on bank RETEARFTER
balances and pledged bank deposits - AL HEHA (139) 623 (989) (1088 (48 (3984 (1) w1
Interest income from finance REBERERYGE
lease receivables ZHEHA - - - - (3274h) (32,746) = S (32.746)
Interest income from loan receivables KB ENEZ ZFIEMA = = = - 127 (127,691 = - (12769
Interest income from deposits for ~~ REAUERS 2FEMA
acquisitions - - - - - - - (1,620) (1,620)
Interest expense arising from RitEREREL
provision of finance business flERR - - - - 9,553 9,553 - S 9553

2017/20184F 3k
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R AR AT

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE—T—\F=A=1—HIFFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Other segment information (Continued)

Segment results represent the profit or loss of each operating
segment without allocation of expenses arising from change
in change in fair value of convertible bonds, corporate
administrative expenses, corporate other income, finance
costs, gain of disposal of subsidiaries, gain on disposal of
associates, other gain and loss of corporate nature, provision
for financial guarantee contracts and share of profits from
associates. This is the measure reported to the CODM for the
purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment.

The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities

DERPER ()
Hito &R (E)

DECFBE T

AEBZEENBERRE

AV

DEMEBRREEENHHERE - XKD
ook B Al A E S 2
BEM - BREMKA
W%Qﬁzw¥
NEA Tz E s R e
HBBE DB ERREN -
ﬂ%ﬁﬁ%ﬁwﬁﬁ REZ

EEE DET
HEER - HE
A ) 2 i

MBERE
DEPFEE L

HARREIR

DEBEI D25

by reportable segments: B UENE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —tF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T

Segment assets PHEE

Printing EN Rl 515,484 522,385
Trading and logistics B 5 KR 620,470 752,906
Property development and investments YIER K RIRE 8,731,430 6,980,597
Solar photovoltaic KIGRENAR 1,107,569 1,382,247
Financial services & B AR 362,626 1,551,940
11,337,579 11,190,075
All other segments P H 7 2B 41,313 338,847
Unallocated assets A EE 385,664 143,267
Consolidated total assets IEEEEE 11,764,556 11,672,189
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBmRME

For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7. DEER(E)
Other segment information (Continued) HihpHER(E)
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBETT

Segment liabilities PHEE
Printing EN I 755,536 472,707
Trading and logistics B 5 kWi 381,079 893,240
Property development and investments ~ #J3REERIEE 3,589,838 3,203,924
Solar photovoltaic YN LD AN 1,397,619 1,144,298
Financial services ® B AR 220,818 129,748
6,344,890 5,843,917
All other segments B EMDH 3,169 416,796
Unallocated liabilities Ao aE 2,734,976 1,885,629
Consolidated total liabilities CEBARE 9,083,035 8,146,342
For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and REERSBERRES B ZEERD
allocating resources between segments:
o all assets are allocated to operating segments other than . FMEREDREEENT XA
corporate assets and interest in associates; and FE RN R R 2 SR AN - &
e all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other e MBAGEIEZZEN I XEB
than corporate liabilities. BBRIN »

2017/20184F %k 121
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n‘l-ﬁ

B BERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2018

HE-F—/\F=A=1—FILFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Geographical information

The Group's operations are mainly located in Hong Kong, the
PRC and the United States of America (“US").

Information about the Group's revenue from external
customers is presented based on the location of the
customers. Information about the Group’s non-current
assets is presented based on the location of the operations

7. % *’I’(ﬂﬁ)

AEENKETESMHAESTE - HEME
MEERBE(TEE]) -

AEERBIMNBEFPZEFBEEMTIER
EFMMHES c AREAREIERBEE
MERDEREHREEEBNRENESR
5l o TR#INKRBINBEF ZEFKERIE

of relevant group entities. The following table sets out REEENMIBABEER
information about the geographical location of revenue from
external customers and non-current assets:
Revenue from
external customers Non-current assets*
RE S
BEECE¥ER FRBEE
2018 2017 2018 2017
—g-Nn% —tF  ZE-NF  —TtfF
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T AREET T AR¥T R ARBTT
The PRC =8 3,302,353 2,731,076 6,678,740 6,667,772
The US ESIEl 283,817 196,029 98 30
Hong Kong EE 237,875 272,249 19,614 15,638
European countries BUMB = 59,428 52,844 - .
Other countries H i B 38,128 61,794 - =
3,921,601 3,313,992 6,698,452 6,683,440

Non-current assets exclude financial instruments and deferred tax
assets.

Information about major customers

The Group’s customer base is diversified and none of the
customers whom have transactions with the Group exceeded
10% of the Group's revenue during the years ended 31 March
2018 and 2017.

* FRBDEETEREMIAREEREER
Eo

FREEXREFNER
AEERBZTENELPER  BE_F
—NER_ZEB—LtF=A=+—HILF

B HEFXFPEASENZHEBAEE
BERFAHI10% °

ANNUAL REPORT 2017/2018



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

8. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

8. HittimREE

2018 2017
—B-N\F —E—+F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARETTT
Financial guarantee contracts expenses  BffS4ER A ©95 2 (A17£35)
(note 35) - (44,281)
Amortisation of financial guarantee B TSR G X085 (M1 2E35)
contracts (note 35) 22,129 9,481
(Loss) gain on disposal of property, HEWE  BEMREZ
plant and equipment (B18) e (290) 826
Gain (loss) on disposal of AFS investments &R HERE 7 Wk (E1E) 524 (2,170)
Change in fair value of held for FEEEZREAAERY
trading investments 639 (13,326)
Exchange gain, net FE 5 Wz 558 151 473
Increase in allowance for bad debt on HEINE 5 W FIR R R 2 B
trade receivables (695) (1,589)
22,458 (50,586)
9. OTHER INCOME 9. HfA
2018 2017
—E-NF —T—tF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥TF T ARET T
Interest income earned on bank balances BT 458 K SR1TIEIR 17 Z BREY
and pledged bank deposits 2T BUA 14,577 4,146
Interest income from deposits REWEIRE 2R BUA
for acquisitions - 1,620
Others Hip 11,796 4,473
26,373 10,239
2017/2018%5 5K
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

nVT

B BERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

10. FINANCE COSTS 10. %8 A
2018 2017
—E-NF F—tF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBT T
Interest on bank borrowings and RITERREMBERZFE
other borrowings 354,165 154,756
Imputed interest arising on REEEERAR 2R BIERK
interest free borrowings from ZIEERE
immediate holding company 15,858 -
Effective interest expense on AESZ BRI B
convertible bonds (note 43) (K1a%43) 61,692 28,992
Effective interest expense on NElfER 2 BRF SR
corporate bonds 29,177 10,180
Other finance charges Hin % &R 5,961 27,710
466,853 221,638
Less: interest expenses from bank B RN E RRIE AN ER R B
borrowings and other borrowings WITERREMERZ
recognised in cost of sales and FERAX
services (2,418) (9,553)
Less: interest expenses capitalised into B FEREEENMEEEE
investment properties under REME EFERPHE
construction/properties under W (Hfat)
development for sales (note) (300,754) (79,573)
Less: other finance charges capitalised B Bt EREEAR LR
into investment properties under ERIEEYE
construction - (21,977)
163,681 110,535

Note:

The borrowing costs of general borrowings have been capitalised at
a rate of 10% (2017: 10%) per annum to expenses on the qualifying

assets.

ffat -

RAE R Z BRI IRE M K10%(ZF—L
C10%)EAEREBREENX °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

1. FISHiEx

2018 2017
—EB-N\F —T—+tF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT
Current tax: BREARRIA -
Hong Kong Profits Tax EBNEH 3,701 3,087
PRC Enterprise Income Tax R ZEPTISR 27,381 39,133
Other jurisdictions HAth el AR = 186 201
31,268 42,421
(Over) under-provision in prior years: NEFEZ(BRE)BETR
Hong Kong Profits Tax BABEMFH (1,.216) (6)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax B EEPTIS 2,503 18
1,287 12
Deferred tax (note 37) IEIEFRIE (M 7£37) (29,130) 48,714
Total income tax recognised in B R ST ATE
profit or loss 3,425 91,147

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2017: 16.5%) of

the estimated assessable profit for the year.

PRC subsidiaries are subject to PRC Enterprise Income Tax at

25% for the year (2017: 25%).

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calc
prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

2017/20184F 3k

ulated at the rates

EBNNERIIEFAMTERSEF A
16.5%(—F—+5F : 16.5% )T RtE

PEKEQRYASNTECEMSH
FRREB25%(ZF—+4F : 25%) °

E 1t T AR E BRI A AR 2 R 1T
GESE S
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R AR AT

For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

1. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 1. FTEHREX(E)

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the
(loss) profit before tax per the consolidated statement of profit

FAMSRAX AT EGEEGE R EMEM
Woas R FRER B AT (B 18) s A SRR T

126

or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

2018 2017
—E-NF —tF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥ETF T ARBT T
(Loss) profit before tax A BT (EE) SR (925,030) 134,548
Notional tax on (loss) profit before tax, MR (EE) SNz ZERE
calculated at the rates applicable to HERAN BRI EER R
profits in the jurisdictions concerned HIR R =+ 8 (169,521) 60,929
Tax effect of expenses not deductible RBWE M E - AR
for tax purposes Xz HIATE 123,332 26,864
Tax effect of income not taxable for BB ME - B erin
tax purposes WA Z IR E (6,472) (7,867)
Tax effect of deductible temporary AERZAIMRERER Y
difference not recognised MiER 28,520 =
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERZBRIEEE RIBFE 26,501 12,076
Utilisation of tax losses previously not A UERER ZFIEEE
recognised (222) (867)
Underprovision in respect of prior years ARG EEHET B 1,287 12
Income tax expense FriSHiF 2 3,425 91,147
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

12. (LOSS) PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

12. FE(EB) =

2018 2017
—E-NF T —tF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T R ARETTT
(Loss) profit for the year is arrived after FEEE)RFI &R (GTA)
charging (crediting): AT &RIRRES
Directors’ remuneration (note 13) BE=ME (HaE13) 15,313 30,598
Staff cost, excluding Directors’ ETIKRA  TEREEEMS :
remuneration:
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TEREMIEH 267,751 213,947
Retirement benefit scheme contributions  iEREFIFH 2R 30,508 26,303
Share-based payments (note 41) VARR 19 I B 2 R (Bt et 41) - 32,626
Total staff costs 488 TR 313,572 303,474
Rental income from investment "EYMEZHSWA -
properties:
Gross rental income from investment KEYEZ BEHRSWA
properties (3,356) (5,696)
Less: direct operating expenses B FAEEHRESBRAZEE
incurred for investment M BEGERT
properties that generated
rental income during the year 278 407
(3,078) (5,289)
Amortisation of land lease premium + b FH &% B i 4,320 4,225
Auditor’s remuneration %S A B &
— Audit services —FH AR 2,423 2,581
— Non-audit services — AT ARTS 316 792
Cost of inventories recognised as FERAERERY
an expense 3,536,848 2,818,950
Depreciation for property, Mm% - WEIEERE
plant and equipment 108,836 90,310
Interest income (included in revenue) FIEUWA (T AEERE) 39,514 160,437
Operating lease rental on land T RREYHKEHERS
and buildings 22,141 21,245
Research and development expenses e 21,213 7,934
B

2017/20184F 3k
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
by R BB

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE—T—\F=A=1—HIFFE

13. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 13. EE - FETHAEREEZ
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS e
Directors’ and Chief Executive's EERFETHAE
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the Directors and THRENKENEEERFETHAER
the Chief Executive were as follows: 2
Year ended 31 March 2018 BE-Z—-N\F=A=+—HLEE
Retirement
Salary Discretionary benefit
and other bonus scheme Share-based
Fee allowances (Note a) contributions ~ Sub-total ~ payments Total
B
HoR HiEta BIER BER

fie  REE () HBER i PAiES it
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARRTR ARETR ARETR ARBTR ARWTR ARBTR AR®TR

Executive Directors HiTEE
Mr. Meng i - 7,364 - - 7,364 - 7,364
Ms. Zhang Ye (Chief Executive) (Note b) ~ REZ L (TR

(Htb) - 639 - 4 643 - 643
Mr. Wu Jiwei ("Mr. Wu") (Note ¢) REETE(REE])

(Hitc) - - 5 4191 T
Mr. Guo Song (Deputy Chief Executive) SIS 4 (B TR ER) - 1,579 - - 1,579 - 1,579
Mr. He Shufen (Note b) % % (atb) - 1,007 - 10 1,017 - 1,017

Independent Non-executive Directors BV Fi77E%

Mr. Zheng Bailin itk 173 - - - 173 - 173
Mr. Shen Ruolei HEERE 173 - - - 173 - 173
Mr. Pun Chi Ping RaThE 173 - - - 173 - 173

519 14,765 - 29 15,313 - 15,313

128 ANNUAL REPORT 2017/2018



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

13. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 13.
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Directors’ and Chief Executive's (Continued)

Year ended 31 March 2017

Salary  Discretionary
and other bonus
Fee  allowances (Note a)

g2k BT

e EmEE (M)
RMBO0O  RMB'O00  RMB'000
AEETR  ARETT  ARETR

EE - FETBRAEREEZ
(&)

EERIETHRAE(E)

HE_Z—+F=A=1+—HIFE

Retirement

benefit Share-based

scheme payments
contributions Sub-total (Note d) Total

Dl

REN

ST PATE
RIS 1Nt (Hitd) @

RMBOOO  RMB'0OO  RMB'0D0  RMB'000
ARETR  ARETT  ARRTR  ARETR

Executive Directors HiTEE

Mr. Meng Rk - 7142 -
Mr. Wu Jiwei RERTE - 4312 -
Mr. Guo Song PRk = 1,467 -

Independent Non-executive Directors BV Fi/7E%

- 1,142 5,744 12,886
16 4,328 5,744 10,072
- 1,467 4,064 5931

Mr. Zheng Bailin L vk 129 - - - 129 574 703
Mr. Shen Ruolei NEERE 129 - - - 129 574 703
Mr. Pun Chi Ping RaThE 129 - - - 129 574 703

387 12921 - 16 13,324 17,214 30,598

Neither the Chief Executive nor any of the Directors waived
any emoluments in the year ended 31 March 2018 (2017: nil).

During the year ended 31 March 2018 (2017: Nil), no
emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the Directors
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group as
compensation for loss of office.

2017/20184F 3k

HE_Z-—N\E=A=+—RBHILEE It
T BITIA B S5 E 5 N E (0] 5 B
ZE—F |

BE_T—/\F=A=t—HLFE(C=F
—£F &) ARESES N AR T
EMES  ERMARKENMAKREE
By Y 2 S E R RERL AR E
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
by R BB

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE—T—\F=A=1—HIFFE

13. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

The discretionary bonus is determined by reference to the individual
performance of the Directors and performance of the Group as a
whole.

These Directors are appointed on 20 December 2017 and Ms. Zhang
Ye is designated as a joint chief executive officer of the Company.

On 30 March 2018, Mr. Wu is resigned as an executive director and
the joint chief executive officer of the Company.

These represent the estimated value of share options granted
to the Directors under the Company’s share option scheme. The
value of these share options is measured according to the Group's
accounting policies for share-based payments transactions as set out
in note 4.

The details of these benefits in kind, including the principal terms
and number of options granted, are disclosed in note 41.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for
their services in connection with the management of the affairs
of the Company and the Group.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown
above were for their services as Directors.

13. B - FETHAEBREEZ

(&)

BEERFETHRARGE)

iz -

@ BETANEEENEERAENERER

MEE

b) ZFEER_FT—tF+_H_tBEZ
£ MRELTEEERARBZBEITR
HEL -

(@ RZE-NF=A=+H RELFELRR
BIMITE R RBETTRAER

(d) EREADREREASNEFREZEBR
B EEHEE - IhEREREZBETVERA
SEBRAURN BERZNARZNSFH
R(BNHITL)FE -

HEEMRANZHE(REMREREZE
EIRRR BB ) RHT 41 B -

FRAARTEREZHMARERSEELRR
RASENEBMIRER 2 REERE

FABTIFMITEE 2 HFNERSIERE
FRHEZRBER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

13. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 13.

EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
Employees

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in
the Group, there were five (2017: three) directors whose
emoluments are included in the disclosures above. No
emoluments of the non-directors individuals should be
disclosed for the year ended 31 March 2018. The emoluments
of the remaining two individuals for the year ended 31 March
2017 and the emoluments of Ms. Zhang Ye of RMB1,613,000
and Mr. He Shufen of RMB980,000 prior to their appointment
as Directors for the year ended 31 March 2018 were as follows:

AEEBRERSFMALH  BERA(Z
T—+F . ZR)EE BENFHR EX
BE -HE-_T-\E=ZA=t+—HLHF
B BMEFEEALZFEMAETURE -
HE-_Z—+E=A=1+—RBIFE =
BREZALTZEHM  URBE-ZT—N\F
A=+ HALEE RELE(ABAR
#1,613,00070 ) R S L E(BARE
980,0007C) EE R AEERIMFENT ¢

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARBETT

Salaries and other allowances e M EAERL 1,940 2,642
Retirement benefit scheme contributions BRAREFIET 2R 35 31
Share-based payments VARG B B R 2 1Tk - 7,229
Discretionary bonus BETEAT 618 838

2,593 10,740

Their emoluments of the remaining two individuals for the year
ended 31 March 2017 were within the following band:

BE " T—t+F=A=1+—HILFE  H
BB ALTZHMEEMEATRER

2017
—ET—tF
Number of
Individuals

N

HK$5,500,001 to HK$6,000,000 5,500,001 7T £ 6,000,000/ 7T 1
HK$6,000,001 to HK$6,500,000 6,000,0017 7T 26,500,000/ 7T 1

2017/20184F %k
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
by R BB

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE—T—\F=A=1—HIFFE

14. (LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE 14. 8K (EER)EBA

The calculation of the basic and diluted (loss) earnings per
share attributable to the shareholders of the Company is
based on the following data:

AR TR RS SREA LB (5 R
FITSARIRA T BB 3+ BTG -

2018 2017
—E-NF —E—+F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥ETF T ARETTT
(Loss) earnings (EBER)EF
(Loss) earnings for the purposes of basic ~ RRFHE MR EAR N #E (E18)
and diluted (loss) earnings per share Bz (B8 B (AR RRE
((Loss) profit for the year attributable to FELFE (EE) % H)
shareholders of the Company) (931,079) 22,717
2018 2017
—E-N\F T —tF
(Restated)
(I &%)
Number of shares RGOEE
Weighted average number of share for ARFEERERREE(EE)
the purposes of basic and diluted (loss) B F 2 BAp nkE S 15 8
earnings per share 60,669,200 59,382,839

In determining the weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue for the year ended 31 March 2018, the Share
Consolidation (as defined in note 38(i)) has been regarded as
completed since 1 April 2016. Earnings per share for the year
ended 31 March 2017 was restated accordingly.

The computation of diluted (loss) earnings per share does
not assume the conversion of the Company’s outstanding
convertible bonds since their assumed conversion would have
anti-dilutive impact for both 2018 and 2017.

The computation of diluted (loss) earnings per share does not
assume the exercise of the Company's share options because
the exercise price of those options was higher than the
average market price for shares for both 2018 and 2017.

BrRHE_T-N\F=A=+—HILFE
ZEETERRZINEFHEE - RiHE
HOERRMFEIB))RRRE—FT—RF
MA—HEDSEK - Bt - HE—F—+
FZA=+—HIFEZERANEZET -

EBREE(ER) BT MREEBRA
PDEIMARER AJRERES  RRAFES
ZBEEHEBEN - N\FER_T—+FE
EREETE -

AHEEREE (BB 2 Y MRRITEAR
RAZERE  RESZEBBRAEZITE
BR_ZF-N\FER_ZF—tFBRMHZFH

mES °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B R M

For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. 1% - BMERKME
Plant Furniture Computer
and and and office Motor  Construction-
Buildings machinery fixtures equipment vehicles in-progress Total
AR EKR
BEY  HERER BE%E  HOZRE nE KRIE it

RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR  ARETR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR ARETR ARETR

CosT A
At 1 April 2016 RZE-~EMA-A 690,185 706,029 26,718 51,350 20,728 38,363 1,533,373
Additions BE 8,568 14,533 4,700 6,941 13,572 19,955 68,269
Addition through acquisitionof ~ BBKEHBAALE

subsidiaries (note 45) (Hizt45) 12,204 - 695 296 400 - 13,595
Disposals e - (14,257) (108) (40) (2,735) - (17,140)
Exchange adjustment BN AR - 12,185 576 1,406 478 - 14,645
At 31 March 2017 R-E-+£=A=t-H 710,957 718,490 32,581 59,953 32,443 58,318 1,612,742
Additions BE 28,498 41,652 5,932 7,168 7,261 47,407 137,918
Reclassification ENDE 28,404 - - - - (28,404) -
Disposals e - (3,093) (74) (1,360) (2,625) - (7,152)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 45)  HEHBRA(ff#45) (10,849) (3,590) (3) (404) (379) (33,784) (49,009)
Exchange adjustment EiA% (148) (15,176) (776) (1,948) (702) - (18,750)
At 31 March 2018 R-E-\E=A=t-H 756,862 738,283 37,660 63,409 35,998 43,537 1,675,749
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION ~ EH#ERHE

AND IMPAIRMENT
At 1 April 2016 RZE-~ERA-A 114,416 304127 9254 40970 6,515 - 475,282
Provided for the year EREE 26,521 49,878 3975 5516 4420 = 90,310
Disposals e - (12,242) (107) (40) (1,715) - (14,104)
Exchange adjustment AR - 10,803 260 1,072 174 - 12,309
At 31 March 2017 R-E-+£=A=t-H 140,937 352,566 13,382 47,518 9,394 - 563,797
Provided for the year FRhEE 46,726 45,743 5,056 5,412 5,899 - 108,836
Disposals HE - (2,519) (38) (754) (646) - (3,957)
Impairment loss recognised in RERBT HERE

profit or loss - 95,940 9,813 464 - 7,866 114,083
Derecognition upon disposals of BN EMB R ARA A

subsidiaries (note 45) (Hiz45) (1,430) (24) 1) (2006) (18) - (1,679)
Exchange adjustment ERAE (132) (13,844) (568) (1,695) (248) - (16,487)
At 31 March 2018 RZE-\EzA=t-H 186,101 477,862 27,644 50,739 14,381 7,866 764,593
CARRYING VALUES Rk
At 31 March 2018 R-E-\E=A=t-H 570,761 260,421 10,016 12,670 21,617 35,671 911,156
At 31 March 2017 RZE-+tF=A=t-H 570,020 365,924 19,199 12,435 23,049 58,318 1,048,945

2017/20185F 3k 133




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR Rk AT

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE—T—\F=A=1—HIFFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. Y% - BERKRE(E)

(Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated over their estimated useful lives and after taking
into account of their estimated residual value, on a straight-
line basis, over the following period:

Buildings 2-50 years
Plant and machinery 10-15 years
Furniture and fixtures 5-10 years

Computer and office equipment 5-6 years
Motor vehicles 5-6 years

As at 31 March 2018 and 2017, all of the buildings are situated
in the PRC and held under medium term leases.

During the year, the Directors conducted a review of the
Group's property, plant and equipment and determined that
a number of those assets were impaired, due to closure of
manufacturing plant in solar segment and the recoverable
amount from these idle assets expected to be very minimal.
Accordingly, impairment losses of RMB114,083,000 (2017:nil)
have been recognised in respect of the relevant assets, which
are used in the Group's solar segment. Subsequently, these
impaired idle machineries with original cost of RMB50,758,000
are transferred to a related company’s warehouse for
temporarily storage and no fee is charged by the related
company. The related company is a company controlling by
Mr. Meng (note 49). The recoverable amounts of the relevant
assets have been determined on the basis of their residual
value.

Property, plant and equipment with a total carrying amount
of RMB708,470,000 (2017: RMB726,455,000) has been pledged
to secure bill payables and borrowings of the Group as at 31
March 2018 (note 48).

Ltz - BEMREERB THEE R
RpEEENEGIERFHARNER
EIRAT IR E ¢

Y 2504
%5 K 2s 10&= 1545
AR EEHE 5ZE104F
BRI AE R 5564
RE 5ZE64F

KRB NEFR-F—LF=A=+—
B - Fi A RS 3 o B 3 b
HA -

FR - EFHLAEEZVE  BERRE
EITHERE TETETZEEEDRME -
REAANKDHHEERAEARKEZSE
FEEEMNTKESEEHRATHE -
It BABBEEE(ARSIEBAX KRS
AR 114,083,000 ( —E—+4F ¢
E)REEEBE THER - BB - ZSREAN
A AR #50,758,0007T K E B B K] B 1 23
EHHRE-HEBARNEEE T M
BAR IR E - XM AR ARRLE
EHrRE (ME49) - HEEEMATKE
SHORAFIREEET

ME BERZEZLEEEEAR
708,470,000 (ZE—+F : AR
726,455,000 ) R=ZZE—N\NF = A
=+ HEEALEB ZEMNEERERER
Z AR (BT5E48) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

16. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS

16. HENHEERIA

2018 2017
—E-N\F —ET—+tF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T

Analysed for reporting purpose: BEREBEOZON
— Current assets —REEE 3,849 4,832
— Non-current assets —JEmBEE 147,562 199,505
151,411 204,337

At 31 March 2018, prepaid lease payments amounting to
RMB129,634,000 (2017: RMB194,264,000) have been pledged
to secure bill payables and borrowings of the Group (note 48).

17.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

RZE—-NEFE=A=+—0  BENEEXR
HL A ANRE129,634,000(—F—+
£ ANR#194,264,0007T) © DIEBARE
B 2 B R A B2 K (M 7548) -

17. REWZE

Investment
Completed properties
investment under
properties  construction Total
(=5 T&
BREWME REME st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTT ARETTT ARETTT
At 1 April 2016 RZZE—RFEMNHA—H 73,578 = 73,578
Additions HE 1,555 2,484,835 2,486,390
Additions through acquisition  EBRWE—FEH B A7)
of a subsidiary (note 45) HE (Hfat45) = 1,949,934 1,949,934
Change in fair value of LERYE T NAEEH
investment properties 1,646 194,625 196,271
At 31 March 2017 RZE—+F
=A=+—H 76,779 4,629,394 4,706,173
Additions by - 754,398 754,398
Additions through acquisition BB —EHE A )
of a subsidiary (note 45) BE(HE45) 61,157 - 61,157
Reclassification upon BTHREFRDA
completion of construction 427,695 (427,695) -
Change in fair value of WEYMEZ ARBEES
investment properties (163,311) 66,363 (96,948)
At 31 March 2018 R-E—N\&F
=A=+—H” 402,320 5,022,460 5,424,780

2017/20184F %k
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17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Investment properties are measured at fair value for financial
reporting purposes. In estimating the fair value of an asset,
the Group uses market-observable data to the extent it
is available. The Group engages independent qualified
professional valuers to perform the valuation. The Directors
works closely with the valuers to establish the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs to the model.

All of the Group's property interests held under operating
leases to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes
are measured using the fair value model and are classified
and accounted for as investment properties. All of these
investment properties are under medium-term leases in the
PRC.

The fair values of the Group's investment properties as at
31 March 2018 and 31 March 2017 have been arrived at on
the basis of valuations carried out on the date by Jones
Lang LaSalle Corporate Appraisal and Advisory Limited and
Avista Valuation Advisory Limited. These valuers are firms of
independent qualified valuers not connected with the Group
and have the appropriate qualifications and recent experience
in the valuation of similar properties in the relevant locations.

In estimating the fair value of an investment properties, the
Group engages independent qualified professional valuers
to perform the valuation. The management of the Group
works closely with the valuers to establish the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs to the model. The Group
uses valuation techniques that include inputs that are not
based on observable market data to estimate the fair value of
investment properties.

In estimating the fair value of these investment properties, the
highest and best use of the properties is their current use.

As at 31 March 2018, the Group's completed investment
properties carried at fair value of RMB314,370,000 (2017:
RMB65,418,000) and investment properties under construction
at fair value of RMB5,022,460,000 (2017: RMB4,629,394,000)
have been pledged to secure bill payables and borrowings of
the Group (note 48).

17.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
by e B

For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

REWE(E)

UHBRERBN - REMERAAER
E - EMFEENAAER  AEERA
MSA BRI BEE - AEEREFBEL
AEMBERMEMETHE EFRMHE
MEEE  UAZREETAEHHE
TERBAE

AEERBELERESAURBASHE
BARREZHMBEMEER AR EBER
ETFTE - XOBERAAREYE - FIAE
HZERENE TN PBEATHEERE -

AEEREMER -_FT-—NF=ZA=1+—
BRZZE—+F=A=+—HZARET
ERNMPEBITERI[RERNBERABR
NEAFEHEABRARNZ B HETH
HERBH - ZFMERM R EARE B EE
B2 BUARBRMER Y ABHEEER
W ETRR R 2 RIIRME BT A AL

ERBFRENENRAER AREZRE
BIYAEREXGEMETHE - AKH
BEEERGEEMRZAE  ARZRARZE
VABENBETERBAE - ARERA
MEETARRYFERATERINMS
BENBAE  NLRBFREVMENRA
o

EMFAZEREVELIAER - WENR
S ERERERERK AR -

WR-_ZE—NEFE=ZF=+—8 A&EH
ZERIKRENEDNRDIABARE
314,370,000t (ZZE— £ F : AR
65,418,0007C) 5J8R - MERREMENRA
A 1EAANRES022,460,000T( =T —+
F o ANR#4,629,394,0007T) @ 2 AIEAR
SEZENEEBERERZIER(HE48)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBmRME

For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 17. REWE(E)

As at 31 March 2018, completed investment properties at fair
value of RMB155,200,000 (2017: Nil) were arrived at by reference
to market evidence of transaction prices for similar properties
in the same locations and conditions. As at 31 March 2018,
completed investment properties at fair value of RMB247,120,000
(2017: Nil) were arrived at based on income approach, where
the average monthly rent of all lettable units of the properties
are assessed and discounted at the market yield expected by
investors for this type of properties. The average monthly rentals
are assessed by reference to a long term rental agreement
entered with a tenant for all lettable units of the properties. The
discount rate is determined by reference to the yields derived
from analysing the sales transactions of similar commercial
properties in a land and adjusted to take into account the market
expectation form property investors to reflect factors specific to
the Group's investment properties.

As at 31 March 2018 and 2017, investment properties under
construction with aggregate fair values of RMB1,728,000,000
(2017: RMB1,949,934,000) were arrived at based on the
residual approach, where the gross development values are
determined by reference to either (1) the monthly market
rentals of all lettable units of the properties and discounted
at the market yield expected by investors for this type of
properties; or (2) market evidence of transaction prices for
similar properties in the same locations and conditions.
The valuations have further taken into account the accrued
construction cost and professional fees relevant to the stage
of construction as at the valuation date, the remainder of the
cost and fees expected to be incurred for completing the
development and developer’s profit margin.

For the remaining investment properties under construction with
a fair value of RMB3,294,460,000 (2017: RMB2,679,460,000) as
at 31 March 2018, the management reviewed the nature of the
buildings and structures of the subject investment properties
and considered that no market sales comparables were readily
available. Therefore, the fair value was arrived at by reference to
the market value for the existing use of the land, plus the current
costs of construction, less deductions for physical deterioration
and all relevant forms of obsolescence and optimisation.

2017/20184F %k

RZZE—N\E=A=1+—RH0 B%Iz
WEYEZ R E AR 155,200,000
TT(ZE—+F : &) DR ERERME
FIGEHNBEEMEZTHER S ERME
- N-_BE—NF=A=1+—10 " 2%
T2HREYHE 2 AR 247,120,000 7T
ZE—LF  E)RRERRAEME
B Mz EWMERFTA AR B
TGRS RREERZ BN YE
TEHARY T 35 I a5 R AE R (A R Bh IR - F15
SRMESIHZEWEMEIHERE
M2 ERAR AT LN RABERHZ
BEHE c BRI ENE2EGHoM—RL
HHEEEEMENEERFEENK
HREBT  WKABRUGTRYELE
FEWTISEE UM EREBNKRE
MEMBRFERZE -

R-B-NFR_F—tF=A=+—
B @ nERAR1,728,000,0007T
—T—+F: AK¥1,949,934,000
TU) MERREMERFBEER M
RRAREBEDIE2ENZENENEH
AHERENNEAMSESE - WIAK
BEERZBRYENTEITIS O MK,
B QRRE R LA EE
ZMER5E®R - FRAGEDE-FE
BR{EE R 2R R AEA BT
ERARBEXER  RHRTHKERE
BRTEENESRKANRERARER
78 g A R M E B o

R-ZEBE-—NFE=A=+—8  H#&%
EEREYWEZRAABEAARE
3,294,460,0007C (ZZF—+tF : ARK
2,679,460,0007T) - ERECDEREH
WEMENEEYREBHESZ - IR
AEREMSGHEETUALEER - B
It ZARBETILELHWRERENT
B MEBREERERATRENEIER
NMETEHRBEE A HREE R B mESR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR Rk AT

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE—T—\F=A=1—HIFFE

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

17. REWE(E)

Details of the Group's investment properties and information RZZE—N\ERZE—+tF=A=+—H
about the fair value hierarchy as at 31 March 2018 and 2017 are REEBREMERD R BERERBF BN
as follows: T :

Fair value

as at

31 March

Level 3 2018

R=ZB-N\F

=A=+-—H

B=/& ZARE

RMB'000 RMB'000

AR®T AR®T

Commercial units located in the PRC NI 2 B B 5,348,580 5,348,580
Residential units located in the PRC URAFREZ EEEBM 76,200 76,200
5,424,780 5,424,780

Fair value

as at

31 March

Level 3 2017

RZE—+F

=A=+—H

B ZARE

RMB’000 RMB'000

AREF T AREFT

Commercial units located in the PRC RPBEZBREM 4,706,173 4,706,173
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2018

BE—T—/\F=A=1—HIFE

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
Recurring fair value measurement
The following tables give information about how the fair values

of these investment properties as at 31 March 2018 and 2017
are determined (in particular, the valuation techniques and

17. REYE(E)

KEHDNALEE

TRITARMAEEZSERENER_F
—NER_ZFE—tF=_A=t—HHAR
BEEHIZARANGETEREARE)

inputs used), as well as the fair value hierarchy into which WER - UERBEA AL EF2EHASIEN
the fair value measurements are categorised (Level 1 to 3) ABEEEHAREAEN AR ERER
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value AM(E—E=H) -
measurements is observable.
Relationship of
Fair value Significant significant unobservable
Property Fair value hierarchy Valuation technique unobservable inputs inputs to fair value
B ERELREY EEEYEYEN
H M RERREN HERE ED8 ¢ HEEMAELBE
2018 017
“E-)\F E1E
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR NEETR
Investment properties under 3,294,460 2619460 Level 3 Depreciated replacement costs  Market unit sale rate per square Asignificant increase in the market
construction located at Minhang £28 approach meter of the land, after taking info~~ unit sale rate would result ina
District, Shangha, the PRC EERY account usage Ife,the location and ~~ significant increase in fai value,

A LSRR ERRENR

,_
<o

1,728,000 1572000 Level Residual approach

i

Investment properties under
construction located at the south-
eastern side of the junction of Tten
Road and Zhongshan Road, Shahekou
District, Dalian City, Liaoning
Province, the PRC

iR EREAET)AERERA
PUERRFAA ARRENS

| |3
[
L

2017/20184F 3k

size factors, at RMB20,705 (2017:
RMB19,616) per square meter.
YRR LAMAENER
BEEGRES NERARRR
AEVARAREDI0T
(23—t ARE19167)

Monthly market rent at RMB114
(2017: RMB120) per square meter
for office use and RMB270 (2017:
RMB270) per square meter for retai
use; and

SAmAReg TR RN UL
(Z5-1%: \RE107)
M“EWKZ#HAF%Z7OE

Estimated cost to complete
amounted to approximately
RMBB67,067,000
(2017: RMB1,016,000,000)

NJMWAAE%BM 0670007
(23 \RE1 00007

Expected developer's proft margin
at 15% (2017: 15%)

SREEDENEAI
(=%-tF:15%)

andvice versa
W%ﬁﬁ%@ﬁﬁ%m%ﬁﬁ@ﬁ@
NEEN R

Asignificant increase in the monthly
market rent would result in a
significant increase In fair value,
and vice versa

EAMGREARENEENLAE
ABEN RZAA

Asignificant increase in the cost
to complte would result in a
sigificant decrease in far value,
andvice versa
[ERTAAR RN H‘J‘%@@\)AL@
RRAS * Rk

Aslight increase in the expected
profit would resutt n a significant
decrease in fair value, and vice
Versa

RRAHEN LSRG
RETE - R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 17. REWE(E)

Recurring fair value measurement (Continued) BEMDARETEE)

Relationship of
Fair value Significant significant unobservable
Property Fair value hierarchy Valuation technique unobservable inputs inputs to fair value
EREiREY ERERRE B0
ES M RAERREN  HERE L8 ¢ fBaNAEZBA
2018 017
“E-\F Z3-4F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBT 7 NRETT
Investment properties under - 93 Level 3 Residual approach Market unit sale rate at RMB21,046 A significant increase in the market
construction located at No4, £-R Mt per square meter after taking info~ unit sale rate would resultin &
Sanba Square, Zhongshan Distrct, account the location, size factors,  significant increase in fair value,
Dalian City, Liaoning Province, layout and floor; and andvice versa
the PRC frote) ETARARBN MoTTREL  MRELERAREMMENALE
gyl Ef EZRNE EEAZ REEN RZA
S N\BA ERRENE () ARRER: R
Asignificant increase in the cost

Estimated cost to complete to complste would result in a

amounted to RMB47,600,000. significant decrease in fai value,

[EATAEBAREIH0000T e andvice versa

RIRAARENRSHANE

Expected developers profitmargin -~ ABHY » R2MA

at15%.

HRARSEHERIG: Aslight increase in the expected
profit would result n a significant
decrease in fair value, and vice
versa

RERHEN LRETALE
RETE - R
Investment properties located 247,120 - Lewel3 Income approach Average monthly rent at RMB320 per A significant increase in the monthly
atNod, Sanba Square, =8 WAE square meter based on existing rent would result in a significant
Zhongshan District, Dalian City, rental contract after taking into increase In fair value, and vice versa
Liaoning Province, the PRC account the location, size factors, ~ BARSABENZEN AL E
iR EEEE g LE layout and floor. KRR R
SN\BRAT RENE RRRRRERY B2ENE
HERZ  FRREE 8ATY  Adight decrease in the market
ReRETHRARKINT - yield would resut n a signficant
increase in fair value, and vice versa
Market yield at 5% AR N R AL E
[ e KRN R
Commercial units located at the 11,750 11361 Level3 Market comparison method Market unit sale rate per square ~ Asignificant increase in the market

basement of Xianghe Commercial
Building, Guanxi Communtty,
Gaizhou County-level city,
Yingkou City, Lizoning province,
the PRC
fihEREE 2O TENERT
BEHEANESE BEEL

140

£=R TALRE

meter, after taking into account
the location, sze factors, layout
and floor, at average RVBS, 144
per square meter (2017: RMB3,040
per square meter).
SERATRENER HEENE
HERZ  FRREE 105
THARHS (- B~ !
BEARARE3 M0) -

unit sale rate would result n a
sigificant increase in far value,
and vice versa

THENERARENEEN LA
KBS R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 17. REWE(E)

REMEQAAETEE)

Recurring fair value measurement (Continued)

Relationship of
Fair value Significant significant unobservable

Property Fair value hierarchy Valuation technique unobservable inputs inputs to fair value

EZfiBR, EZRLRZ/EN

ES MM RAERREN  HERE L8 ¢ fBaNAEZBE
2018 2017
“E-N\F Z34F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARRTR  ARETR

Commercial units located 8,490 8,268 Level3 Market comparison method Market unit sale rate persquare ~ Asignificant increase in the market
at Jincan Garden, Xiong Yue Town, =R (DA meter, after taking into account unit sale rate would result n a
Yingkou City, Lizoning province, the location, sze factors, layout sigificant increase In far value,
the PRC and floor, at average RMBA,09%4 per  and vice versa

RPEFEE N4 RS square meter (017: RMB4 000 per - TSENERABENEENLAE
SRR BREL square meter). REEN R

l¥ﬁ# SENEE AZENE.
HERZ FRREE t-v!-ﬁ
W)\EWO%W “HE g
FIRARR4000T)

Commercial units located 24,070 BA0 Level3 Market comparison method Market unit sale rate persquare  Asignificant increase in the market
at Jinfeng Guesthouse, =8 DA meter, after taking into account the  unit sale rate would resultin &
Sanjiazi Community, location, size factors, layout and signficant increase in far value,
Bayuquan District floor, at average RMB1185T per ~ and vice versa
L\aomngﬂovmcetePRC square meter (2017: RMB11,923 per W%EMEW’F &y

IhEEELHARR=%T square meter. NeE &ZW‘
HEERER/ERED SYAAABUEE HZB0E .

HERE FRRER  SYK
TOAREN 517 (-2~
BEIRAREN S37)

Commercial units located at the middle 34,690 B0 Lewl3 Market comparison method Market unit sale rate persquare~ Asignificant increase in the market

of Kulun Street, Bayuquan District, £4 At meter, afte taking into account unit sale rate would resultin a

Liaoning province, the PRC
RtAREESeRERRAGTRY
BREN

2017/20184F 3k

the location, sze factors, layout
and floor, at average RMBG, 100 per
square meter (2017: RMBS,932 per
square meter).
l¥ﬁ+m%ihﬁf LERfIE
&Rz FRRER §TAR
W}‘\Emé 1007(Z 515 !
BERARES93T) -

s'\gniﬁcant increase in fair value,
and vice versa

W’IFEMEFM ENEERLLE
AR k2%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

17. REYE(E)

Recurring fair value measurement (Continued) BEMDARETEE)
Relationship of
Fair value Significant significant unobservable
Property Fair value hierarchy Valuation technique unobservable inputs inputs to fair value
ERERER, ERERRE B0
ES M RAERREN  HERE L8 ¢ fBaNAEZBA
2018 017
3-\F E4E
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBT 7 NRETT
Residential units located in 76,200 - Lewel3 Market comparison method Market unit sale rate persquare ~ Asignificant increase in the market
Shenzhen C\ty 528 [ meter, after taking into account the  unit sale rate would resultin &
Guangdong Province the PRC location, size factors, layout and significant increase in fair value,
W\WE?%% V[Pt floor, at average RMB4 000 per ~ and vice versa
square meter (2017: Nil. e EEARRIESRALE
E;:FHMEWE gl ABED RO
HERZ FRREE
3 a)\EmMOOOT
5,424,780 4706,173

Note: The investment properties under construction were completed
during the year ended 31 March 2018 and reclassified as completed

investment properties accordingly.

There was no transfer among the three levels of the fair value
hierarchy during the years ended 31 March 2018 and 2017.

ffet - ERRENMERBE_T—
HIEFERT  WHALEHHSERERIR

EEVEK
BE_Z—N\FR-_ZB—tF=H=1+—
HIFFER  ZE2RERBRR 2 HEIL
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B R M

For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

18. GOODWILL 18. E@2&
RMB'000
ARBTT
COST AND CARRYING VALUES R R AREE
At 1 April 2017 RZZE—tFHA—H 63,084
Addition arising from acquisition of subsidiaries (note 45)  EUXBEHTE A &) 1B (ff7145) 8,087
Derecognition upon disposal (note 45) HE BRI R (K aE45) (57,238)
At 31 March 2018 RZE—NF=H=+—H 13,933
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill have been BREEASRTE -  mELSRE=EER
allocated to three individual cash generating units (“CGUs"), ReELBM([REELAEMN])  BI1F—
comprising industrial equipment business, solar photovoltaic MIEREEL KGR AEAREBREH
business and financial services business. The carrying amounts R R=ZT—N\EF=A=+—8"
of goodwill (net of accumulated impairment losses) as at 31 BEZEME(NBREZTREEE) D EE
March 2018 allocated to these units are as follows: THEBAL
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT
Industrial equipment TERE - 57,238
Solar photovoltaic YNCEDIAN 5,846 5,846
Financial services % B AR 8,087 =
13,933 63,084
During the year ended 31 March 2018, management of the HE-_Z-N\F=ZA=+—HIEFE K
Group determines that there is no impairment of any of its EEEEERTCIANEREHENEESE
CGU'’s containing goodwill. BB ERE -
Sl

2017/20184F 3k 143
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

19. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES 19. EMHERINFIE
2018 2017
—E2-N\F S — - 4F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥T R ARETIT
Current portion of finance B & A& e WGR IR B B R

|lease receivables 11,434 210,888

Non-current portion of finance lease B & E R WGR IR FERN AR EE
receivables - 60,472
11,434 271,360

Minimum lease payments

Present value of
minimum lease payments

EERERE RERERERE
2018 2017 2018 2017
ZE-N\E S 2 ZE-N\E —T—tF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETT ARETR ARETT
(Note)
(Kt
Not later than one year —ER 11,434 228,505 11,434 210,888
Later than one year and not later than BB~ FEFRBRE
two years - 68,955 - 60,472
11,434 297,460 11,434 271,360
Less: unearned finance income B REREBYNE - (26,100) N/ATE A N/AT @R
Present value of minimum lease EEEWREZERE
payments receivable 11,434 271,360 11,434 271,360
Less: Current portion of finance lease  J§ : BA T ERUGUEN S
receivables (11,434) (210,888)
Non-current portion of finance BERERKTAFNES S
lease receivables - 60,472

Note: The carrying amount of RMB11,434,000 has been fully settled in April

2018.

Kt : BREEARY11,434000LER T —/\F
H %%(Zu/ﬁ ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

19. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 19. EHRERIWAIE(E)

As at 31 March 2018 and 2017, the finance lease receivables
are secured over the leased assets mainly by machineries and
equipment.

The Group is not permitted to sell or repledge the collateral
of finance lease receivables in the absence of default by the
lessee. Estimates of fair value of collateral are made during
the credit approval process, by reference to the original cost
and the carrying value of the lease assets at the inception of
finance leases. All the Group's finance lease receivables are
denominated in RMB, the functional currency of the relevant
group entity. The weighted average term of finance leases
entered into is 1.25 year (2017: 2.2 years) and all the leases
require repayment by instalments. In the event the lessee
breaches the lease contract, the Group has the right to use or
sell the assets leased and to call for full or partial repayment
of the outstanding balance of finance lease receivables. At
the end of the finance lease term, the lessee will be able to
purchase the leased assets at nominal price.

The interest rate inherent in the leases is fixed at the contract
date for the entire lease term. The average effective interest
rate is approximately 8.4% (2017: 8.4%) per annum.

Unguaranteed residual values of assets leased under finance
leases at 31 March 2018 and 31 March 2017 are nil.

As at 31 March 2017, financial lease receivables due from a
related company were RMB102,589,000. Details are set out in
note 49(d).

The finance lease receivables to a related party with expiry
date on 10 June 2019 has been early terminated as at 28 April
2017 and respective finance lease receivable has been settled
during the year.

2017/20184F %k

R_BE—NEER_F—+tF=ZA=1+—
B EHERKZIEEZUAKENE
HERHEEEE -

EABAREEONBERT - NEETA]
o Bk B R R B A TR B R W KR 2 3K 1
me BMBEHELEEZREXNARBERE
Mz EEEREERIARE S HIERD
ZARBEETHE AEBZHARER
ERBGRIEHUAAREE - ARKE A
BEEETRNEER  @MERE 2 NE
I A1.25F(ZFE—+4F : 229F) -
BFEHEASBEE - BAEAERA
4 AEEEREBRELEELAEE -
ERNASEEREREBRBOEERE
HERKRBZ REELH  RBERE
HiR  #AAGREERERBEERESR
go

MEEREHA - BEMRAA R BB
BEERE - THEBRERN KL 58.4%
ZE—LF :84%) °

RZZE-NEF=A=+—BRZZE—+F
“HA=+t—H mMEHEETELHEEE
ZARERFIHEEARE -

M-_EBE—+E=FA=+—H ARK
102,589,000 7T 2 @b & 16 & FE U 518 T fE
W — R A B 2 508 o FEEESI R M
49(d) °

BR-ZE-NFRATHIHRZER—%
B 2 MEHERKRECRER -F
—tFEA-TNBRI - ERFAE

=
/B °
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE—T—\F=A=1—HIFFE

20. CLUB MEMBERSHIP

21.

20. BFfE%E

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBETT

Balance at beginning of year FHERR 1,868 1,743
Exchange adjustment PE % 78 (167) 125
Balance at end of year FERGEH 1,701 1,868

The club membership with indefinite useful lives is stated at
cost less impairment loss and is tested for impairment annually
whenever there is an indication of impairment. The Directors
are of the opinion that no indication of impairment loss was
identified with reference to market value.

LOAN RECEIVABLES AND INTEREST
RECEIVABLES

21.

BERETERRFH 2 EMEHEARARE
MEBEZ7] - HRREFRESZEE
TTREANR EFLLEMERIA/ME
ERIER ©

FEW & 7 R U R 2

2018 2017
—E-NF —T—tF
RMB’000 RMB000

ARBTR ARETT

Loan receivables EWE R 106,955 784,004
Interest receivables FEUF 2, 339 104,827
107,294 888,831

The Group's loan receivables, which arise from the money
lending business of providing personal loans and corporate
loans in Hong Kong and the PRC, are denominated in either
Hong Kong dollars or RMB.

All loan receivables are secured by collaterals provided by
customers, bearing interest ranging from 8% to 18% (2017: 9%
to 18%) per annum and repayable with fixed terms agreed with
the customers. The maximum exposure to credit risk at each of
the reporting dates is the carrying value of the loan receivables
and interest receivables mentioned above.

AEBZ BRERBNESL R EREHE
ANERERARERZMEEBMELE - WA
BLERARKEREKEN -

Fi A U E F AR PR A K 1R @ 1E A K
BN F8UE18%(ZE—+F : 9%
18%) FFIEFT B W AN BEFZ TR ET
HIRAERE - NSRS HBEERNREA
EER R A £ ATl U E Z % IR B
RIBREE o
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

21. LOAN RECEIVABLES AND INTEREST
RECEIVABLES (Continued)

No loan receivables and interest receivables were past
due but not impaired at 31 March 2018. As at 31 March
2017, loan receivables and interest receivables amounting
to RMB344,827,000 were past due but not impaired. The
Directors were of the opinion that no provision for impairment
is necessary for these balances as all loan receivables and
interest receivables have been subsequently settled.

The aging analysis of these past due but not impaired loan
receivables and interest receivables is as follows:

21.

W ER R EWRE (E)

M-ZE-—NE=A=+—0 BERKE
REERFESEBHBRRE - RZ2F
—+F=ZA=1+—8  BREXKERKRF
B ARY344,827,0007C 2 B HB R FIE ©
EEREARERKEREERFEE
NEBES  WEARZEEHRIELRE
B o

BHERBRERKEREEEH S 2 R
DT -

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARBETT

0 - 30 days 0£30H - 240,000
31 -90 days 31290H - 26,550
91 - 180 days 912180H - 26,550
Over 180 days 180H LA E - 51,727

- 344,827

As at 31 March 2017, loan receivables and interest receivables
amounting to RMB260,340,000 were due from related
companies. Details are set out in note 49(f).

2017/20184F %k

R-ZZTE—+E=A=+—H0  AR¥
260,340,0007T 2 FE W E 3 % FE W A BT e
URRARE A R 2 FUE - sHIB SR FE49(D) -
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE—T—\F=A=1—HIFFE

22. DEPOSITS FOR PURCHASES OF
MACHINERIES AND AN INVESTMENT
PROPERTY

As at 31 March 2018, the carrying amount of deposits for
purchases of machineries and equipment includes:

(@) Deposits totaling of RMB20,447,000 for purchases of the
machineries and other equipment, which will be used in
its printing business in the PRC; and

(b) Deposits totaling of RMB133,000,000 for purchases of
several production lines and the relevant equipment,
which will be used in its manufacturing of solar
photovoltaic business.

As of the date of the consolidated financial statements
authorized for issue, the above mentioned machineries and
equipment are transferred to the Group and the deposits are
recognised as part of the cost of the respective property, plant
and equipment.

As at 31 March 2017, the amount mainly represented a deposit

paid for acquisition of an investment property located at
Yingkou, the PRC.

23. DEPOSITS FOR ACQUISITIONS

BEKRIE -—BREVNRZR

S7

R-ZE-NF=A=+—H BEKSFX
Rz FEERR

(a) HERSKEMIEBEZESARE
20,447,000 7T + #& A 5 A B ED R 3
% &

b) BEETEEGRARZGHEzES
AR ¥133,000,0007¢ -+ # AR &
KIZRESIREKTS

AR ﬁﬁﬁi&%%ﬁﬁé%’*ﬁZEﬁﬁ it
WERERBIERTASE  BERERSE
%ﬁ%é %*HE@%% 55 B Rt 2 AR BD

oy

ti

RZZE—+F=R=+—H SEFER
B -BAMRTPEEOZREME LD
NizE -

23. WErE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTFR ARETT

Deposits for acquiring: WA TNSIE 2&E ¢
Wuxi Real Estate Development Group Co., EHHEMERZEEEGR A

Ltd (“Wuxi Real Estate”) (MEHTEHE]) - 500,000
Wuxi Huiling Real Estate Co., Ltd., EHEEEXFRANT]

Wuxi Huiyuan Real Estate Co., Ltd., and BT REEEBR A A KL

Wuxi Huize Real Estate Co., Ltd. BHRZEEXARRAA

(the “Target Companies”) (regxrall) 564,000 -

564,000 500,000
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

23. DEPOSITS FOR ACQUISITIONS (Continued) 23. gk e (&)

Note:

On 2 March 2017, the Group entered into a non-legal binding letter
of intention with an independent third party that the Group agreed
conditionally to acquire 81% of the equity interest in Wuxi Real Estate,

which is a limited liability company established in the PRC, for a total 81% 2 f&#E - BRET LK ARK1,000,000,000
consideration of not less than RMB1,000,000,000. Wuxi Real Estate is an o MEMEMER—HREERAR - REHE

investment holding company who held certain equity interests in Wuxi BEXARARF EHTEREBEXARDAREH
Huiling Real Estate Co., Ltd., Wuxi Huiyuan Real Estate Co., Ltd., and Wuxi
Huize Real Estate Co., Ltd.. The Target Companies are principally engaged

et -

in property development and owns various residential development B

projects in Wuxi, the PRC.

As at 31 March 2017, the Group had paid a refundable deposit of
RMB500,000,000 for the potential acquisition. The acquisition was
subsequently terminated during the year ended 31 March 2018 as certain
restructuring of the Target Companies had been carried out by Wuxi Real

Estate and the deposit was fully refunded to the Group accordingly. EAREARRE TAKE -

On 6 March 2018, the Group entered into three agreements with
independent third parties to acquire: (1) the entire equity interests in Wuxi =t NEKBNESLEBREXRERARZHK
Huiling Real Estate Co., Ltd.; (2) entire equity interests in Wuxi Huiyuan
Real Estate Co., Ltd.; and (3) 55% equity interests in Wuxi Huize Real
Estate Co., Ltd. The total consideration for the acquisition is amounting
to RMB1,883,740,000. The transactions are made through Wuxi Equity

Exchange Co., Ltd (“Wuxi Equity Exchange”) which is a public service B AR B )HEAT ©
platform for acquiring equity of state-owned enterprise.

As at 31 March 2018, the Group has paid aggregate refundable deposit
of RMB564,000,000 to a bank account designated by Wuxi Equity
Exchange for these acquisitions. As of the date of the consolidated

financial statements authorised for issue, the precedent conditions for the T2 TREZER D ZFREHEEREK o
completion of these transactions have not yet been fulfilled.

In the opinion of the Directors, the above acquisition will be considered as
acquisition of assets through acquisition of subsidiaries which is within the
normal operating cycle of the Group. Therefore, the deposits are classified

R-F—tF=A—RH AKEE-BBEIFE=]
RIVEERNRNBRE  AEEAGEREWE
EEMEHE(—RRPEEMKRIZERAR)

BEEXARATTHAETEE - BREAREER
REYEMAE  IRTREHEEZETEHREA

RIZE—tF=A=+—0 AEEERBELE
X AR #500,000,0007C 7] TR ER S R ES
TEMEHBBERARETE TEA - HUIREEER
BE_Z—)\F=ZA=+—HLEFERL mRE

RZF-\F=ZAKRB  AEEERBIFE=777L

B QESTEREXERARZIRE : RQ)E
BEZBEXARATISSRKE  WHEARBAAR
#£1,883,740,0007C - ZER S IERBEHERRZ S
FIERAR([EBERIZF]) (ARERARE

RIZZE-NF=A=+—0 ASEERZSKE
FEHERR HMIEE ZRITHRP XN TRER
& AR#564,000,0007C ° RERA BT TS Mz ER T

BEERA - DRERREAEBKRENERRR
BEE  DRAKEESELRANET - Bt -
REZZB-N\F=ZRA=+—H B2DHOERRDE

as current assets as at 31 March 2018. E e
s
24. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS 24. AIMEHERE
Available-for-sale investments comprise: A ERE R
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+tF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETIT
Listed bond investments, at fair value FHEHERE(ZARER)
(note a) (Kizta) 70,741 91,854
Unlisted fund investment, at fair value EFTHESHEEEAAER)
(note b) (Ki#Eb) - 140,382
Total st 232,236
g
2017/2018%F 2
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

24. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS
(Continued)

Notes:

(a) The effective interest rate of these listed bond investments is
ranging from 7.9% to 13.9% per annum (2017: ranging from 3.9% to
13.1% per annum). The basis of fair value measurement is based on
the reference prices provided by counterparty financial institutions.
The fair value is measured at Level 2 fair value measurement (as

defined in note 44(c)).

(b) The amount as at 31 March 2017 represented the Group's
subscribed shares of China Huacai Finance Equity Investment
Fund SP (“China Huacai”), a private investment fund incorporated
in the Cayman Islands and managed by a financial institution
listed on the Stock Exchange. The investment objective of China
Huacai is to achieve capital appreciation through investing in
funds, securities, bonds, ownership interest and private equity
investments offered publicly or privately and in relation to energy
and environmental protection. The major underlying assets of
China Huacai is a prepayment for acquisition of power stations from
Hareon Solar Technology Co., Limited (“Hareon Solar”) amounted

to US$58,051,000 (equivalent to RMB401,692,000).

As at 31 March 2018, the net assets of China Huacai attributable to
the Group represents approximately 33% (2017: 33%) of the total net
asset value of China Huacai. Pursuant to the offering memorandum
of China Huacai, the Directors considered that the Group has
no significant influence over China Huacai because the shares
subscribed by the Group do not confer the right to the Group to
appoint either directors or investment manager of the fund.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, Hareon Solar is unable
to transfer the power stations to China Huacai or refund the
prepayment in accordance to the investment agreement. In
view of this, the Directors considered that the fair value of the
AFS investments in the unlisted fund investment is significantly
decreased and the fair value loss of RMB133,877,000 is recognised in
investment revaluation reserve subject to impairment consideration.

As at 31 March 2018, the Directors reviewed the financial position
of Hareon Solar and determined to provide a full impairment of
RMB133,877,000 in respect of its investment in China Huacai. As a
result, the cumulative fair value loss previously recognised in the
investment revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss.

Further on 28 April 2018, Hareon Solar published its annual report
for the year ended 31 December 2017, for which a disclaimer of
opinion is issued by the statutory auditor. As disclosed in the annual
report of Hareon Solar, Hareon Solar’s current liabilities exceeded
its current assets by approximately RMB1,529,855,000 and incurred
a net loss of approximately RMB4,477,199,000 for the year ended
31 December 2017. The listing status of Hareon Solar has also been
suspended by the Shanghai Stock Exchange since 29 May 2018.

The fair value of the unlisted fund investment is measured at Level 3

fair value measurement.

24, AIHHERE(E)

At -

ZELTEFREZERFMENT7.9%
Z139%(ZF—LF : FRENFII%E
13.1%) - AR EFENEFH S BB IRE
BRIELERER - ARENRE-RDA
BFtE2HE(ERRMF44(0)FTE ©

R-ZE—+tF=ZA=1+—RHZ2ERERLE
EERETEEVoRREREES ([FH
EH ] —ERRESHESFMK T H—H
R EMZeRMEEETRIAEREE
&) PEENZREBZAEBIRENRE
BRBRRAENAESIALEES BFFH &
% - AR RFLARERE BT G AN
B PEEHR 2z EFBHEEERREBEXRK
BERMER AR (BRI EmR
2 FE KB 58,051,000% T (HER AR
401,692,0007T) °

R-ZB-NF=ZA=+—R  AEEEET
BEMEEFBEETRENREERFEN
3B%(ZF—+F : 33%) - RIBPEEH 2
BERR BERA mRAEERBZR
DAETFAREETTESESARELEZ
BA BASEHTRER T REAZE

REBEE-_T—NF=ZA=1+—BLEE &
BiRERS  SEARELISERERTF
BEM SR BREMNKIE - BERNY - EFR
B ELTMESKREFRAIEBEREZAR
BEARE T - A EEEARK133,877,000
TR BB HHFERER - EEFELDR
BEE -

RZF—N\F=A=+—H E=R1E8H
HRZ AR - WRERERFRHE 2
REEHIREREAR133,877,0007T  H
bt ZAIRREBGHRENERZ R AR
BEEBEENHEEES -

AN R=T—NFEA=+/\B ' &B8X
RKAEBEE=_T—tF+=-A=+—A1Lt
FEZFR  ERHAEZEREAME L AR
BER - WS BARZERAEE - =
—E—+HF+-_A=t+—HIEE " BH
KR ABDAEBRERPHEENARY
1,529,855,0007T * I E A EHEFELOARK
4,477,199,0007C ° BN Kz Emfz IR E
T N\FRAZTNARBELEELFR S
FrEifz -

HEFESRET ARBIEAAEHES
=REHE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

25. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

25. REtE N B 2 fEm

2018 2017

—E-N\F S — - 4F

RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARET T ARET T

Cost of investments in associates &ﬁ RN ) N 35,615 111,753
Share of post-acquisition profits DU EE 1R 5 F 10,258 9,206
Total 5t 45,873 120,959
Amount due to an associate (note) FEA—FRBE A R A (B aE) - (21,372)

Note: The amount as at 31 March 2017 was unsecured, non-interest
bearing and repayable on demand.

2017/20184F 3k

FifzE

RZFB—tF=ZA=+—H  Z2@LEE
Eiiil ]IT*Jr@&ETEE

e -

151



152

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR Rk AT

For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

25. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Details of each of the Group's associates at the end of the

reporting period are as follows:

25. M N R) 2w (4E)

REH

n
&

- YNCI)iS

NREBRZFBWT

Principal Proportion of Proportion of
Country of place of ownership interest voting rights held
Name of entity establishment  business held by the Group by the Group Principal activity
L1240 RUFEER  TEEXLY AREFERERER 2 ANl AREFERAECEAY  TERE
2018 2017 2018 217
“B-N\E Z2-tf “E-N\f IRt
Liaoning Yinzhu Chemtex Group PRC PRC - 49% - 49% Engaged in manufacturing and
Co., Ltd ("Lizoning Yinzhu") HE trading of nylon textile fibers
(Note a) in the PRC
RESRIGERRRAA ERERERRI ARG BE
(R85 (Hia) k&5
Liaoning BF Exchange Financial PRC PRC 20% 20% 20% 20% Engaged in the transaction
Assets Exchange Co., Limited # H of wealth products, bond
BRI HLREERBRLER products, entrustment credit
A right products and logistics
finance products in Liaoning,
the PRC
e Iﬁmﬁgﬁﬁﬁﬁuﬂu :
ErEm  RtEAEERR
MieREED LIRS
Hareon New Materials PRC PRC - 49% - 49% Engaged in research and
Technology Development HE development, manufacturing
(Liaoning) Ltd. modified polymer composite
("Hareon New Materials") materials, automatically control
(Note b) products, environmentally
SEFNH(EE)ERAA engineering, energy products,
(g EsR) (i) export and import trade
ERERE  HERHE
BattH - BEHER
RRIE  #REDR
tings
Candice Group Limited The Cayman ~ PRC 29% N/A 29% N/A " Engage in logistic and trading
("Candice Group”) (Note ¢) Islands H ah TER o electronic products and

FEMRERARAA REES
(FEERBEE ) (Hitc)

devices
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B R M

For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

25. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group has disposed
of its entire equity interest in Liaoning Yinzhu at a consideration
of RMB75,000,000. The share of profits from Liaoning Yinzhu
from 1 April 2017 to 30 September 2017 of RMB717,000 and
gain on disposal of RMB842,000 are recognised in profit or loss,
respectively. The consideration from the disposal of Liaoning Yinzhu
of RMB75,000,000 is settled against the amount due to immediate
holding company upon completion (Note 53).

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group has disposed of
the entire equity interest in Hareon New Materials at a consideration
of RMB23,753,000 to a third party. Gain on disposal of RMB1,769,000
is recognised in profit or loss and the interest in associate of
RMB21,984,000 is derecognised accordingly.

On 28 September 2017, the Group and Gather Take Development
Limited (collectively known as the “Vendors”) and On Win
Corporation Limited (the “Purchaser” or “On Win") entered into
a sale and purchase agreement, pursuant to which the Group has
agreed to sell the aggregate 10.40% equity interests in Candice
Group, a subsidiary of the Company, for an aggregate cash
consideration of HK$4,278,000 (equivalent to RMB3,656,800). In the
meantime, Candice Group also entered into certain subscription
agreements with On Win, Mr. Ng Yuk Ping and Evergrace Fund
Limited (collectively as the “Subscribers”), pursuant to which
Candice Group has agreed to issue and allot to the Subscribers
a total of 40,000 subscription shares at a subscription price of
HK$411.39 per share.

Upon completion of the above transactions on 31 October 2017,
the Group's shareholding in Candice Group is reduced from 51.0%
to 29.0% and Candice Group ceased to be a subsidiary of the
Company. Candice Group is recognised as an associate of the
Company thereafter. Accordingly, Candice Group financial results,
assets, liabilities and cash flows will no longer be consolidated into
the Group's consolidated financial statements from that date.

The Group has recognised an initial fair value of RMB17,615,000 in
respect of the 29% retained interest in Candice Group.

2017/20184F 3k
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REBEE-_T-—NF=ZA=1t—BLEE &
£ B AR B A R#75,000,0007T H & H R E
ERHFEE2EHBRE - BT —LFW
A—BRE-ZZ—tFhLA=1TAHLEDHE
BB HEF B ARE717,0007T © AR
i & Uk 25 A R#842,0007T 2 Bl A 18 25 M FE
R o HEEERKANREARHT5,000,000
TORA FERK 18 B FE 5 B B PR IR A R SR IE K 88
(H$3E53) °

REBEEZE-_Z—N\F=ZA=Z=+—HLFE
AEBUREARKE23,753,0007C H & EHR
EEFME PR ZEMRETF —BE=
7o Bt - HEWaE ARE1,769,000T 1
BEAER BERBEQRZESARE
21,984,0007C B 4R IEFER ©

R-E—+FhA-+/N\B  AEBERESE
BRARAG(FHiE[EH ] BERFRAR
(TEF I ERDFTVEE R « it - &
SERZ AR SR EHE7E4,278,0007 7T (16
BN AR3,656,8007T) H & AR T — R
BAREEZEREEESE H10.40% 4% - [
B EEREEETRER  REFEER
BERESHBRAT(GE READTIET
REHE - Bt EERREEREIRRE
BEER411.39BTRREARITREES K
40,000 REERLD ©

RGN =T —tF+A=+—HEK
% AEBREERNHREEZHERER
51.0% 8P E29.0% 0 BEZERBEBRH
BARNRZHBAR - EEREEBHILE
HRBARNRZEERT o B - EERL
SECVBEE  BE ABERBRSRER
A% BRTHBEAFARNEEBZREVER
i °

AEBERREZREEEP A 2RE#E
229% M HHER A f B AREE17,615,0007T °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR Rk AT

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE—T—\F=A=1—HIFFE

25. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Summarised financial information of a material

associate

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group's material
associate is set out below. The summarised financial information
below represents amounts shown in the associate’s financial

information prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.

All associates are accounted for using the equity method in these
consolidated financial statements.

25. A

pon
ey

DAz (E)

FEBEQNTA 2 MBENEE

AEBET2HERT ZHBERB2ET
T e THMBERRRIEME QARIRE
B BHRERNRRMHEENARNEE

EEHRAMBHET  MAKE AR
RREREAR

Liaoning Yinzhu R
As at
year ended
31 March
2017
H=E
—T—tF
=A=+—H
HFE
RMB'000
ARET T
Current assets mBEE 764,732
Non-current assets EREBEE 186,558
Current liabilities mBEE (774,310)
From 1 April
2017 to Year ended
30 September 31 March
2017 2017
BT —+F BHZE
WMA—HEZE —E—tF
—F—+F =ZA=1+—H
hA=+B8I1t EFE
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFIT ARBFIT
Revenue oE 0] 162,179 280,817
Profit for the period/year A, F R A 1,463 6,939
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

25. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

25.

REE NR 2w (E)

2017/20184F %k

Summarised financial information of a material
associate (Continued)

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information to the
carrying amount of the interest in Liaoning Yinzhu recognised
in the consolidated financial statements:

TEBENRAZHBERMEE)

BRI R EAR A M ISR ARERNE

ERRZEREEEZHRNT

As at As at

31 March 31 March

2018 2017

R-ZE-NF RZZT—tF

=Z=A=+t—B =A=+—H

RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR¥T R ARETTT

Net assets of Liaoning Yinzhu FEERKZEEFE - 176,980
Less: Assets of Liaoning Yinzhu not W EERKEE S (L2

entitled to share BE - (27,100)

- 149,880
Proportion of the Group’s ownership RNEFBNWEZRKEFAD

interest in Liaoning Yinzhu B RERESS L 15 - 49%
Carrying amount of the Group's interest  #R A B EIRER A AN £ B R

in Liaoning Yinzhu in the consolidated BEERIRAFHERZ
financial statements REE - 73,441

Aggregated information of associates that are not
individually material

TEBEXERNBHE AR ZGEER

2018 2017

—E-N\F —T—+tF

RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARBFIT

The Group's share of profits RNEE D15 % T 2,724 2,893
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s ZN& B 5 1t B & A BRI FT#F

interests in these associates et 2 HBAREE 45,873 47,518

155



156

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR Rk AT

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE—T—\F=A=1—HIFFE

26. PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE 26. FIEHERNE
2018 2017
—EBE-N\F —E—tF
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARBETT

Completed properties held for sale BIEREMER TS 507,899 661,381

Properties under development for sale BREPEEYE 1,927,267 408,113
Leasehold land held for development FIEERNFEHEE LTI

for sale - 51,000

2,435,166 1,120,494

Properties to be realised after one year B —F1B B 2 51,000 51,000

All of the above properties held for sale are to be sold as
part of the normal operating cycle of the Group thus they are
classified as current assets.

As at 31 March 2018, all of the above land and properties are
situated in the PRC under long-term leases.

Properties held for sale with a total carrying amount of
RMB2,217,457,000 (2017: RMB1,120,494,000) have been
pledged to secure bill payables and borrowings of the Group
(note 48).

B A R B RO P S B B — 1
EHAMALE - Bl - HEHRARD
a7

W=E—N\F=A=+—H  FiA Lt
st BT B R AR B AR A0 A ¢

HELENMEZEEREAARYE
2217457000 (ZF —+5F - AR
1,120,494,0007T) * EEBA%LE Z B
SR RZERZER(FizE48) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

27. INVENTORIES 27. 78
2018 2017
—E2-N\F —E—+F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
Raw materials R 67,681 125,272
Work in progress ERG 23,040 34,155
Finished goods B2UA% oh 231,078 232,339
321,799 391,766

Inventories with the carrying amount of RMB40,513,000 (2017:
RMB27,830,000) had been pledged to secure bill payables and

borrowings of the Group (note 48).

28. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, AND

BREE A A R¥40,513,000 (2 —+
& AR#27,830,0007T) N FEE B EAZ
Z I (HI5E48) ©

KB Z BENRERMER

28. EFRHMBUREBER BT

PREPAYMENTS 8
2018 2017
—E-NF —T—tF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T
Trade receivables B 5 i IE 184,617 414,412
Allowance for doubtful debts RERBHE (2,993) (2,452)
181,624 411,960
Bill receivables (note a) FEUWNEZIE (Hfita) 210,725 119,775
Deposits and other receivables (note b) e REMEWRGRIE (M Eb) 140,021 112,878
Prepayments (note c) TRt sRIE (Hatc) 346,511 293,849
878,881 938,462

7=
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28. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, AND

PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

The Group allows credit term to selected customers on a case-
by-case basis depending on the business relationship with and
creditworthiness of the respective customers.

Before accepting any new customer, the management would
assess the potential customer’s credit quality and defines
credit limits by customer. Limits attributed to customers are
reviewed from time to time. Allowances for doubtful debts are
recognised against trade receivables at 31 March 2018 and
2017 based on estimated recoverable amount determined by
reference to past default experience of the counterparty and
an analysis of the counterparty’s current financial position.

Trade receivables that were neither past due nor impaired
relate to customers for whom there was no recent history of
default.

The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables
presented based on the invoice date which approximates
the respective revenue recognition date, at the end of the
reporting period.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
by e B

For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

H b B WL 50 E KR TR K

577
E
CIE(, fé"

AEEZERBERLAETFRETFPNERS
BEMEEEE  RAREEPREEES -

REMERFELR - BEESHHERE
EPMEEER  URBEEFPHEEEFEER
B BEMNEERBETE TR - R
RREDREBEEZEYFER T —N\F
M—ZE—+F=A=+—HZETKE
THRMER  MAREDERIESRYEF
TEBEROTEAREEFHREME
ARRFTEDHTMESE

BEARBE TR AR (E 2 B 5 e YRR BT H
WHERENELNEFEGR -

AT RERERR - REREAH(HEE L
RAER B HEE) 270 E 5 BN IRRE
DA

2018 2017
—B-N\F —T—+tF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARETT
Trade receivables B 5 RWKIA
0 - 30 days 0&30H 95,097 172,704
- 90 days 31£90H 50,251 58,073
91 - 180 days 91£180H 26,194 155,490
Over 180 days* HBim1808* 10,082 25,693
181,624 411,960
i The carrying amount as at 31 March 2017 included trade receivables * RZBE—tF=A=+—HZEEERS

amounting to RMB16,237,000 which is related to retention monies
receivable from customers due for payment in one year after the
invoice date.

FRENERAHMR - FARBNERE
FZRESEBNBESBURBEARK
16,237,0007T °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

28. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, AND
PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

The Group did not hold any collateral over these balances.

In determining the recoverability of trade receivable, the
Group considers any change in the credit quality of the trade
receivable from the date credit was initially granted up to the
end of the reporting period. The concentration of credit risk is
set out in note 44(b).

Ageing of trade receivables which are past due but not

28.

BEZREMBWRBERESK
H (&)

R BRI F BRI B TR -

RETEE 5 RUKFIAN AT E R - R&E
EZENEENEROBEHEEREHR
BHREFBEEEERZENED - 58
SRR E R E44(b) ©

BHERRIEZ B 5 E W IE RS 217 10

impaired: N
2018 2017
—EB-N\F —E—tF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT

Overdue by: g Hp

0 - 30 days 0£30H 4,649 1,884
31 -90 days 31£290H 4,640 1,475
91 — 180 days 91£2180H 902 4,911
Over 180 days HBiB180H 812 10,344
11,003 18,614

Trade receivables which are past due but not impaired related
to customers that had good track records with the Group. It
has not been a significant change in the credit quality and the
balances were still considered fully recoverable.

2017/20184F %k

BHERBENE S EWFIRERER R
RREEHELENTFAR - FEERY
ARBEEBEZ(  BRDARE/ATTE
Yem -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
by e B

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE—T—\F=A=1—HIFFE

28. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, AND 28. ES R EMEWFTEREAMNR
PREPAYMENTS (Continued) H(4E)
Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts: RIRBEZEFWOT
2018 2017
—EBE-NF —E—tF
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARBETT

Balance at beginning of the year FHERR 2,452 825
Provision during the year FRB 695 1,589
Foreign exchange adjustment PE % 78 (154) 38
Balance at end of year FERES 2,993 2,452
At 31 March 2018, the Group's trade receivables of RMB2,993,000 RZE—NF=A=+—H ~x&EEE
(2017: RMB2,452,000) were individually determined to be S EMGRIAE AR ¥2,993,0000 (= F—+
impaired. The individually impaired receivables related to F : AR¥2,452,0007T) B BRI EE A H
customers that were default in payments and management BRE o B8RRI E 2 FE WK IE B R A
assessed that the receivables are not expected to be recovered. R2BEFPEHR BRENEZZRKFIE
Consequently, specific allowance for doubtful debts of RTEERAIYE o F b B R T R AR
RMB2,993,000 (2017: RMB2,452,000) was recognised. The Group BAR2993,000t(ZF—+F : AR
does not hold any collateral over these balances. #£2,452,0007T) ° 75 B3 fE g UL S A AR

FAEMERR o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B R M

For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

28. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, AND
PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

The following is an ageing analysis of bill receivables presented
based on the invoice date which approximates the respective

28.

B2 K HAMmEWRFIERBANRK

i

5(%&)

(@) UTERESREPR REFAH(EZ
XERABAYEE) 2TINRUZERE D

.
=

revenue recognition date, at the end of the reporting period. #r e
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARETT
Bill receivables i e
0 - 30 days 0&30H 46,790 47,087
31 - 90 days 31290H 70,615 51,583
91 - 180 days 91£180H 93,320 21,105
210,725 119,775
As at 31 March 2018, bill receivables with a total carrying amount of RZF-N\F=A=+—H BEEHER

RMB4,273,000 (2017: RMB90,696,000) have been pledged to secure
bill payables and borrowings of the Group (note 48).

Transfer of financial assets

As at 31 March 2018, the carrying value of bill receivables include
discounted bills with full recourse amounting to RMB25,929,000
and bills endorsed to suppliers on a full recourse basis that are
not yet due amounting to RMB176,255,000. As the Group has not
transferred the significant risks and rewards relating to these bills
receivables, it continues to recognise the full carrying amount of the
bills receivables as assets in the consolidated financial statements.
The associated borrowings and trade and other payables are
secured over the discounted bills and endorsed bill receivables
which were not yet due at the end of the reporting period are
recognised as current liabilities in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

At 31 March 2018

AR¥4,273,0007c (=2 —+F : AR
90,696,0007T) K B R B EERARKE 2
IR R f& SR Z R (BT sE48) o

HBLMEE

RZZE—NE=ZA=+—8 BEEEZ
EEERENSE2EEAREZERRER
AR¥25929000c R 2HEBREY
EEETHEFEMAIBZZRARE
176,255,0007C ° BARZANE B M R EB A %
SRWEREARREER  MEEER
BREVBREPEIABKZEZEHEERE
BEE - - BEBRRES KA MEMNFKIET
AEMIRERRMHER  MRHREBHREA
FHZEEERRZEREETBRREAN
HRAEREEE -

R_ZE-N\F=HA=+—H

Bill receivables

Discounted endorsed

bills with to suppliers
full recourse  with full recourse Total

MEEMEREZ

ME2HERE2 CEETHERZ
EHRER ERER @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AR%T R AR¥TF T AR®T T
Carrying amount of transferred assets EREEREE 25,929 168,410 194,339
Carrying amount of associated liabilities HEaEZEmE (25,929) (168,410) (194,339)
Net position AR - - -

g
2017/20185F 3k
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR Rk AT

For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

28. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, AND 28.

PREPAYMENTS (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(b) Detailed analysis for deposits and other receivables is as follows:

S|

=+

il

i

8 (%)

Fizz - ()

5 3 HL At B WK TR B TR AT R

b) RERHEMEEFURZH@ANOT

2018 2017

—E-N\F —T—+F

RMB'000 RMB’000

AR%T AR®ET T

Other taxes receivables H b fE U B TR 17,408 31,697
Others (note) Hit (M) 122,613 81,181
140,021 112,878

Note: The amount mainly represented deposits to subcontractor
for property development projects for sales, rental deposits
received and receivables from sundry debtors.

K- FHRSBEEIRRNSBERHHEED
EHRBAXMNNEE  CWHEER
& M BCREIRETS AR -

(c) Detailed analysis for prepayments is as follow: (© SN A= Ly i
2018 2017
—2-N\F —FtF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARETT
Prepayment to suppliers, in respect of: [ ER X NEVFERFIE - AR -
- solar photovoltaic business supplies — KGR KEE A M 15,255 105,174
— Printing — ENJRI 22,627 8,517
- oil by-products —AREES 63,670 130,152
— electronic products —BFfEM - 23,680
— others —Hih 4,959 3,150
Prepayments to subcontractors for B EHEMEIHHBEN
property held for sale (note) SN 240,000 23,176
346,511 293,849
Note: On 29 March 2018, the Group has entered into an equity Kt R=ZT—N\FE=A=+NA AEED8E

transfer agreement with a third party (the “Purchaser”),
pursuant to which the Group has agreed to transfer the
entire equity interest in Yingkou Kunlun Real Estate Company
Limited (“Yingkou Kunlun Real Estate”) to Purchaser at R#240,000,0007T - HER=-Z—\F=A
a consideration of RMB240,000,000. The disposal was “t+hhHETK - ARBEANABRER ZHE
completed on 29 March 2018. As the Purchaser is also a B ZREEEAERES X NMRTEZIE -
subcontractor of the Group, the consideration is deemed as a PAE 5 R R R Z5 B E R BN AR -
prepayment to the Purchaser to set off against the equivalent

value of future construction cost payables.

=H(TE7 DI REE RS - Bt &
SEREEERLORREHERRAR( &
OEREHEDEZHEETEL  KE/SA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBmRME

For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

29.

30.

HELD FOR TRADING INVESTMENTS 29. FFEEZRE
2018 2017
—B-N\F —E—+F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARETTT
Held for trading investments include: BIEEEZIREBIE
Listed equity securities listed in BFE LT FTRAES
Hong Kong, at fair value (note a) (B rER) (Kita) 20,903 37,822
Listed equity fund investments, FHREESKRE
at fair value (note b) (FRRAnEsT) (Kfab) 80,319 44,909
101,222 82,731
Notes: Bifat -
(a)  The basis of fair value measurement is quoted price of equity (@) AREFEZEER/NBR EHZRER

interest listed on the Stock Exchange. The fair value of the held for
trading investments is Level 1 fair value measurement based on the
quoted price from the Stock Exchange (note 44(c)).

(b) The basis of fair value measurement is based on the reference
prices provided by counterparty financial institutions. The fair value
is measured at Level 2 fair value measurement (as defined in note
44(c)).

BANK BALANCES AND CASH/PLEDGED
BANK DEPOSITS

As at 31 March 2018, bank balances comprised of time
deposits with maturity less than three months and carry fixed
interest rate of 0.3% to 1.4% (2017: 1.5% to 3.9%) per annum.
The remaining bank balances carry interest at prevailing
market rates which range from 0% to 2.5% (2017: 0% to 1.7%)
per annum.

Pledged bank deposits represent deposits pledged to banks
to secure bill payables and borrowings to the Group. The
deposits are carrying fixed interest rate range from 1.9%
to 2.2% (2017: 0.7% to 2.0%) per annum. The pledged bank
deposits will be released upon the repayment of relevant bill
payables and borrowings.

2017/20184F %k

30.

B - BIEEBZRENDAAERAE—RA
REFEFERBBHIZ REE o (K
wT44(c))

b) 2AAEHEZEEDREHTHESEBER
HO2ZER - ARNERAE_RAAE
BIECEE RIMFE44()FE »

RTRBRAS RTERE

TA

R-ZE—NF=ZA=1+—8,BTE&4£
BER=EARNEHRIZ03%E14%(ZF
—tF  1.5%E3.9%) B EFHEF L Z
FEHTFSR o BTN IRITEBRIEN T0%ZE2.5%
T F  0%E1.7%)NIRITHISHE
FIREFE -

RITETE R I B A R 2 B R R
32 BT RRITER 2R - RS

HIENF19%ZE22%(ZF—+%F - 0.7%
E2.0%)MEIEFFXRFE - RITEAF
A BEARRE R R R B R EE M EE R
o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR Rk AT

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE—T—\F=A=1—HIFFE

31. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES, AND OTHER  31.

BEZRHEMENREARAEME

LIABILITIES &
2018 2017
—E2-N\F —ET—+tF
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
Trade payables B SN HIE 439,974 344,869
Construction payables R FER FRIE 284,752 6,716
724,726 351,585
Accrued construction cost FESTIEEER AN 320,145 36,995
Deposits received (note a) Bz s (Hiata) 9,101 39,000
Other payables (note b) H b A 5RIE (M atb) 104,556 194,835
Other payables to non-controlling JET A A B AT BT B A A
shareholders of a former subsidiary of FEPEARRE R 2
the Company (note c) E A RIE (Mt atc) 119,989 119,989
Receipts in advance (note d) TRWRIA (FaEd) 382,102 158,356
Other accruals HihpEz+&H 79,281 31,902
1,739,900 932,662

The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables and
construction payables based on the invoice date at the end of
the reporting period.

RBEHRR - BHRMNFRIAFEEEMNK
Iﬁhz?é 2Bz B DTN ©

2018 2017
—®-\E  ZE 7
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBFR ARET T

Trade payables and construction payables & 5 & 78 & 2 £ BN A

0 - 30 days 0Z30H 354,782 230,018
- 90 days 31E90H 58,877 57,933
Over 91 days A1 [ 311,067 63,634
724,726 351,585

The average credit period on purchase of goods is approximately
90 days. The Group has financial risk management policies in
place to monitor that all trade payables are settled within the
credit timeframe.

BEEM 2 FHERBLHAK/0R - AEH
BREVBRRERREK  AAEEMEE
RN FIANME RPN
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

31. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES, AND OTHER 31. EZ R HMENE

TR HME

LIABILITIES (Continued) %(,E)
Notes: Ktz
(a) Detailed analysis for deposits received is as follow: (a) EWEURS 2 AT ¢
2018 2017
—B-N\EF —tF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARBT T
Deposits received from customers, BUWBREFHRE -
in respect of A
— property for sales —1EHEZYE 9,101 -
— finance lease business —RETHE XS - 10,000
— provision of finance business —RHREEER - 29,000
9,101 39,000
(b) Detailed analysis for other payables is as follow: (b) HepEAFRIRZ AT T -
2018 2017
—E2-N\F —T—+tF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T R ARBTF T
Amount due to Hareon Solar's related  FETEBE Y IRBEH QG 2 &5 (HfaEi)
companies (note i) - 34,834
Amount due to a former shareholder of [Eft —fEMB AR —ZRIREREZ &5
a subsidiary (note ii) (B azii) - 66,188
Others HAth 104,556 93,813
104,556 194,835
Notes: Bifat -
(i) The amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and (i) ZESHREER  TRIEWIREX

(ii)

2017/20184F 3k

repayable on demand. More details about the related party
disclosures are set out in note 49.

The balance as at 31 March 2017 represented the amount due
to a former shareholder of a subsidiary, Yinkou Kunlun Real
Estate Company Limited (“Yinkou Kunlun Real Estate”) which
was acquired by the Group in December 2016. The amount is
derecognised upon the disposal of Yinkou Kunlun Real Estate
in 2018 (note 45).

(ii)

EE - BRAm T 2 EEREFER
KT EE49 ©

ZHEAR-_T—t&=A=+—A8
B —REAEER T —AF+=
Rl ERARE D EmEHER
RAR([EORREME ] —BA
BHEeHE FELER =T —N\F
HEENEmRBHERKIEERH
F£45) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
by e B

For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

31.

32.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES, AND OTHER

ﬂ]]

3. BEZRHMENFIEREME

LIABILITIES (Continued) ,E(E)

Notes: (Continued) KizE - (&)

() On 30 March 2016, the Group disposed of its 80% equity interest (c) RZZT—X"E=ZA=+H AEELE
in Yingkou Wanhe Industrial Co., Ltd. (“Yingkou Wanhe") and its EOBAEXARAB(NEOSBE]) R
subsidiary at a cash consideration of RMB480,000,000 and received HIfBARIBO%MKERE  ReREAA
RMB600,000,000 from the buyer. The payables of RMB119,989,000 [ % 480,000,000 7T - I B B F W EH A
represented cash consideration received on behalf of a 20% non- R % 600,000,000 7T ° F& ff 5 IH A B
controlling shareholder of Yingkou Wanhe, which are unsecured, 119,989,000 5 R #5H & A B A 20% A4
non-interest bearing and repayable on demand. ZIERBRBEBBR S RE - BEER

AT B R EREREE -
(d)  Detailed analysis for receipts in advance is as follow: (d)  FERFBEBZFAIWHOT

2018 2017

—E-N\F —T—+F

RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR¥T AREBFT

Receipts in advance from customers, REFFHTBRIE - B :

in respect of:

— property pre-sold —TBEME 168,014 32,475

- solar photovoltaic business — KGR IRERE 8,326 26,698

— oil by-products — B REIESR 147,113 85,667

- printing — ENf 53,574 3,975

— others —HAth 5,075 9,541

382,102 158,356

BILL PAYABLES

The bill payables are issued by the banks in Hong Kong and
the PRC with maturity up to one year.

An ageing analysis of bill payables based on the issuance date

32. EHEHE

BN ZEHEERBBEARITET
—FR2H -

AT RENEBRNBERRFEEL A

of the bills at the end of the reporting period is as follows: B2 BRER AT -
2018 2017
—E-N\F —F—tF
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARMF T ARETTT
0 - 30 days 0Z30H 50,973 519,474
- 60 days £60H 4,962 6,046
- 90 days 61290H 2,093 346,865
Over 90 days B0 H 445,524 1,503,053
503,552 2,375,438

All bill payables are secured by the assets as disclosed in
note 48.

NEEBRRZ A RNEBRE R E48K

=
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBmRME

For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

33. AMOUNT DUE TO IMMEDIATE HOLDING
COMPANY

M

The carrying amount as at 31 March 2018 represented
amount due to the immediate holding company, China
Huajun Group Limited with aggregate gross amount of
RMB570,812,000. As at 31 March 2018, the amounts are
unsecured, non-interest bearing and not expected to be
repayable until 1 July 2019. The Directors assessed the
fair value of the fund advances, taken into account an
effective interest rate of 6.4% per annum, and recognised
an initial fair value adjustment of RMB50,812,000 to the
outstanding amount.

The carrying amount as at 31 March 2017 of RMB999,321,000
represented the consideration payable for the acquisition
of HTJA Development (as defined in note 45) and was
unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on 30 June
2018. On 30 March 2017, being the acquisition date of
HTJA Development, the Directors assessed the fair value of
the consideration payable, taken into account an effective
interest rate of 6.5% per annum, and recognised an initial
fair value adjustment of RMB81,624,000 to the principal
amount of RMB1,080,945,000. During the year ended 31
March 2018, the consideration payable of RMB1,080,945,000
has been early repaid and the Group has reversed deemed
contribution of RMB65,766,000 as it was calculated assuming
the consideration payable would be repaid on 30 June 2018.

2017/20184F %k

33. ENEEERATZHIA

Mm

R-E—NF=ZA=+—HHEA
BEEEBENEEZERARFEESR
SEAERAGRE REARK
570,812,000C - R=FE— N\F=A
=+—H REAEEM REK
W ARBHER=ZF—hLFLtA—HAH
EE - -EECFHBRKESHNAR
B BREBRFENE64% Wt R

A

RIZE—tF=A=+—BNKE
{I=]
=)

AR #999,321,000 T 15 W B =
TERE(TERWELS)HEMR
B ZeBEAEER . THEHEA
RZZE—NFENA=ZTHEEZE R
—E—+FE=-A=+H(NEREL
BRZNERE)  EFIRERFF
KSR T HENREZANE K
A S5 A R ¥ 1,080,945,000 7T F#
BAREES,624,0007T 2 FIEA A A 1E
AR - BE_T-—N\E=ZA=1+—
BIEFE » AR1,080,945,0007C
WEMRECRMNEERE  MASE
BB O A R¥65,766,0007TH1E VEE
Z REAEBREMNREBRZ
T-N\FANA=tTHEEFESD -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR Rk AT

For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

34. BORROWINGS

34. &R

2018 2017
—B-N\F —E—+F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARBT T
Bank borrowings IRITER 2,994,053 1,520,356
Borrowings from financial institutions KEASRHMEZER 1,600,000 1,600,000
4,594,053 3,120,356
Secured Popiiit 4,228,426 3,086,448
Unsecured 44 365,627 33,908
4,594,053 3,120,356
Carrying amount repayable based on RIRE R HAE R AR EE -
repayment schedule:
Within one year —F£ R 2,170,314 1,425,356
More than one year but not more than —F P FETBBRF
two years 582,396 15,000
More than two years but not more than ME EENBBRAF
five years 1,841,343 1,680,000
4,594,053 3,120,356
Less: Carrying amount repayable within 5 : —FRER LI &K A
one year and do not contain RESERIGHR 2 BREE
a repayable on demand clause (1,490,814) (1,358,208)
Less: Carrying amount repayable within B —ERNERMMEREK
one year and contain a repayable B BREE
on demand clause (679,500) (66,448)
Amounts shown under current liabilities  REBEE TAREEE (2,170,314) (1,425,356)
Amounts shown under non-current EREBEBE TN ~EE
liabilities 2,423,739 1,695,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

34. BORROWINGS (Continued)

The exposure of the Group's borrowings and the contractual

34. fEFR(E)

AEEBRNRANZHAA(REFTEH) 2

maturity dates (or reset dates) are as follows: BT :
2018 2017
—E-N\F S
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTT
Variable-rate borrowings: FENFIREK
Within one year —F R 256,544 378,186
In more than one year but not more —FLA EETBBRT
than two years 2,896 -
In more than two years but not more & LB RBBRE
than five years 41,343 _
300,783 378,186
Fixed-rate borrowings: & E F A
Within one year —FR 1,913,770 1,047,170
In more than one year but not more —FLA EETBBRT
than two years 579,500 15,000
In more than two years but not more  WFA HETBBARF
than five years 1,800,000 1,680,000
4,293,270 2,742,170

The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also equal to

contracted interest rates) on the Group's borrowings are as

follows:

AEEERZEREMNE(FERELFIX)

FEMT :

2018
—E-N\fF

2017
—ET—+F

Effective interest rate:
Fixed-rate borrowings
Variable-rate borrowings

TR
B ARG
K3

EENH R AG

4.4% - 10.0%
1.7% - 6.4%

5.2% - 10.0%
1.8% — 2.9%

2017/20184F %k
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
by e B

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE—T—\F=A=1—HIFFE

34. BORROWINGS (Continued)

35.

34. fEFR(E)

The weighted average effective interest rate on the

borrowings is 7.6% (2017: 6.7%) per annum.

As at 31 March 2018 and 2017, certain banking facilities and
loans granted to the Group are secured by the Group's assets.
Details of the pledged assets are disclosed in note 48. Details
of the Group’s management of liquidity risk are set out in note

BRZMEFHEBRFENERT 6% (ZF
—+5F  6.7%) °

R-F-N\R-F-—tF=A=+—8
AEEERGETRTEERERIIUA
A RN o BRI E 2 R
i8R - AHAREERRDESE

44(b). b 2 8 Z S E A KT 44 (b) »
FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS 35. BIERENVEE
PROVISION
2018 2017
—E-N\F —F—tF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETTT
As beginning of the reporting period MRS B ) 34,800 -
Financial guarantee liabilities recognised BRZHGEREE - 44,281
Amortisation of financial guarantee MISERE E#HE
liabilities (22,129) (9,481)
Financial guarantee provision recognised TR 2 BB EREE 484,122 =
At the end of the reporting period RS EAR 496,793 34,800
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B R M

For the year
BE_ZTN

ended 31 March 2018
F=ZA=+—HILFE

35. FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS
PROVISION (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

On 19 October 2016, the Group entered into a financial guarantee
in favour of Jiangsu branch office of China Cinda Asset Management
Co., Ltd. (the “China Cinda"”), pursuant to which the Group agreed to
provide a financial guarantee in respect of obligations and liabilities
of Hareon Solar and Jiangyin Hareon Solar Energy Electrical
Power Co., Ltd. (collectively referring to as “Hareon Companies”)
under restructuring documents in the amount of approximately
RMB383,361,000 (the “Guarantee”). On the same date, Mr. Meng
also entered into a personal guarantee in favour of the China
Cinda to provide financial guarantee for the same obligations and
liabilities.

In order to protect the interest of the Group against any loss which
might be suffered by the Group under the Guarantee, Hareon Solar
entered into a counter indemnity in favour of the Group pursuant
to which Hareon Companies agreed to, among other matters,
indemnify the Group for its liabilities and loss which may arise from
the Guarantee.

The Group had recognised a financial guarantee liability at fair
value of RMB44,281,000 at the date of providing the Guarantee.
The financial guarantee liability was amortised over the financial
guarantee period. The Group has recognised an amortisation of
financial guarantee contracts amounting to RMB22,190,000 (2017:
RMB?,481,000) for the year ended 31 March 2018 (note 8).

On 4 May 2016, the Group has provided a corporate guarantee of
RMB22,990,000 to secure a banking facility granted to a subsidiary of
Hareon Solar. Subsequently on 19 January 2017, the Group further
increased the maximum guaranteed amount to RMB77,000,000.
As at 31 March 2017, the Group had not recognised liabilities in
respect of the above guarantee issued because the fair value of this
guarantee was insignificant.

The Directors are of the opinion that the financial condition of
the borrowers have significantly deteriorated with certain of

their

debts are default in payment. The Directors considered

that it is probable the creditors will demand the Group to
settle the outstanding principal and interest of the subject
debts under the financial guarantee provided by the Group.

On 26 June 2018, three statutory demands were served on the
Company by a creditor to demand the Company to settle the
three outstanding debts totalling of RMB278,153,000 pursuant
to the financial guarantee contract. The Company is in the
course to engage legal advisors in assisting the Company in
reviewing the statutory demands and/or negotiating with the
creditor in respect of the debts.

2017/20184F 3k

35.

MBERSVEE(E)

—ANF+A+IB  AEEEFRE
EERMARAR([HBEEE])IH
DABEIM—REBEER - Bt - AEER
BARBEEA AL AR 383,361,000 7T
AEBAREIREGHAGEEHERAR
(R DEBARHEENEERERE
ER(ZERD - RAA - ZREFAPERE
FEATSATL—DEAER - ARBRD
BEEMAERHBERR -

RREAEBNF G - BEZERT&ENE
BEXEMER  BEARALREERR R

AR —fpRAFEE - & BERRRE
(B e ) MEA S EEZERN AT EEL
MBEEREX -

AEBPMMREZERBHE R A A EREREY
BERAEAARKEL4,281,0007T - HIEHE
RABEVHERENES - BE=_FT—N\
FZA=T—HILFE  AXEECHERNH
BEREH 2 A ARY22,190,0007T (=
T—+HF : AR¥9,481,0007T) (fizE8) »

(b) REZZF—AFRAMNA ' AEEREARE
22,990,0007C 2 RIHEAR + ABS G B K8
MEARER —HRTME -BER-T
—tF—A+hB  AEEE—SREERS
RESZE ARMT7,000,0007T c R=F—+
F=A=+—8" mﬁ&tﬁﬂ%aﬁ"ﬁﬁjﬁﬁ
BA AEEWEREED LRERMER

f& o

EZRRBEFRANPEGIOREESR(L - 71
%Eﬁ(f EETES EFRR/ERARE
Ag2RkAEEENAEBR ‘TS

HZE

13%‘1%9’9@%@%%43 HABENARERME -

REZZE-NFRA-+RA —2ZEEA
REFBERELD  ARRRIERE=ZRZX
EEREFEE - %ﬂ"$"ﬂ1ﬁﬁzlﬁﬂ

& A A AR®278,153,0007C  &NA
RIEZELAZERMBEAA T%F)ﬁ&;ﬁ%
KEEEN/KEBBEEARZSERETE
7g o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR Rk AT

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE—T—\F=A=1—HIFFE

35. FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS 35. I ERENERE(E)

PROVISION (Continued)

At 31 March 2018, the Group has recognised a financial
guarantee provision of RMB496,793,000 which is the Directors’
best estimation on the probable cash outflow on the
obligations of the financial guarantee contracts.

Mr. Meng is also a guarantor of one of the financial guarantee
contracts with a guarantee amount of RMB383,361,000.
The Group is in process of discussing with Mr. Meng in the

settlement of the claims.

36. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

On 24 February 2017, the Group had provided a corporate
guarantee of RMB50,000,000 to secure a banking facility
granted to Liaoning Yinzhu, which was an associate of the

RZZE-NF=A=+—H KEEHCD#®
R REMEARKA96,793,0007T * &
EERVBERENEENEERSR
M ERIEGET ©

HAEENMBEFR —HHBEERELHHER
A EREE A AREE383,361,0007T © A&
EERTEALERENZSRRET

A
afg ©

36. HARAE

RZE—+F-_A=-+HA  KEEDIE
#t A R #50,000,0007C A A &R - AEE
FERK(EE_E—+E+A—BALE

Group up to 1 October 2017. The relevant bank loan under the B EAF)ER —IARITHE - AEE

banking facilities guaranteed by the Group had been repaid
and accordingly, the guarantee has been expired during the

year ended 31 March 2018.

37. DEFERRED TAXATION

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for

ERROBITRERENBEBRITERD
BE - Fit - ZERRBEE_T—/\F=
A=t+—HLEFEEE °

37. EIEBIIA

AT RIEER RS8R 2 DM - AR 153

financial reporting purposes: LH%E
2018 2017
—E-N\E —EF—+F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETIT
Deferred tax assets IRIEFIAE E (9.762) (5,148)
Deferred tax liabilities EERIEARE 28,520 66,631
18,758 61,483
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

37. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

2017/20184F %k

The following are the major components of deferred tax
liabilities (assets) recognised and movements thereon during
the current and prior years:

(Decelerated)

37.

IESERL A ()

KT AEEAZIEERIAR &(EE) 2
SUERBA A RAERER £ — 2 8

accelerated Revaluation Impairment

tax of and
depreciation properties others Total

BRIE

(RE)NE  NXEHMLE BERE A -
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTT ARBTT ARETT
At 31 March 2016 RZE—"F=A=1+—H 15,757 - (3,005) 12,752
Exchange adjustments I 5 A% 17 - - 17
(Credited) charged to profit or loss ERED GEA) R (165) 49,068 (189) 48,714
At 31 March 2017 RZZ—+#=A=1-H 15,609 49,068 (3,194) 61,483
Exchange adjustments EEEES (26) - - (26)
Derecognition upon disposal (note 45) HERR | FHER(H1545) (13,569) - - (13,569)
Credited to profit or loss EBHFEA (4,124) (24,979) (27) (29,130)
At 31 March 2018 RZZ-\$=A=+-H (2,110) 24,089 (3,221) 18,758

At 31 March 2018, the Group does not recognise deferred
tax assets in respect of tax losses of approximately
RMB282,533,000 (2017: RMB141,146,000) as it was uncertain
that future taxable profits against which the tax losses could
be utilised would be available in the relevant tax jurisdiction.
Tax losses of approximately RMB196,320,000 (2017:
RMB89,645,000) do not expire under current tax legislation
and approximately RMB86,213,000 (2017: RMB51,501,000)
would expire within five years from the year of origination.

At 31 March 2018, the Group has deductible temporary
differences of RMB114,083,000 (31 March 2017: Nil). No
deferred tax asset has been recognised in relation to such
deductible temporary difference as it is not probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences can be utilised.

At 31 March 2018, temporary differences relating to the
undistributed profits of PRC subsidiaries amounted to
approximately RMB490,121,000 (2017: RMB383,480,000).
Deferred tax liabilities of approximately RMB24,506,000
(2017: RMB19,174,000) representing the tax payable upon the
distribution of such retained profits have not been recognised
as the Company controls the dividend policy of these
subsidiaries and it has been determined that it is probable that
profits will not be distributed in the foreseeable future.

R-EBE—NE=A=+—8 " @A
BEAHESAENE@RE AR
BEBARRERFESN  ANEBEL X
T EE B 4 A R#282,533,0000T (=&
—+F : AR®141,146,0007C ) R IE
EHIBEE - RBBRTHRZE  HBEEBE
2 AN R #196,320,000 7 ( = & — L £ -
AR89 6450007T) W AR @M © MAA
R#86,213000 (=T —+tF : ARK
51,501,0007C) BB FERZAFA
fE R e

R-ZBE—-NE=RA=+—08 KNEEMHA
R E =5 A AR #114,083,0007T (=
T—+HF=ZA=+—8: &) - HEERHE
AHREREZEFENEEHEEE R
B AT KR gl B R R A A ER AT
BRI E R =4 -

RZE—NE=A=+—08  BhEAKB
REIZAD B EHZERERSREY
A ANR#490,121,000T( —Z—+H4F : A
R #383,480,0007T) - ELEFHIEEELN B
AR ¥24,506,000C( = F—+EF : AREE
19,174,0007T ) 38 7 Ik B B IR & )i F 2 F&
NEIE - AR AR FEHZENH B A
AR EBUR - MSmH EME AER &
BRIE DR R EERE BEERIE
=i B il

el o

[
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
by e B

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE—T—\F=A=1—HIFFE

38. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES 38. RAK f#fm
Number of shares Share capital
RSB (AN
Ordinary shares ZBER 2018 2017 2018 2017
—E-NE Tt —E-N\E —E—+tF
'000 ‘000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T i 5 FH
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of HK$1 FREBRIET
(2017: HK$0.01) each (ZZ—+% :001%87)
At beginning of the R BT
reporting period 40,000,000 40,000,000 400,000 400,000
Share Consolidation (note i) Bo& o (Krati) (39,600,000) = - -
At end of the reporting period 73R & #ik 400,000 40,000,000 400,000 400,000
'000 ‘000 RMB’000 RMB'000
TR’ Fh% AR¥TR ARETTT
Issued and fully paid: BEITRER -
At beginning of s B
the reporting period 6,066,920 5,669,020 55,203 51,787
Share Consolidation (note i) Btn &0t (Hfati) (6,006,251) - - =
Issue of shares (note i) BT (B aFii) - 397,900 - 3,416
At end of the reporting period  R#EHE 60,669 6,066,920 55,203 55,203
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

38. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

Notes:

(i) On 5 March 2018, the Company has conducted a share consolidation
whereby every one hundred existing issued and unissued existing
shares of par value of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the
Company have been consolidated into one consolidated share of
par value of HK$1.00 each (“Share Consolidation”). All consolidated
shares rank pari passu in all respects with each other.

The Share Consolidation has let to adjustments to (i) the conversion
price and the number of shares falling to be issued upon the
exercise of the conversion right attaching to the convertible bonds
in accordance with the terms and conditions of the convertible
bonds; and (ii) the exercise price of the share options and the
number of shares comprised therein in accordance with the terms
and conditions of the share option scheme of the Company. These
adjustments have been taken up elsewhere in these consolidated
financial statements.

(i) On 28 July 2016, a placement of 397,900,000 new shares at par
value of HK$0.01 each was completed. The placing price was
HK$0.78 (equivalent to RMBO0.67) per share. The difference
between the placing price and the par value of the issued shares of
RMB256,244,000, after deducting of the related cost amounting to
RMB6,932,000, was recognised in the share premium account.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as
declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share
at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with
regard to the Company'’s residual assets.

2017/20184F 3k

38. RAKf#ME (&)

Ffzt

0]

RZZE-NF=ZRAAH ' ARRIEETRG
A6 ARABRAPE-BFREE.0ET
MBRBEBTEARBTREROEAH A —
MREE1.00/8 TR A HFROD (TR A HE])
FAAGERNEMBE LT EZEHERER -

Befn & 6f B B BB () B A E RR R A A
1B 75 B GRS MR 4 17 8 P SR AR B S5 B 7 By 8
BIEROBTERITHORMOEKE © ROREAR
AR AR T B O 6 R B MR AR O BB A 7T {2
ERETEENROEE AR - ZEHE
ERZERAVBEMRE T HAHRS

RZZT—RNELtA-+N\B ZXEE
397,900,000/% & A E{E0.01 B T 2 T AXD °
FEBAER078EITL(BERARK0.67
)  EFITRMHEESBEEEZEZEAA
R #256,244,0007T © THi&IBR B AARE
6,932,0007T 2 FEEERC A + W0 B R AR 10 4 (B AR

BEEFEABREBRAREERAOEE - I
BERERDRAARE LRAFERRNER—
R EEBRRESBARRNBEESE
FERS#EE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE—T—\F=A=1—HIFFE

38. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)
Statutory surplus reserve

In accordance with the prevailing PRC laws and regulations, all
PRC companies are required to transfer a certain percentage
of its profit after taxation to a statutory surplus reserve until the
surplus reserve balance reaches 50% of the registered capital
of the enterprise. The transfer to the reserve has to be made
before distribution of dividends to shareholders. The statutory
surplus reserve can be used to make good previous years'
losses, and is not distributable to shareholders.

Exchange translation reserve

The exchange translation reserve has been set up and will be
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy adopted for
foreign currency translation.

Share-based payment reserve

The share-based payment reserve relates to equity-settled
share options granted under the Company’s share option
schemes. ltems included in share-based payment reserve
will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss. Further
information about share-based payments is set out in note 41.

Deemed contribution reserve

The deemed contribution reserve relates to the deemed
contribution arisen from the interest free loans provided by
immediate holding company, China Huajun Group Limited,
and the deemed contribution by the controlling shareholder
through the Group's acquisition and disposal transactions.

Investment revaluation reserve
The investment revaluation reserve comprises the cumulative
net change in the fair value of AFS investments held at the end

of the reporting period and is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies in note 4.
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38.

39.

SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)
Other reserve

Other reserve was set up by the Company’s PRC subsidiaries
in accordance with their articles of association. The amounts to
be transferred to this reserve is determined by the respective
board of directors of the PRC subsidiaries. They can be used
to convert into paid-up capital, and are not distributable to
shareholders.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME
CONTRIBUTIONS

Defined contribution plan

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the "MPF Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in Hong
Kong. The assets of the scheme are held separately from
those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees. The
Group contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs (maximum of
RMB1,219 per month) to the MPF Scheme, which contribution
is matched by employees.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries in the PRC
are members of a state-managed retirement benefit plan
operated by the government of the PRC. The subsidiaries are
required to contribute specified percentage of payroll costs
to the retirement benefit plan to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit
plan is to make the specified contributions.

The total expense of RMB30,537,000 (2017: RMB26,319,000)
represents contributions paid or payable to these plans by the
Group at rates specified in the rules of the plans during the
year ended 31 March 2018.

2017/20184F %k
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—T—+tF : AR¥E26,319,0007T) °

177



178

40. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group's
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which
includes bill payables, bank borrowings, other borrowings,
amount due to immediate holding company, corporate bonds,
convertible bonds and equity attributable to shareholders of
the Company, comprising of share capital and reserves.

Gearing ratio
The Directors actively and regularly review the capital structure
of the Group. The Directors consider the cost of capital and

the risk associated with each class of capital.

The gearing ratio at the end of the reporting period was as
follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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BE—T—\F=A=1—HIFFE

40. EXRER

AEEEREERUREAEANSEE
TRELE  ABBBELETEESRR
RIS 2 BRI A RS - B
B A EE T BEER R T -

AEBZEARBEREGE  EhEREE
DES: S fEfﬂ%?ﬁ Eﬁﬂ%ﬂ BN EEZ
ERABZHIEA - RElfEE - THBRRES
KA THx%[’%{E%ﬁT& " BIERANR A o

EERGELR
EXEBEERRNAEEERNERE - &

EEZEERARAREGREREERDR -

RBERRZEEABLENT ¢

2018 2017

—E-N\F —F—tF

RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARET T ARETIT

Total assets BEE 11,764,556 11,672,189
Total liabilities FEN=RE (9,083,035) (8,146,342)
Net assets FEE 2,681,521 3,525,847
Total liabilities to assets ratio BEERAGBLLER 77.2% 69.8%
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41.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS TRANSACTIONS

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
on 28 September 2007 and refreshed the Scheme mandate
limit to 10% of the shares of the Company in issue as at 3
November 2015. The purpose of the Scheme is to provide
the Company with a flexible means of giving incentive to,
rewarding, remunerating, compensating and/or providing
benefits to Executive or Non-Executive Directors including
Independent Non-Executive Directors or any employees
(whether full-time or part-time) of each member of the Group
and for such other purposes as the Board of Directors may
approve from time to time.

Upon expiry of the existing Scheme on 28 September 2017,
no further options will be granted thereunder, but in all other
respects, subject to the provisions under Chapter 17 of the
Listing Rules, the existing Scheme shall remain in full force and
effect, and the options granted thereunder may continue to be
exercisable in accordance with the terms of issue thereof.

At 31 March 2018, the number of shares in respect of which
options had been granted and remained outstanding under
the Scheme was 3,638,583 (2017: 5,801,999) representing 6%
(2017: 9.6%) of the shares of the Company in issue at that date.
The total number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10%
of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time,
without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders. The
number of shares issued and to be issued in respect of which
options granted and may be granted to any individual in any
one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any point in time, without prior approval
from the Company’s shareholders.

Option granted must be taken up within 28 days of the date
of grant, upon payment of HK$100 per option granted. There
is no minimum period for which a share option must be held
before the share option being exercised unless otherwise
determined by the Board of Directors. The exercise price
is determined by the Directors and will not be less than the
higher of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares on the
date of grant; (i) the average closing price of the shares for the
five business days immediately preceding the date of grant;
and (i) the nominal value of the Company’s share.
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41. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

As disclosed in note 38, the Company completed the Share
Consolidation on 5 March 2018. The number of options
granted have been adjusted for outstanding of options for the
years ended 31 March 2018 and 2017 accordingly.

Details of specific categories of options are as follows:

41. LR AERTRORS (F)

KT EESBFI I EE - ARRR —F—

NE=

HARBZERBEMDEH - At - REZBR
BEEERBE_T - \FR_FT—+F
ZHA=t+—HIEFEZRARITEBEREE

nE

O

oo

1E

H

HEBREERNFBID T

Number Vesting
Grantee of option Date of grant conditions Exercisable period Exercise Price
AERA BREHE REAH BEEE TS THEE
Executive* 263,864 22 May 2015 Nil 22 May 2015 to HK$100
1THAB* —T-hF # 15 February 2018 1008 7T
AA-+—H “E-RFRA-TZHE
—N\$¥=-A+AA
Directors 263,064 30 June 2015 Nil 30 June 2015 to HK$200
E=S —T-0F & 29 June 2017 200/ 7T
~NA=1H —Z-RFEXH=1HZ
—E—+FXAZTNA
Employees 1,607,170 30 June 2015 Nil 30 June 2015 to HK$200
=] “E—hfF i 29 June 2017 20078 7T
ANA=T+H —E-RERA=THZE
—t+tFXAZtNA
Employees 2,473,626 7 February 2017 Nil 7 February 2017 to HK$78
BB ZE—+tF i 6 February 2027 78T
—AtHR —+tF=-HtHE
“THF-ARHAE
Directors 777,607 7 February 2017 Nil 7 February 2017 to HK$78
8% T+ i3 6 February 2027 7878 7T
—AtH —ZEZ—+HF_Rt+HZE
T EFHARA
Executive* 387,351 16 March 2017 Nil 16 March 2017 to HK$78
THAB* —E—tF i 6 February 2027 7887
=ATRH —tF=A1TRHE
“THF-ARHAE

* The executive option was solely granted to Mr. Meng, the chairman

of the Board of Directors and an executive director of the Company.

* THABBBREERTARRIEEEER

RATEERLE
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41. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS TRANSACTIONS 41. URHEAEBNHNRS (&)
(Continued)

The movement of share options to the executive directors HE-_Z—-\FER_Z—1t5=AH
and employees under the Scheme during the years ended 31 =T -REFERBZERTRITE
March 2018 and 2017 are presented as follows: EREECEREZSHZ2TIMT
For the year ended 31 March 2018 BE-Z-/\FZA=1+T-HLEFE
Number of share options
BREHE
Granted Exercised Expired
Outstanding during during during Outstanding
Grantee at 1 April the year the year the year  at 31 March
R=A
RmA-H £R 20 £R =t-H
ERA R AT BRIt BT 2aH & RATE
Directors & Executive EZRIBAE 1,771,844 - - (606,887) 1,164,957
Employees EE 4,030,155 - - (1,556,529) 2,473,626
5,801,999 - - (2,163,416) 3,638,583
For the year ended 31 March 2017 BE-Z—tF=A=+—HLEFE
Number of share options
BRERA
Granted Exercised Expired
Outstanding during during during  Outstanding
Grantee at 1 April the year the year theyear  at 31 March
R=A
nEA—H £R B2 £R =t-H
ERA RARITR ERH [BERES Rl RIARTTE
Directors & Executive ESRTHAR 606,887 1,164,957 - - 17844
Employees EE 1,556,529 2,473,626 - - 4,030,155
2,163,416 3,638,583 - - 5,801,999
2017/2018%F ) 181




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
by e B

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE—T—\F=A=1—HIFFE

41. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS TRANSACTIONS 41. URHEAEBNHNRS (&)
(Continued)

The number and weighted average exercise prices of share BRI R KT HITEENT
options are as follows:

2018 2017
—%-1\F —T-if
Weighted Weighted
average Number of average Number of
exercise price  share options  exercise price share options
itk S| it B
TEE BREHA 1TE(E RIERR
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Qutstanding at 1 April R A — B EATTE 115 5,801,999 177 2,163,416
Granted during the year FRFH - - 78 3,638,583
Expired during the year (note) EREH(ffT) 177 (2,163,416) = =
Outstanding at 31 March R=A=+—BHEATE 78 3,638,583 115 5,801,999
Exercisable at 31 March R=A=+—BA#TE 78 3,638,583 115 5,801,999
Note: The relevant grant date fair value of share options expired ffix - ERMBREZ HREL BRI AAERA
amounting to RMB15,970,000 have been transferred from share- R#15,970,0007C - B R IR E H 1 B AR
based payment reserve to retained profits (accumulated losses) DRERZ MR HERREEREEN (R
upon the share options expired. B#R) -
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41. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

The options outstanding at 31 March 2018 had an exercise
price of HK$78 (2017: HK$78, HK$100 or HK$200) and a
weighted average remaining contractual life of 8.8 years (2017:
6.3 years).

During the year ended 31 March 2017, share options were
granted to directors and employees on 7 February 2017. The
estimated fair value of the options on the grant date was
RMB49,900,000.

The grant date fair values of the share options granted were
fully recognised as share-based payment expense at the date
of grant.

The fair value of share options granted were estimated as at
the date of grant using a Binomial model, taking into account
the terms and conditions upon which the options were
granted. The following table lists the inputs to the model:

41.

DR AERNSRNRS ()

RIE-NF=ZA=+—HRRTEER
*EE’MT@ﬂ RIBETL(—F— L : 7838
7T ~ 10078 703020078 7T ) » M An#E F 15 F
ﬁ%.:. WEMABBBF (T —LF 63
£2) e

REE-ZT—+E=A=1+—BIFE -
RYITEEREENEREER - —tF
ZAtBEED - BRERITL BB
DNAREEAREA9,900,0007T °

EREBRERRL AHN IR EDRE
A EIR B R R IAR D BER 25K -

RELBHERE ZBRENZ AR
NG RARE - EEEBR B2 RK
KA = TRAPBZIRA 2B ABE

For the year ended 31 March 2017 HE_Z—+tF=A=+—HILFE
Option grant
date

B AR AR H AR
16 March 7 February
2017 2017
—tF —tF
=A+<H —HRtH
Grant date fair value of option (HK$)  BER#ENRHBHZAREGERL) 17.2 15.3-17.2
Share price at the date of grant (HK$) ®REEBHZREGET) 66 66
Exercise price (HK$) TEEGETT) 78 78
Expected volatility ]7”557@/52511 43.56% 43.56%
Risk-free interest rate (%) R\ B F 2 (%) 1.76% 1.76%
Exercise multiple TT@‘J 2 2.8 2.2-2.8
Expected dividend yield LR R 3.76% 3.76%

Expected volatility was determined using the historical
volatility of a number of comparable companies’ share price
over the previous 780 days.

The Binomial model has been used to estimate the fair value
of the options granted. The variables and assumptions used
in computing the fair value of the share options are based on
the Directors’ best estimate. The value of an option varies with
different variables used of certain subjective assumptions.

2017/20184F %k

BHRBRTIREE T AILBRA R ZBE
RZAI7808 A ZBERBEMETE -

“EABRAARGBIEREBREZ AR
B R EBREZAAERAAZER
EBRDEREEZ&EMF - ETE8

TE““%%TI—JE’J AR EREREEE
HIRE

183



184

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n‘l-ﬁ

B BERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2018

42.

HE-F—/\F=A=1—FILFE

CORPORATE BONDS 42. RAEMEH
The corporate bonds are interest bearing at the rate of 6% 7@%‘5’7*‘@&@ ENF6%%6.5% -
to 6.5% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrear and FEIM—R - EEFAMT
repayable as follow:
2018 2017
—E-N\F —F—+F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®BTT ARBT T
Within one year —FR 128,042 -
More than one year but not more than —F L\ BN BBRMRF
two years 57,826 132,830
More than two years but not more than MFLA FE T BBRE
five years 7,683 63,218
More than five years HEUE 62,714 47,113
256,265 243,161
Analysed for reporting purpose: DITERE Rk -
— Current liabilities - mEAE 128,042 =
- Non-current liabilities - ERBAE 128,223 243,161
256,265 243,161
For the year ended 31 March 2018, transactions costs totalling BHE_Z-NE=A=1+—HILEE B2
of RMB4,434,000 (2017: RMB39,397,000) have been incurred E‘f?‘ﬁ AIESELES HEARY4,434,000
for the issuance of the corporate bonds. The effective interest T(ZEE—+ E A R % 39,397,000 7T )
rate of the corporate bonds is ranged from 8.2% to 12.6% 23 %W$ NRMEFNERFREN

(2017: 8.2% to 12.5%) per annum.

?8,2%;%12,6%(_55 + 4 -
12.5%) °

C8.2% &
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43. CONVERTIBLE BONDS 43. AR ES
Details of the convertible bonds issued by the Group during REERBE_ZE-N\FER-_Z—tF=
the years ended 31 March 2018 and 2017 are as follows: A=+—BLEFEFHTHARRESFE
LU
Maximum
number of
shares of the
Company to
Date of issue Principal amount  Lender Coupon rate  Maturity date ~ Conversion price  be converted
9
8%
Rt
2708 AEE ERA F5% H&A 85E BRHA
For the year ended 31 March 2018~ HZ-%—/1£
ZA=1-HIHEE
26 October 2017 “E-tETA-15A HK$175,000000  Guild Plus Investments 1000% 19 October 2018 HK$85 2,058,824
1750000087 Limited TN\ 85ET
EIRERRAT tAthA
26 October 2017 S o HK$175,000,000  Treasure Capital Finance 1000% 19 October 2018 HK$85 2,058,824
175,000,007 Limited “3-N\E 85T
ERANHRERAT TATHA
24 January 2018 —3-\f-A=T0A HK$118,000,000  CEFC Futures Group 1000% 23 July 2018 HK$34 3,470,588
1180000008 (Hong Kong) Financial “Z-\F WAL
Holdings Limited tA-+=H
BEEECE(ER)2R
ERERAT
24 January 2018 —3-\f-A=1EH HK$100,000,000  CEFC (HK) Financial 10.00% 23 July 2018 HK$34 291,176
10000000072 Holdings Limited E-)E WAL
BR(FR)2RER tA=t=A
ARAR
24 January 2018 ZE5-N\E-A-THA HK$30,000,000  Power Ace investment Ltd 10.00% 23 July 2018 HK$34 882,353
30,000,000 7 Z3-N\E T
tA-1=H
For the year ended 31 March 2017 HZ-F—+£
ZA=1-HIEE
8 June 2016 “E-5ERANE HK$200,000,000  CCBI International Overseas 10.00% 8 June 2018 HK$78 2,564,103
20000002 Limited “FNF T8ET
BRERENERAT ~ANA
8 July 2016 “E-NELANR HK$100,000,000  Central China International 10.00% 8 May 2018 HK$78 1,282,051
100,000,000% 7 Investment Company “3-\F 8B
Limited R1ANA

PHERRERRA
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43. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

The convertible bonds entitle the holders to convert into
ordinary shares of the Company at any time between the date
of issue of the convertible bonds and the maturity date at the
relevant conversion price (subject to anti-dilutive adjustments).
The conversion shares will be allotted and issued upon
exercise of the conversion rights. If the convertible bonds
have not been converted during the conversion period up to
the maturity date, the convertible bonds will be redeemed on
the maturity date at par together with the accrued interest.
Interest are being paid every six calendar months until the
maturity date.

The convertible bonds contain two components, liability
component and conversion right with settlement option. As
at 31 March 2018, the effective interest rate of the liability
component of these convertible bonds is approximate 15.3%
(2017:15.0%) per annum. The conversion option derivative is
measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in
profit or loss.

The movements of the liability and derivative components of
the convertible bonds for the years ended 31 March 2018 and
2017 were set out in below:

43. 7]
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AR ES(E)

Al AR B 2 B T 1B AR AT R A R AR R
FHEITAHEES JHHEIJtE’JEﬂETF%A
BRERERESERKARRERR(Z
RESEHERS) iﬁﬂﬁfﬁﬂﬁlﬁ@i%%ﬁ
RET AL 3 I 3817 - AR EFEE R
HNEEZHAHRESR - AR BERES
B H B E R A A SR EEREE -
NMEBAXN—RME - EEFHHELE -

ABmRESFBEEMETD F NEESS &
EMEREEERE R_T—-N\F=
A=+—H ZESU#REFAERHS
HNEBRENREHI153%(ZF—LF :
15.0%) - MRESTE T A TVIE R o BT
£ MARBEEEHARERZAER -

BHE-_T - N\FER=ZZE—tF=A=+—

HIESE  AREFz8ERITETAR
MBI

Liability Derivative

component component

B8ENY TEIAEHRS

RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT AREFT

At 1 April 2016 RZZE—RFHA—H = =
Upon issue of convertible bonds REEIT AR AR E S 236,095 19,073
Interest charged 2 UERF & 28,992 -
Interest paid ERFE (13,911) -
Exchange realignment PE % 7% 8,688 -
At 31 March 2017 RZZE—+tF=A=+—H 259,864 19,073
Upon issue of convertible bonds REITR IR ES 445,477 35,997
Interest charged 2 HEF & 61,692 -
Interest paid EAAFE (24,390) -
Change in fair value AREEH - 74,484
Exchange realignment PE 57 32 (21,063) (1,926)
At 31 March 2018 —\E=A=+—H 721,580 127,628
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43. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued) 43. ABRRES (&)

The fair value of conversion option derivatives is measured at
Level 3 fair value measurement (as defined in note 44(c)).

For the year ended 31 March 2018, transactions costs totalling
of RMB4,706,000 (2017: RMB3,453,000) have been incurred for
the issuance of convertible bonds.

BEETETAZAABNERE=ZGA
REAEECEE RMEA4(Q)FTE -

HE-_Z-NE=ZA=+—8B 1t &
E - ERBETUBRRESFELES KA
R#4,706000T(—ZF—+4F: ARMK
3,453,0007T) Z X B KA °

44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 44. TRITHE

a. Categories of financial instruments

a. SEMIAZER

2018 2017
—E-N\F —F—tF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFR ARETT

Financial assets SREE
AFS investments AHEERE 70,741 232,236
Held for trading investments BIEEBE 2 RE 101,222 82,731
Loans and receivables at LSRN A BR AV B TR JE U
amortised cost (including FOR(BRBRFITEBREIRS)
bank balances and cash) 1,157,600 2,586,004
1,329,563 2,900,971
Financial liabilities SRIBE
Liabilities at amortised cost REH A AR B E 7,873,967 7,761,916
Financial guarantee contracts HIEERE L - 34,800
7,873,967 7,796,716
Derivative fTET A
Convertible option derivative WA RESTA T A 127,628 19,073
2017/20184E
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44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group's major financial instruments include
finance lease receivables, loan receivables and
interest receivables, AFS investments, trade and other
receivables, deposits and other receivables, held for
trading investments, pledged bank deposits, bank
balances and cash, trade and other payables, bill
payables, amount due to an associate, amount due
to immediate holding company, borrowings, financial
guarantee contracts, corporate bonds and convertible
bonds. Details of these financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes in the financial statements.
The risks associated with these financial instruments
include market risk (currency risk, interest rate risk
and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
Management manages and monitors these exposures
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented in a
timely and effective manner.

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on
loan receivables, listed bond investments, held for
trading investments, bank balances and cash, pledged
bank deposits, trade receivables, deposits and other
receivables, trade and other payables, bill payables
and borrowings that are denominated in currencies
other than the functional currency of the operations to
which they relate. The currency giving rise to this risk
is primarily United States dollars (“USD" or “US$"),
Euros (“EUR") and RMB. The functional currency of
the operations to which such risks relate is Hong Kong
dollars ("HKD").
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44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Currency risk (Continued)
Exposure to currency risk
The following table details the Group's exposure at the

end of the reporting period to currency risk arising from
recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a currency

44, TRIT A (&)
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EREAREEBEREE(E)

BxmpE(E)
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T S R 51 A = B R R 4 A ok A
LTRSS
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other than the functional currency of the entity to which R -
they relate.
Exposure to foreign currencies
REEHAR
2018 2017
—E-N\% —TtfF
RMB EUR usb RMB EUR usb
AR¥ B in ARE BT E
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR AR¥TR ARBTR ARETT ARETT AR%ETR
Loan receivables FEWER 103,229 - - = = =
Listed bond investments THERRE - 1,480 78,839 = = 91,854
Held for trading investments BEEEZRE - - 70,741 = = 44,910
Bank balances and cash RITEHRAS 796 480 76,835 1,210 415 41,878
Pledged bank deposits RTEAER - - 37,816 = = 86,507
Trade and other receivables Z o R EMERR 5,293 - 50,208 34,463 48 13,256
Trade and other payables ZHREMERTA (3,760) - (6,354) (1,435) = (6,871)
Bill payables ENER - - (39,825) = = (58,918)
Borrowings &5 - - (103,366) (1,924) - (304,507)
2017/2018%5 5K
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44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Currency risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

At 31 March, 2018, it is estimated that a general
appreciation/depreciation of 5% in the exchange rate
of EUR and RMB against HK$, assuming all other risk
variables remained constant, would have increased/
decreased the Group's loss for the year of RMB4,407,000
for RMB and RMB82,000 for EUR (2017 profit for the
year of: RMB1,359,000 for RMB and RMB23,000 for EUR).
No sensitivity analysis is presented for foreign currency
fluctuation between US$ against HK$ because Hong
Kong dollars is pegged to US$ and assumed that the
rate would not be materially affected by any changes in
movement in value of the US$ against other currencies.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to fixed-rate finance lease receivables, listed
bond investments, deposits for acquisitions, loan
receivables, pledged bank deposits, corporate bonds,
convertible bonds (liability component) and borrowings.
The Group currently does not have any instruments to
hedge against the fair value interest rate risk.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
arising primarily from interest bearing borrowings and
bank balances at variable rate at the end of the reporting
period. The Group's interest rate profile is monitored
by management. As at 31 March 2018 and 2017, variable
interest rate profile includes bank balances and bank
borrowings. The Group's cash flow interest rate risk
is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of interest
rates on bank balances and Hong Kong Inter-Bank
Offered Rate arising from the Group’s Hong Kong dollar
denominated borrowings.

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 March 2018 it is estimated that a general increase/
decrease of 100 (2017: 100) basis points in interest
rates, with all other variables held constant, would have
increased/decreased the Group's loss for the year by
approximately RMB2,479,000 (2017 profit for the year by
approximately: RMB1,431,000).
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44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk

As at 31 March 2018, other than those loan receivables,
and listed bond investments whose carrying amounts
best represent the maximum exposure to credit risk,
the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will
cause a financial loss to the Group arising from financial
guarantee contracts in relation to financial guarantees
provided by the Group is disclosed in note 35.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of
the Group has monitored the determination of credit
limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual trade receivable,
loan receivable and finance lease receivable at the end of
the reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment
losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard,
the Directors consider that the Group's credit risk is
maintained at a satisfactory level which the Group does
not have material irrecoverable debtors in the current
and prior years.

For trade receivables, the Group’s exposure to credit
risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics
of each customer. The default risk of the industry and
country in which the customers operate also has an
influence on credit risk but to a lesser extent. At the end
of the reporting period, the Group has a concentration
of credit risk as 3% (2017: 3%) and 20% (2017: 20%) of
the total trade debtors were due from the Group's
largest customer and the five largest trade customers
respectively.

For finance lease receivables, the Group has a high
concentration of credit risk as all receivables were due
from seven parties as at 31 March 2018 (2017: four
parties). These parties are well-established private
companies engaging in manufacturing, dolomite
processing, wholesale of steel and mining parts business
and hospital operation business with no history of
default.

2017/20184F %k
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44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

For loan receivables, 96% of the loan receivables were
due from the Group's largest borrower as at 31 March
2018 (2017: 16% and 77% of the loan receivables were
due from the Group's largest and five largest borrowers).
All of these borrowers are private companies engaging
in industrial business and hospital operation business
or individuals with no history of default. Therefore, the
Directors consider the credit risk on loan receivables is
limited.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because
the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

Other than concentration of credit risk on liquid funds
which are deposited with several banks with high credit
ratings and those mentioned above, the Group does not
have any other significant concentration of credit risk.

Other risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its
investments in listed bond investments and held for
trading investments. The management manages this
exposure by maintaining a portfolio of investments
with different risks. Majority of the Group’s equity
investments are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited and are valued at quoted market prices as
at the reporting date. The bond investments are listed on
various bond markets and are valued at quoted market
prices as at the reporting date.
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44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Other risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to equity price risks at the
reporting date.

If the prices of the respective equity and debt
instruments had been 1% (2017: 1%) higher/lower:

o the Group’s loss after tax for the year ended 31
March 2018 would have decreased/increased
by RMB845,000 (2017: profit after tax would
decreased/increased by RMB691,000) as a result
of the changes in fair value of held for trading
investments; and

. investment valuation reserve would have increased/
decreased by RMB591,000 (2017: RMB919,000) for
the Group as a result of the changes in fair value of
listed bond investments.

Liquidity risk

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents
deemed adequate by the management to finance
the Group's operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows. Management also monitors the
utilisation of banking facilities and ensures compliance
with loan covenants.

2017/20184F %k
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44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)
Liquidity risk tables

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on
the earliest dates on which the Group can be required to
pay. The maturity dates for other non-derivative financial
liabilities are based on the agreed repayment dates.

The tables include both interest and principal cash flows.
To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate at the
end of the reporting period.

At 31 March 2018
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Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

AHERERRERE

Weighted Carrying

average  On demand Total amount

effective or within undiscounted as at

interest rate Tyear 1-2years 2-5years  >5years  cashflow  31.3.2018

R=g-NE

nETY  RERER BR%R =A=t-A

ERfE  9-fUm -5ERE WEERE BfE HERE R

% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETR  ARBTR  ARBTn  ARMTR  ARETR  ARETR

Trade and others payables ZORENERNTE - 1,218517 - - - 1218517 1,218,517

Bill payables ERZE - 503,552 - - - 503,552 503,552

Amount due to an associate ERBENR 748 - - - - - - -
Amount due to EREEERAAZ

immediate holding company +E 6.4 - 570,812 - - 570,812 520,000

Convertible bonds AaRES

- liability component L) 15.3 571,857 24,851 268,265 - 864,973 721,580

Corporate bonds AAfE 9.8 186,564 87,729 25,921 95,504 395,808 256,265

Borrowings f& 76 2,461,605 791561 1,926,874 - 5,180,040 4,594,053

Total A 5,002,095 1474953 2,221,060 95,594 8,793,702 7,873,967
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44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)
Liquidity risk tables (Continued)

At 31 March 2017

44, TRIT A (&)

b. EREREEZEERBE(E)

mBELEE(E)
nBECERRE)
RZE—+F=R=+—H

Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

AULEARARERE
Weighted Carrying
average  On demand Total amount
effective or within undiscounted as at
interest rate Tyear  1-2years  2-Syears > 5 years cash flow 31.3.2017
RIT-tF

e RERER
RN %-ENA

BREBE =R=1-H
—-FEME  MEREE aE Athe HafE

% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETR  ARETR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR
Trade and others payables EHREMERTE - 742,404 - - - 742,404 742,404
Bill payables ERZE = 2375438 - - - 2315438 2375438
Amount due to an associate EBENFzEE - 131 - - - 1312 2131
Amount due to ERERERAT
immediate holding company k2 6.5 - 1,080944 - - 1,08094 999,321
Corporate bonds AAfE 11.9 18,082 165122 86,107 63,223 332,534 13,161
Convertible bonds AARES
- liability component -8EH5 150 33439 212,089 - - 305,528 259,864
Borrowings B 67 1,615,631 176,844 1,940,099 - 3,732,574 3,120,356
Financial uarantee contracts (note) B ERAK(HE) - 510,361 - = = 510,361 34,800
Total =Hil 5,316,721 1694999 2,026,206 63223 9,101,155 7,796,116

Note: The amount included above for financial guarantee contracts
is the maximum amount the Group could be forced to settle
under the arrangement for the full guaranteed amount if that
amount is claimed by the counterpart to the guarantee. Based
on expectations at the end of the reporting period, the Group
considers that it is more likely than not that no amount will
be payable under the arrangement. However, this estimate
is subject to change depending on the probability of the
counterpart claiming under the guarantee which is a function
of the likelihood that the financial receivables held by the
counterpart which are guaranteed suffer credit losses.
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44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)
Liquidity risk tables (Continued)

Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause
are included in the “on demand or within 1 year” time
band in the above maturity analysis. As at 31 March 2018
and 31 March 2017, the aggregate carrying amounts of
these bank borrowings amounted to RMB679,500,000
and RMB66,448,000 respectively. Taking into account the
Group's financial position, the Directors do not believe
that it is probable that the banks will exercise their
discretionary rights to demand immediate repayment.
The Directors believe that these bank borrowings will
be repaid in accordance with the scheduled repayment
dates set out in the loan agreements.

The following table details the Group's aggregate
principal and interest cash outflows for bank borrowings
repayable on demand without taking into account the
repayment on demand clause. To the extent that interest
flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is
derived from weighted average interest rate at the end of
reporting period.
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Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

AARARRRERE
Weighted
average  On demand Total
effective or within undiscounted Carrying
interest rate Tyear 1-2years 2-5years  >5years  cashflow amount
nEY  EERER LR
BHE gl -FERE  WBEERE Ik HeRE Raf
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARETR  ARBTR  ARBTT  ARBTR  ARETR
Secured bank borrowings with HEREXEREANE
repayable on demand clause: ERBORR:
As at 31 March 2018 R=B-NE
=R=1-H 17 688,164 - - - 688,164 679,500
As at 31 March 2017 RIE-t%
=A=t-A 25 68,122 - - - 68,122 66,448
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44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)
Liquidity risk tables (Continued)

The amounts above include certain variable interest
rate instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities
is subject to change if change in variable interest rates
differ to those estimates of interest rates determined at
the end of the reporting period.

Fair value measurements

Fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2
or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair
value measurements are observable and the significance
of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety,
which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date.

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or
indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

J Level 3 inputs are inputs that are not based on
observable market data (unobservable inputs).

Details of the recurring fair value measurement of the
relevant assets are set out in notes 24, 29 and 43 of these
consolidated financial statements. During the years
ended 31 March 2018 and 2017, these were no transfers
between Level 1 and Level 2, nor transfers into Level 3.

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at
amortised cost in the consolidated statement of financial
position approximate their respective fair values at the
end of the reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
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45. ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF

SUBSIDIARIES

During the years ended 31 March 2018 and 2017, the Group
continued to actively seek for investment opportunities
through acquisitions and has completed several acquisitions
of subsidiaries. Meanwhile, the Group also disposed of several
subsidiaries to concentrate on its core businesses and realise
the Group's property assets through disposal of subsidiaries.

45. WERHENB AT
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SREERE  YSTRREETHBER
Al o [ - AEBIHESR THEB 2RI
FERBROLER - WEBLENBARE
RAEBNYEEE - TRAREZERHZ

The following tables summarised these transactions: B
a. Acquisitions a. g
For the year ended 31 March 2018 HE—_F—-NF=ZBF=+—HIF
E
Percentage Fair value
Name of of interest of purchase Date of Nature of
subsidiary acquired Vendor acquired Principal activity ~ consideration completion acquisition
Wig 2 RE

WEZWEAREE EH ARl TEEH BERBARE SEFk B KM E

Guofu Minfeng An independent 100% Property investment  RMB45,000,000 12 March 2018 Acquisition of
Corporation third party MERE AR®45,000000r =ZZ—-NF assets through
(Yingkou) Co., Ltd. —&BIUE=F =A+=H acquisition of
("Guofu Minfeng") subsidiaries

BEREE? BRKEHRBAR
(BR)ERAT WEEE
(TEERE))

Superior Capital An independent 100% Investment holding  HK$13,724,000 10 November  Business

third party and provision (equivalent to 2017 combination
—ZBUE=H of securities RMB11,157,0000 =—F—+% £BAH
brokerage services 131,724,000 ¢ +—A+H

REER RIRHES

B

(HERARY
11,157,0007T)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

45. ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF 45. WER HEMB AT (£8)

SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

a. Acquisitions (Continued) a.

For the year ended 31 March 2018 (Continued)

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of

Wi (&)

BE—_F—NF=F=1+—HIF
E(&)

REBRRE L EENAE ZAR

acquisition
Guofu Superior

Minfeng Capital Total
BEEREZ et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AR¥TR AR¥T R
Investment properties KEE 61,157 - 61,157

Deposits and other Re & H A pE WRIE
receivables 16,682 42 16,724
Bank balances and cash RITEREIRS 696 3,028 3,724
Trade and other payables B 5 & H A e~ B (33,516) - (33,516)
Tax payable FERTREIE (19) - (19)
45,000 3,070 48,070

The deposits and other receivables acquired in the
acquisition of Superior Capital carried a fair value of
RMB42,000. The gross contractual amounts of those
receivables acquired amounted to RMB42,000 at the date
of acquisition. None of the contractual cash flows are not
expected to be collected at acquisition date.

2017/20184F %k

MU EE Superior Capitald 4238 1%
S REMERFEZARERAR
#42,0007T ° AUREE BB - BUER
ZERBHENBENCBERAR
#42,0007T - TEEARA UGS B AT~ g
WK EMEEEHNRERE ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
by e B

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE—T—\F=A=1—HIFFE

45. ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

a.

45. WIER HEWB QR (&)

Acquisitions (Continued) a. WEBE)
For the year ended 31 March 2018 (Continued) BE—ZT-NF=ZFA=+—HIF
E(&)
Fair value of consideration transferred EHEEREBAAE
Guofu Superior
Minfeng Capital Total
BEERE et
RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000
ARTR ARBTR ARBTR
Cash Be 45,000 11,157 56,157
Gooduwill arising from acquisition of subsidiaries BB BE AR EE 2B
Guofu Superior
Minfeng Capital Total
HEERZ et
RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000
ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR
Fair value of consideration B2#EFENREAAE
transferred 45,000 11,157 56,157
Net assets acquired BEliEFEE (45,000) (3,070) (48,070)
- 8,087 8,087

Goodwill arose in the acquisition of Superior Capital
because it enables the Company to diversify the Group'’s
business in a realm with potential growth opportunity
and the Company considers that the investment in
Superior Capital will provide another source of income
to the Group as the Group will hold the entire equity
interest of Superior Capital. This represents an unique
opportunity for the Company to invest into a quality
company engaging in trading of securities business so
as to diversify its business portfolio. These benefits are
not recognised separately from goodwill because they
do not meet the recognition criteria for identifiable
intangible assets.

None of the goodwill arising on these acquisitions is
expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

Ik f&Superior Capital EERE + R
HAAEUZRARASANEBMNER
ERAABEENRBENEARERE
%Z it - AR RR AR Superior
Capital N REB R A EEHREH S
—WARE  RERAEEEIFE
Superior Capital ) & ZF %1 ° Ik &
RARRABENREURER — FTEJ_
EENNREFTHFEEREBNR
RmLEEZESESTIL - EEI
ZEMNBIFEABANBVEEZ
BRI - AR D R °

BEHZEWEEENHERTSR
REFIER °
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an =P ji%#&% Bﬁ?

For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

45. ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF

SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

45. B R HEWB AR ()

a. Acquisitions (Continued) a. WEB(E)
For the year ended 31 March 2018 (Continued) BE—ZT-—NF=ZFA=1+—HIF
E(#&)
Net cash outflow on acquisitions of subsidiaries for the BHE_Z-N\F=A=+—HIL*F
year ended 31 March 2018 J;HKE%WE AR SR H
Guofu Superior
Minfeng Capital Total
EERZ et
RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR¥T T AR¥TR AR¥T R
Cash consideration paid at HZ-Z—/\%F
31 March 2018 =A=+—82
ReNE (45,000) (11,157) (56,157)
Less: Bank balances and R IRTTREER I
cash acquired BHERS 696 3,028 3,724
(44,304) (8,129) (52,433)

The above acquisitions were made to expand the

Group's property investments and spectrum of financial

services. No material acquisition related costs were
incurred in the acquisitions of Guofu Minfeng and

Superior Capital.

Superior Capital contributed a revenue of RMB369,000
and a loss of RMB515,000 for the period from the date
of acquisition to 31 March 2018. If the acquisition had
been completed on 1 April 2017, total revenue of the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2018 would have
been RMB3,921,601,000 and loss for the year ended 31
March 2018 would have been RMB928,499,000. The pro
forma information is for illustrative purposes only and is

not necessarily an indication of the revenue and results
of the Group that actually would have been achieved had
the acquisition been completed on 1 April 2017, nor is it
intended to be a projection of future results.

2017/20184F %k

P E T AN BT R EEN Y E
BRERGRRGEHE - NKIERS
R X Superior Capital Bl E £
HIE KU HE A BB AN o

BRERBHEE T —\F=H
=-+—BHifE - Superior Capital &
BiA 369,000 T %R AR
# 515000 L5 18 » W E N =
T—+FNA—HBERK BEZ-ZT
—NF=ZA=+—BLFE K&
B XEas AREES3 921,601,000
T mMEBEE-_ZET—NEF=A8
E+t—BLEEENERERARKE
928,499,000 7T © #% & & BHE 4t
FE - WIERMPBERRR —-F
—tHFEMA—BxK  FAEEEE
BRER WG REEEEZER

TMEBIERARREE ZTEA ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
by e B

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE—T—\F=A=1—HIFFE

45. ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF 45. WIER HEMB AR (&)
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
a. Acquisitions (Continued) a. WEBE)
For the year ended 31 March 2017 BE-—ZT—tF=A=1+—HIFE
Percentage Fair value
Name of of interest of purchase Date of Nature of
subsidiary acquired Vendor acquired Principal activity consideration completion acquisition
Wig 2 R
WEzREBLAREE ER ARl FEEH BEREAAE TR AH ¢ 1:31
Yingkou Kunlun Real - Two independent third 100% Property development RMB10,000,000 13 December  Acquisition of
Estate parties MERE AK#10,000,00070 2016 assets through
E0RREHE MEBUE=FH —ENE acquisition of
T-A+ZH  subsidiaries
ARREREAR
WEREE
Hua Tai Jun An An entity controlled by 100% Property development RMB238,376,000 30 March Acquisition of
International Mr. Meng EE ARE238376000 2017 assets through
Development REAR B —T—tF acquisition of
Limited ("HTJA =R=tH subsidiaries
Development”) ARREREAR
EREZAR WEREE
BERARAT
((EREZER])
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e IR AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

45. ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

a. Acquisitions (Continued) a.

For the year ended 31 March 2017 (Continued)

Weig (&)

BE—FE—tF=HA=+—HILFE

45. B R HEWB AR ()

(&)
Assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of RWERKEc EERAEZBE
acquisition
Yingkou Kunlun HTJA
Real Estate Development Total
ENREmEME ERERERE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFIT AREFIT AREF T
Property, plant and W% - BE REE
equipment 346 13,249 13,595
Investment properties EYE — 1,949,934 1,949,934
Properties held for sale FHEHE 2 244,222 - 244,222
Trade and other receivables & 5 & H fh gl 18 247,586 685,704 933,290
Pledged bank deposits BIRERITIER — 364,283 364,283
Bank balances and cash RITEBRRES 63 396 459
Trade and other payables B REMENFIE (69,737) (78,721) (148,458)
Amounts due to vendors ENE R 208 (190,000) (1,600,000) (1,790,000)
Bill payables ARESE - (214,280) (914,280)
Borrowings &=k (222,480) — (222,480)
10,000 420,565 430,565
2017/20184E
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR Rk AT

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE—T—\F=A=1—HIFFE

45. ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

a. Acquisitions (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2017 (Continued)

45. WIER HEWB QR (&)

Wi ()

BE_ZF—tF=A=1t—HILFE
(#&)

Fair value of consideration transferred EHEEREBZANE
Yingkou Kunlun HTJA
Real Estate Development Total
ODEmEME ERTLRRE @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTTT ARETT
Cash Be 200,000 839,055 1,039,055
Deferred consideration EERE = 999,321 999,321
Amounts due from acquirees JEUILUEEH 2

(note) ERE D) (190,000) (1,600,000) (1,790,000)
10,000 238,376 248,376

Note: The amounts represented additional consideration for
assigning the vendor’s amount due from the acquiree to the
Group.

In the opinion of the Directors, because the acquisition
of HTJA Development is a transaction with an entity
controlled by Mr. Meng, the controlling shareholder
of the Group, the excess of the fair value of the
assets acquired and liabilities recognised over the
consideration transferred amounting to RMB 182,189,000
was treated as deemed contribution by the controlling
shareholder.

Ffet - ZeMBRASEEES ) 2 EKHK
Wi 7T 2 SRR BIMRME -

BEERAE ARUBERERER
A — TH BN R B4R AR AR R A ST AR R
HleEENRS BtiEARER
EEWBEERDCHRARGEHA
PEZERENAABEEZEARY
182,189,0007T * tERIZERRE 215
EEAE °
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

45. ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

45. B R HEWB AR ()

a. Acquisitions (Continued) a. WEB(E)
For the year ended 31 March 2017 (Continued) BE—FE—tF=HA=+—HILFE
(%)
Net cash outflow on acquisitions of subsidiaries for the HE-_ZT—+tF=A=+—HLF
year ended 31 March 2017 B U BB A Rl 2 IR & F
Yingkou Kunlun HTJA
Real Estate Development Total
ENEREILE ERERER @it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTT AREBFT ARBTFT
Cash consideration paid at RZZE—tF=A
31 March 2017 =t+—HEftz
BERE (200,000) (839,055) (1,039,055)
Less: Bank balances and w o BHEE 2 RITERR
cash acquired KBEE 63 396 459
Deposits paid in prior year BEREFZMNZ
®Be 20,000 - 20,000
(179,937) (838,659) (1,018,596)
The above acquisitions were made to expand the BB AR EE 2 MER
Group's property development and investment portfolio. BRERELEEMEL - WEEOER
No material acquisition related costs were incurred in MEMERERBELERITEES
the acquisitions of Yingkou Kunlun Real Estate and HTJA BERWEBRE A -
Development.
2017/20184F R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
by e B

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE—T—\F=A=1—HIFFE

45. ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF 45. WER HERB AT (£8)

206

SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

b. Disposals

For the year ended 31 March 2018

b.

HE

BE—FE—-N\F=ZHA=+—HILFE

Percentage
Name of subsidiary of interest Fair value of Date of
disposed of Buyer disposed of  Principal activity disposal proceeds completion
HEZRE
HEZHMBARER Eh Al FEER HERBREZANE RHAH
Zhejiang Linhai An entity controlled by 100%  Production and sale of RMB190,000,000 29 March 2018
ML Mr. Meng turbines, transformers, ~ AR190,000000r  ZE-\E=AZTNA
AR AR B torque converters and
related product
EERBERS  FEER
srEhs I REE
Em
Yingkou Kunlun Real Estate  An independent third 100%  Property Development RMB240,000,000 29 March 2018
ENEREHE party NERE ARB2400000000 —E-NEZA=thH
—LBUE=]
Candice Group An independent third 22%  Trading of electronic RMBS3,656,800 31 October 2017
EENREE party products and applicants ~ AR 3,656,807 ZE—tETA=T-A
—LBUE=] BEESTERREE
Shenyang Baohua Industrial  An independent third 100%  Property investment RMB80,000,000 4 December 2017
Co., Litd. party NERE AEH80000000r  —E—tEt-AMA
EEREEEERAR —LBUE=]
Yangzhou Tairun Photovoltaic ~ An independent third 51%  Production of photovoltaic  RMB5,089,851 16 October 2017
Technology Co., Ltd. party products AR%5,089,8517C ZE—tETATRR
("Yangzhou Tairun") —ZBIE=H EEXRER

BNERERREARAT
(MR )

ANNUAL REPORT 2017/2018
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e IR AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

45. ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF

SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

45. B R HEWB AR ()

b. Disposals (Continued) b. HE&E#E)
For the year ended 31 March 2018 (Continued) HEr—Z—-\F=ZHA=1+—HIEE
(#&)
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was REEGIEZEERABBOWN
lost
Yingkou
Zhejiang Kunlun Candice
Linhai Real Estate Group Others Total
FIER  ENERENE EENHEE R &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETR ARETR ARET T AEETR AEETR
Property, plant and equipment nE - BERRE 47,057 198 75 - 47,330
Deposits for acquisition of an investment property — WE—BRENE ke - - - 37,042 37,042
Properties held for sale RFLE 2R - 281,185 - - 281,185
Inventories FE 47,456 - 90,428 - 137,884
Prepaid lease payments BiEERE 61,027 - - - 61,027
Trade and other receivables B REMERGE 26,455 38,939 104,699 2,225 172,318
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries ERRAZHBARZ2E 266,966 - - - 266,966
Pledged bank deposits BEBRAER 494 - - - 494
Bank balances and cash BOERRES 88 20 7,415 1,618 9,141
Trade and other payables B REMENTIE (23,192) (66,188) (57,615) - (146,995)
Bill payables ERZE (494) - - - (494)
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries ENRZNBARZEE - - (30,180) - (30,180)
Borrowings R (301,491) (136,580) (66,532) - (504,603)
Deferred tax liabilities FRHEEE (13,569) - - - (13,569)
Tax payable iR - - (4,504) - (4,504)
110,797 117,574 43,786 40,885 313,042
g
2017/20185F 3k
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
by e B

For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

45. ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF 45. WER HEWB QT (&)
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
b. Disposals (Continued) b. HE&#E)
For the year ended 31 March 2018 (Continued) e ZE—-N\F=ZBA=1+—HIFE
(#&)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries S B A Rl 2 s
Yingkou
Zhejiang Kunlun Candice
Linhai Real Estate Group Others Total
WIES ENERELE  ZENEEE At @it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AEEFT AEETT ARETR ARETT AEEFT

Cash consideration ReRE 190,000 240,000 3,657 85,090 518,747
Net assets disposed of EHERETE (110,797) (117,574) (43,786) (40,885) (313,042)
Less: Non-controlling interests R = = 21,455 1292 2,747
Add: Goodwill m: 58 (57,238) - - = (57,238)
Add: Fair value of the 29% retained interests 1l : (R&HER29% 7 Ah (& - - 17,615 - 17,615
21,965 122,426 (1,059) 45,497 188,829

Cash flow on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBARIZIRERE

Yingkou
Zhejiang Kunlun Candice

Linhai Real Estate Group Others Total
WIRE ENRREHE  EERLSA Afty #it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT

Cash consideration received ERZE-\F=A=1-

at 31 March 2018 REEBZRERE = = 3,657 85,090 88,747
Bank balances and cash disposed of HEVRTERERS (88) (20) (7.415) (1,618) (9.141)

(88) (20) (3,758) 83472 79,606

As at 31 March 2018, the consideration of RMB240,000,000 RZZE-NF=ZA=+—80 @R
from the disposal of Yingkou Kunlun Real Estate is included HELOEmBEHMECREARE
in deposits and other receivables as the amount is deemed 240,000,000 TR AR E 7 X 2
as a prepayment to the purchaser to set off against the TR FRIE - AR 35 R R SE A AR B
equivalent value of future construction cost payables. NHIBE2EE  WZEETAKS
Details are as set out in note 28. Ko Eo A FEUL IR - B R MIEE28 -
The consideration from the disposal of Zhejiang Linhai EENMIBRBZREARE
of RMB190,000,000 is settled against the amount due 190,000,000 7T 7 58 K 1% 2 fE f~ & #2
to immediate holding company upon completion (note ZAR A FIRIBHEEE (M1 5E53b) ©
53b).
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an =P ji%#&% Bﬁ?

For the year ended 31 March 2018
R T \F=F=+—HIFE
46. OPERATING LEASES
The Group as lessee
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had

commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases which fall due as follows:

£/.«< M\*H‘E
AEBEREEA

RIBESR  AEERBETAIBUE 2 L&
HERNARREREN K ZALEDT

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBETT

Within one year —&F R 21,223 15,575
In the second to fifth year inclusive RE_FEZERF

(BEEREMT) 29,156 6,745

50,379 22,320

As at 31 March 2018, all operating leases are related to
premises with lease terms between 1 to 5 years (2017: 1 to 5
years). The Group does not have an option to purchase the
leased asset at the expiry of the lease period.

The Group as lessor

The Group's investment properties are held for rental or/and
for capital appreciation.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted
with tenants for the following future minimum lease payments:

R-ZE-NF=A=+—H KLHEH
HYEER HRS—FERF(ZT—
F:—FERF) AEERHEHBHIRAL
BRHEECHEENERN -

AEBESHEA

AEBREZMERANEERS S RE
AIEE -

RBEMR - A& lEEﬁiﬁkﬁﬁ/\ﬂfﬁK%
& W) A (KR & 5R0R

2018 2017
—E-N\E —EF—+F
RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBTT

Within one year —F R 18,779 6,703
In the second to fifth year inclusive RE-_FEERF

(BEERRE) 49,093 15,795

After five years AL 132,415 11,592

200,287 34,090

All of the properties held have committed tenants for the next
1to 20 years (2017: 1 to 10 years).

2017/20184F %k

FRBZEMEERAR—FE_TF
(ZF—tF: —F2THF)BBEPAH -
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e IR Rk AT

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE—T—\F=A=1—HIFFE

47. CAPITAL AND OTHER COMMITMENTS 47. EAXRR HAbEHE
2018 2017
—B-N\F —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT
Capital expenditure in respect of MEENERNGEE P EREA
the properties development project RELEEBE2YMEERBERZ
contracted for but not provided in BRI
the consolidated financial statements 962,418 579,513
Capital expenditure in respect of U E KRB EEAERR
the acquisition of plant and equipment eV mR AR R
contracted for but not provided for in BRI
the consolidated financial statements 153,800 54,922
Equity interest of subsidiaries (note 23) P B N RIRRAE (K1 7£23) 1,319,740 =
2,435,958 634,435

As at 31 March 2017, the Group had conditionally agreed
to subscribe and Hareon Solar conditionally agreed to issue
629,629,629 new ordinary shares of HK$1 each in the share
capital of Hareon Solar in an aggregate consideration of
RMB1,700,000,000. The aggregate consideration will be
settled by cash.

On 11 May 2017, the parties to the subscription agreement
were certain that several conditions cannot be fulfilled on
or before the condition fulfilment date and it was uncertain
as to when such conditions can be fulfilled. After careful
consideration of all the circumstances surrounding the
subscription, the Directors decided not to proceed with the
subscription for shares in Hareon Solar.

N-EBE—+&F=A=+—H K&EED
EBRHERERERSEXAREEKER
B EITEE KRR A 629,629,629 (%
BIBTHFEBER  BREAARYE
1,700,000,0007T ° #BREH AR S LT -

R-ZZE—tFRA+—R  ABHHENS
Rl AT RETE & T IR IF S T BE R R 1T E R B
il Z ATER - B ANEERE B B8 R M A (T B
BREK - KEBZEAMABREANME
it BEERETBEAEETRBEEL
REVBR D ©

ANNUAL REPORT 2017/2018



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBmRME

For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

48. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 48. HHEE
At the end of the reporting period, carrying values of Group's R EER - REBEEIFEERAER
assets pledged to secure bill payables and borrowings of the AEFERENZBERERZEEER
Group are as follows: T
2018 2017
—B-N\F —E—+F
RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBETT

Property, plant and equipment ME - BB K ERE 708,470 726,455
Prepaid lease payments A HEERIE 129,634 194,264
Investment properties LB 5,336,830 4,694,812
Properties held for sale HERENDE 2,217,457 1,120,494
Inventories FE 40,513 27,830
Bill receivables FEN = 4,273 90,696
Pledged bank deposits IRITIIR TR 262,823 879,874
Pursuant to a cooperation agreement entered on 20 June BERN-_ZT—t+EA-_+HFIYHE
2017, the Group has pledged its 60% equity interests in Ve REBUFEY M EIREETE
Dongguan New Island Printing Company Limited, a wholly- ERAFASHABRFENREZSIHMNED
owned subsidiary, in favour of Shenzhen City Kaifu Investment RIBR AT (A—RE2EHBAT)60%
Enterprise Company Limited to secure its obligations under HREHE - AEBZE TS EELER -

the agreement.
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e IR Rk AT

For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE
49. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a) Key management personnel remuneration

The remuneration of Directors and other members of key
management personnel during the year were as follows:

49. B

(a)

R5
EEEEAEME
AEEEENHEMBEREEASZ
BT :
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBETT

Short-term benefits 52 HAfE A 21,827 18,084
Post-employment benefits Rz A 104 62
Share-based payments LARRAD 7R B 2 AR - 28,117
21,931 46,263

(b) Transactions with immediate holding company (b) BREEERQTAZRS

The transactions with immediate holding company
during the years ended 31 March 2018 and 2017 are as
follows:

(1) During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group
has disposed its equity interests in Zhejiang Linhai
and Liaoning Yinzhu to certain entities controlled
by Mr. Meng. (note 45).

The consideration from the disposal of Zhejiang
Linhai and Liaoning Yinzhu of RMB190,000,000 and
RMB75,000,000, respectively, are offset against
amount due to immediate holding company (note
45).

(2)  On 30 March 2018, Changzhou Jintan Ruixin
Optoelectronic Co., Ltd. (“Jintan Ruixin”), a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, has entered
into a debt restructuring arrangement with a
private company wholly owned by Mr. Meng and
Changzhou Zhongrong Energy Technology Co.,
Ltd. (“Changzhou Zhongrong”), pursuant to which
Jintan Ruixin agreed to offset the amount due from
Changzhou Zhongrong of RMB85,275,000 with
amount due to immediate holding company.

BE_Z—)\Fk_T—+tF=A8
=t+—HLFE - HEZZEKAF

M

ZRBME

HEZZT-N\F=A=+—H
LEFE  AEEE HEHN
RS R EERROBRETS
F o A a1 2 (T o
45) o

HENTERSREBRKOHR
8% 3 A B # 190,000,000 7t
K A R 75,000,000 7T £ FE 1<
BEEP IR A FOEE 8 (MR
45) o

RZE—-—NF=A=+H &
REA2EWNBAREMNTEE
WM EAR AR ([ 218
X)) 2 B — i = 5T A RN
TR R BB R AR (THM
HE)Z2EHEBNILARER
MEFEEGE - B 218
ImMABARNERZER AT
TRIA 3K FE U N R BRI A
R85,275,0007T °
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

49. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(b) Transactions with immediate holding company
(Continued)

Q)

As at 31 March 2018, impaired idle machineries
with original cost of RMB50,758,000 are transferred
to a related company’s warehouse for temporarily
storage and no fee is charged by the related
company. The related company is a company
controlled by Mr. Meng (note 15).

On 7 December 2017, a related company
controlling by Mr. Meng has provided a financial
guarantee of RMB160,000,000 in favour of the
Group.

On 14 September 2017, a related company
controlling by Mr. Meng has provided a financial
guarantee of RMB210,000,000 in favour of the
Group.

The transactions with immediate holding company
during the year ended 31 March 2017 were as follows:

M

Acquisition of HTJA Development from a company
indirectly controlled by Mr. Meng (the “Vendor"”)
at a consideration of RMB320,000,000. In addition,
the Group also agreed with the Vendor to acquire
the amount due from HTJA Development at a
consideration of RMB1,600,000,000.

As at 31 March 2017, the Group has settled
RMB839,055,000 with the Vendor and the
remaining deferred consideration payable of
RMB1,080,945,000 was recognised in amount due
to immediate holding company (note 45).

The amount due to immediate holding company is
disclosed in note 33.

2017/20184F %k

49. BEARZ (&)

(b)

HERERRARAZRS (H)

©)

H=E
=

—

1)

FEff

5= o

R—_ZE—NF=A=+—8"
R A A A A R 50,758,000 7T
WERERERRCEBE—
MR ARMNEES T + MZ
B AR W ERE - ZEBA
AlBAEALEZES QR (H
£¥15) o

R=ZF—+tF+=A+tA8 -
—HHmEEEEHOERA
AEALAEEREBEARE
160,000,000 7T B BA TS HEAR o

RZFE—+tFNLA+TA -
— B ELEEEHOER A
AEALAEEREARE
210,000,0007T H) BF T5 HE AR o

—E—tF=A=t+—HIF
HEERERARAZZSMT

W F A E BTSN — AR
TEFHKBERELEE
KRB A AR #320,000,0007T °
pEoh + AEBEINERE 7 15 E I
BRKERELERZNE
KE A AR ¥ 1,600,000,000
=

RZE—+ttF=A=+—
A A&EECENARE
839,055,000 T T & H &
BRECEENKREAARE
1,080,945,0007C © BE R A
FE A~ B A A B 2 20E (B
£T45) o

BHERERQ R FIARKEI3R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE—T—\F=A=1—HIFFE

49. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(b) Transactions with immediate holding company

(c)

(Continued)
Provision of facility

As at 31 March 2018, China Huajun Group Limited has
provided a facility of RMB4,000,000,000 to the Group, of
which RMB3,429,188,000 is unused by the Group.

Transactions with Yingkou Coastal Bank Co.,
Ltd. ("Yingkou Coastal Bank")

On 1 November 2016, Mr Meng has attained significant
influence over Yingkou Coastal Bank, a commercial bank
governed by China Banking Regulatory Commission in
the PRC by acquiring 19% interest in Yingkou Coastal
Bank through an entity controlled by Mr Meng and
Yingkou Coastal Bank is considered as a related party of
the Group under HKFRSs. The transactions with Yingkou
Coastal Bank from 1 November 2016 onwards constituted
related party transactions and the bank balances
deposited at Yingkou Coastal Bank and borrowings
obtained from Yingkou Coastal Bank as at 31 March 2018
and 2017 constituted balances with related party.

Balances with Yingkou Coastal Bank

49. BHAERF (&)
(b) HEEERARAZXS(E)

(c)

rRHFERE

RZEBE-NE=ZA=+—H &
HEZEERRAGRERALR
BR#E-—BEERE  RAR®
4,000,000,0007T - & ALK E R
A ARK3,429,188,0007T °

HEOLHBRITROBRAT
([&OHBRITNZXS

RZZE-—RF+—A—HB &"EHE
THI R E RS O mERT(— M
XPERTEEEERZEGHE
ZHREEERIT)IORRE - FE %
EHENNERITEERATFES -
BHREEBMBREEL - 20408
RITWRAREE 2@ - 8=
T-R"FE+—HA—H# @gnon
BRITET IR ZIBRBEH IR S
BEEEOHSRITERZBRITER
KERZZE-NFRZE—tF=
A=+—HBBAZ205ERTESH
B IE A BLER G 77 2 584 o

RE O GIRIT M 2 IRITAEER

2018 2017

—E-N\F T —tF

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR¥T ARETIT

Bank balances and cash RITEHRERS 49,979 16,898
Endorsed bill receivables BEEERKEE 28,470 2,000
Pledged bank deposits IRITHEIPEFR 110,579 723,199
Bill payables ERNRE (431,709) (2,104,835)
Bank borrowings RITIE (1,250,540) (588,370)
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE—T—\F=A=1—HIFFE

49. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(c)

(d)

Transactions with Yingkou Coastal Bank Co.,
Ltd. ("Yingkou Coastal Bank") (Continued)

Transactions with Yingkou Coastal Bank

49. BEAERF ()
() HEEONBHRTBRGAERALA

([&OMBRIT ) 2R 5 (&)

HEERITZXE

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2018 31 March 2017

BZ H=E

—E2-N\F —ET—+F

=A=+—H =A=+—8H

LEFE LEFE

RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR¥T R ARBTIT

Interest income R B A 8,222 973
Interest expense e (86,655) (21,038)
Bank charges RITEH (159) (327)

Banking facilities provided by Yingkou Coastal Bank

As at 31 March 2018, Yingkou Coastal Bank has
granted banking facilities of RMB2,835,710,000
(2017: RMB4,000,000,000) to the Group, of which
RMB1,153,461,000 (2017: RMB2,490,484,000) is unused by
the Group.

Transactions with a listed company in the PRC
and companies controlled by business partners
of Mr. Meng, the controlling shareholder of the
Company

On 6 April 2016, Mr. Meng became the chairman of
Hareon Solar, the shares of which was listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange. Subsequently, Mr. Wu also
become a director of Hareon Solar. In the meantime,
certain companies controlled by business partners of
Mr. Meng have conducted sales and purchase activities
with the Group and Hareon Solar. In the opinions of the
Directors, all of these companies are considered to be
related parties of the Group under HKFRSs.

2017/20184F %k

(d)

E R BIRITIRHEZIRITHE

N-ZB-N\E=A=+—8  &0%
HIRTEMAEBIBHRITHEAR
#£2,835,710,0007c (Z T —+t4F : A
FR#4,000,000,0007T) *© E R ALEEH
i A B A ARK1,153,461,0007T( =
Tt AR¥2490,484,000) °

E-BRPEz LT RAFRER
RALERBRRELENEBRH
EHNRRAZXS

RZFE-RFOARE @ HELEK
REBXRKNERE  ZRARMR
EBEFXZHA LT - Bi& - Rt
ERKRBERERNZES - R
ETHRELENEBBHESNA
AEEAREE MBS RETHE
MREBES EBEZRAR  2H%F
RAERBEEV B REERNGRER
RSB BRTT o
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE—T—\F=A=1—HIFFE

49. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 49. FEE
(Continued)
(d) Transactions with a listed company in the PRC (d)

and companies controlled by business partners
of Mr. Meng, the controlling shareholder of the

Company (Continued)

On 19 July 2017 and 14 September 2017, Mr. Meng and
Mr. Wu resigned as chairman and a director of Hareon
Solar, respectively. Therefore, Hareon Solar is no longer
considered as a related party from 14 September 2017
onwards. However, the Directors considered that Mr.
Meng still has significant influence over the companies
controlled by his business partners, which should be
considered as related parties of the Company.

The transactions with these companies from 6 April 2016
onwards constituted related party transactions and the
balances with these related companies as at 31 March
2018 and 2017 are disclosed as follows:

Balance as at 31 March 2018

R5 (&)

HE-EFRPEz LT ATREBR
RAZRRRELENERBH
BHORRAZRS (&)

R-B—tHFLtATABRER=-F
—tFAATEA > ZEERRS
ERRBESELRERERESR
iz - At BEARE-FT—LF
A+ RESFRE R — B @
7oA BERRAXLENEE
EBBRHEHNRAREFEATE
N A ERAR R R RIK BT o

B-Z-ARFMHARNBREZER
EANXZBRABITZZ IR _-F
—NEFER-_T-—+F=A=+—H
BLEZ S RAR N RV A ER IR AN T ¢

R-ZE-NF=ZF=1+—HZ#Er

Nature of Name of At 31 March At 31 March
balance related party BHLER 2018 2017
RZB-NF RIZ—+F
=ZA=t-B =A=t—H
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
fifet AR®TR ARBTT
Trade receivables #FIE  Hareon Solar ERR (i) - 1,436
Changzhou Zhengxin ~ BMEEHER
New Energy Co., Ltd ~ ARAE (i 65 62,085
Changzhou Zhongrong &M B gL IR RHR
Energy Technology ~ HRAT
Co., Ltd (i) - 56,648
Jiangsu Zhong Xin New TEAEH IR
Energy Co., Ltd BRAT (i) - 35,072
Changzhou Yingli New B EFFT 87
Energy Co., Ltd BRAT (i) - 12,562
Taicang Hairun Solar KB G EARE
Energy Ltd BRAT (i) - 1,981
65 169,784
Prepayments Hareon Solar EER (ii) - 8,100
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

49. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 49. B¥EH X5 (&)

(Continued)

(d) Transactions with a listed company in the PRC (d) E-RBERFAEzETATRBAR
and companies controlled by business partners RAERBRREXENEBRHF
of Mr. Meng, the controlling shareholder of the BHNATDZRB (&)
Company (Continued)

Balance as at 31 March 2018 (Continued) R-ZIE-NF=Z=A=+—H2Z#E&H
(,é%’ii)
Nature of Name of At 31 March At 31 March
balance Eang related party BHLER 2018 2017
RZZB-NF RZ—+F
=ZA=t-A SR=E—E
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
st AR¥TR AREFT
Trade payables ~ ZEH[EMFIE Changzhou Zhongrong #MF EELREHE
Energy Technology BRAH
Co., Ltd (ifi) - 12,679
Jiangsu Zhong Xin New L&A B34
Energy Co., Ltd BRAT (iii) = 18,197
- 30,876
Other receivables ~ HftfEUFKIE Hareon New Energy  /BHHTAREHR
Technology Co., Ltd ~ BRAF] (iv) - 11,000
Changzhou Heng EMTESHA
Ma Photovoltaic RRBER AR
Technology Co., Ltd (iv) - 1
- 11,001
Other payables HiE[IFIE Yingkou Development DE%?*DF S
Zone Zhongtai BERRA
Aluminium Industry
Co., Ltd (v) - 15,000
Liaoning Hareon EERHERE
Industry Co., Ltd BRAHE (v) - 19,834
- 34,834
Finance lease BMEHE Wuan San Jing REmEL
receivables e IR Environment Science  RRRHZRE
and Technology BRAR
Service Co., Ltd (vi) - 102,589
—
2017/20184E
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE—T—\F=A=1—HIFFE

49. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(d) Transactions with a listed company in the PRC
and companies controlled by business partners
of Mr. Meng, the controlling shareholder of the
Company (Continued)

Balance as at 31 March 2018 (Continued)

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

These balances are unsecured, non-interest bearing and
trade-in-nature. The Group generally provides credit term to
these related companies on a case by case basis.

This balance represented advance payments for purchasing of
solar photovoltaic products as agreed by both parties.

These balances were unsecured, non-interest bearing and
trade-in-nature. The related companies generally allow a 30-
60 day credit term to the Group.

These balances were unsecured, non-interest bearing and
repayable on demand. The amounts represented fund
advances provided to the related parties.

These balances were unsecured, non-interest bearing and
repayable on demand. The amounts represented fund
advances received from the related parties.

The finance lease receivables were secured over the leased
assets, mainly machineries and equipment. The principal
amount of the finance lease was RMB120,000,000 and its
carrying amount was interest bearing at 6% per annum and
repayable on 10 July 2019.

49. BEAERF ()

(d)

HE-EFRPEz LT ATREBR
RAZRRRELENERBH
BHORRAZRS (&)

(iv)

(vi)

Y —

E-NFZHA=+—HZ#EE

WEBHRAEER TS EBES
HE - AEE-RERERRFEE
A EHEBARRLERS -

IbEBRRRE T B ERGERE
fn 175 7€ RO TR AR -

IEEHRAEER  THEREBES
ME - HAAR—RETFTAEEIINE
ORMEEH -

UL R RN - Tat B RARE R
B8 - IR R 7 R IEN

UL R AR - Tat B RARER
BIE - %2R R 7 W I

HEmERERKKBUAREEERE
B TEAERRSE - BERE
& 5 A AR % 120,000,000 £
BREEIREF R6%:T 8 XBR =
T-NEFLA+RHEE-
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

49. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 49. BEBAIRZ (&)
(Continued)
(d) Transactions with a listed company in the PRC (d)

and companies controlled by business partners
of Mr. Meng, the controlling shareholder of the

Company (Continued)

Transactions during the year ended 31 March 2018

HE-EFRPEzZ LT ATREBR
RAZRBRRETENEBBH
BHORRZRS (&)

BE—_F—NF=F=1+—HIF

(Continued) ERX5 (&)
Year ended Year ended
Nature of Name of 31 March 31 March
transaction REUE related party o)y 2018 2017
BZE BE
—E-N\F S 3
=ZA=t-B =A=t1—H
LEE IEFE
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
fifet AR®TR ARBTT
Sales of solar  $HEXGAZKI Jiangyin Hareon Solar PRS- PN
photovoltaic ER Power Co., Ltd ENERAH (i) 102,577 3,797
products Jurong Zhongyou ABRRAR
Photovoltaic MEBRAT
Technology Co., Ltd (i) - 82,397
Jiangsu Zhong Xin New  JTERFREH R
Energy Co., Ltd BRAR (i) 44,413 426,842
Hareon Solar BN (i) 3,865 1,290
Changzhou Zhongrong &M HEEESR
Energy Technology MEBRAT
Co., Ltd (i) 9,236 354,257
Changzhou New Energy — ®JiI3T8EIR
Co., Ltd BRAH (i) - 10,443
Changzhou Zhengxin EMEREHR
New Energy Co., Ltd ARRAE (i) 3,023 303,836
Changzhou Yingli FMERETRER
New Energy Co., Ltd ARRAE (i) 6,880 203,905
169,994 1,386,767
B e ool
2017/2018% 4R B>
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE—T—\F=A=1—HIFFE

49. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 49. BERR 5 (&)

(Continued)

(d) Transactions with a listed company in the PRC (d) H—BERFBEzZLTAARER
and companies controlled by business partners RAERBRREXENEBRME
of Mr. Meng, the controlling shareholder of the BHNATDZRB (&)
Company (Continued)

Transactions during the year ended 31 March 2018 BE—ZE-—NF=ZA=+—HIF
(Continued) ERX5 (&)
Year ended Year ended
Nature of Name of 31 March 31 March
transaction REUE related party o)y 2018 2017
BE BE
“Z-N\F “EtF
ZA=t-B =A=t—H
LEE IEFE
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
fitst AR®TT ARBTT
Purchase of solar A8 Jiangsu Zhong Xin New L& ?%ﬁ
photovoltaic FIRE @ Energy Co., Ltd BR T (ii) (65,175) (461,453)
products Changzhou Zhongrong &/ EbREIRRHR
Energy Technology ARRA
Co., Ltd (ii) - (376,750)
Changzhou Zhengxin New # /M IEEH8ER
Energy Co., Ltd ARAR (ii) - (180,222)
Changzhou Yingli New  ®MEFIF LR
Energy Co., Ltd ARAR (ii) - (29,954)
Otisway Energy (Taicang) BAsET# LR
Co., Ltd (RR)ARRDA (i) (73,454) -
Jiangyin Xinhui Solar TREE ARG
Energy Co., Ltd ARAR (ii) (5,864) -
Hareon Solar SyE WA (i) (27,301) =
Jiangyin Hareon Solar PRy EVNE T
Power Co., Ltd ENBRALHE (i) (3,031) -
(174,825) (1,048,379)
Processing MIRBEER Changzhou Zhongrong  EMAEEEEFERIE
service fees Energy Technology ARRA
Co., Ltd (iii) - (20,456)
Jiangsu Zhong Xin New  TEHEH AR
Energy Co., Ltd ARRA (iii) - (23,499)
- (43,955)
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

49. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

49. BEARZ (&)

HE-EFRPEzZ LT ATREBR
RAZRBRRETENEBBH
BHORRZRS (&)

(d) Transactions with a listed company in the PRC (d)
and companies controlled by business partners
of Mr. Meng, the controlling shareholder of the
Company (Continued)

Transactions during the year ended 31 March 2018 BE—ZE-—NF=ZA=+—HIF
(Continued) ERX5 (&)
Year ended Year ended
Nature of Name of 31 March 31 March
transaction RHUE related party o)y 2018 2017
BZ BE
—E-N\F “TtF
ZA=t-B =A=t—H
HEE HFE
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
izt ARETR AREFT
Finance lease  BEMEYWA  Wuan San Jing RETELER
income Environment Science B RBERAA
and Technology
Service Co., Ltd (iv) - 9,555
Loan interest EZFEWA  Hareon Solar BRIk
income (v) - 2,848
Notes: Bifat -
0] Solar photovoltaic products are sold to these related (i) R FE A A R & KGR IKE R

ZBRI2RM S ISERGELE
EHRE -

companies at a price agreed by both parties by reference to
the price available in the market.

fett SRR A BRB ARG RN
2 EBR 2RISR SERGIER
KEHAE -

(i) Solar photovoltaic supplies are purchased from these related (if)
companies at a price agreed by both parties by reference to
the price available in the market.

(iii)

(iv)

2017/20184F %k

The amounts represent processing service fees at a price
agreed by both parties.

The finance lease income was received from the related
company at 6% per annum.

The loan interest income was received from the related
company at 8% per annum.

(i) REFRAENEEFENNIREE

e -

(ivy BEHERANEF RS EEEA
AIUER o

(v) B F SR AAFF L% mAERMEA
AIUER o

221



222

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR Rk AT

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE—T—\F=A=1—HIFFE

49. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(d) Transactions with a listed company in the PRC
and companies controlled by business partners
of Mr. Meng, the controlling shareholder of the

Company (Continued)

Financial guarantees provided to Hareon Solar

(i)  On 19 October 2016, the Group entered into
a financial guarantee in favour of China Cinda,
pursuant to which the Group agreed to provide
a financial guarantee in respect of obligations
and liabilities of Hareon Solar and Jiangyin
Hareon Solar Energy Electrical Power Co., Ltd.
under restructuring documents in the amount of
approximately RMB383,361,000 (the “Guarantee”).
On the same date, Mr. Meng also entered into a
personal guarantee in favour of the China Cinda
to provide financial guarantee for the same

obligations and liabilities.

In order to protect the interest of the Group against
any loss which might be suffered by the Group
under the Guarantee, Hareon Companies entered
into a counter indemnity in favour of the Group
pursuant to which Hareon Companies agreed to,
among other matters, indemnify the Group for
its liabilities and loss which may arise from the

Guarantee.

The Group had recognised a financial guarantee
contract at fair value of RMB44,281,000 at the date
of providing the Guarantee. The financial guarantee
liability was amortised over the financial guarantee
period. The Group has recognised amortisation
of financial guarantee contracts amounting to
RMB22,190,000 (2017: RMB9,481,000) for the year

ended 31 March 2018 (note 8).

(i)  On 4 May 2016, the Group had provided a
corporate guarantee of RMB22,990,000 to secure a
banking facility granted to a subsidiary of Hareon
Solar. Subsequently on 19 January 2017, the Group
further increased the maximum guaranteed amount
to RMB77,000,000. As at 31 March 2017, the Group
had not recognised liabilities in respect of the
above guarantee issued because the fair value of

this guarantee was insignificant.

(d)

4

49. EEH

X5 (%)

E-BRPEz Em AR RER
RAERBRREEENEBRH
BHNRBRZRS (&)

R R HA FEIER

(i)

R_ZE—X"F+A+hIB &
EENPREEASTARL
—MBER Bt AEE
BEREBEEANMY - BFE
RETIRREBEAREE HER
AAIMEMT R B BERENB
PR 4 A R ¥ 383,361,000 7T
(TZER]D) - BB » BALETS
AR Bz iE AT AR EA
ER - UBRERNETNEaE
RIS ER o

AREASENFE - 2RR
BRERMEREEEER
EREX - BEHARNAAREE
REBARI L —ARARBE
Bk BEARRE(EGE
) R E B R Z YRR T AT BE
EENABERIBREHRE -

AEBRREZERBHE
BERAAREER —HARE
44,281,000 7T /) Bf 15 £ R &
4 - ZUEEREABRYIEE
REAEESS - B E-T—N\E=
A=+—RHLLFE "EEE
ROV EERENEHEAA
R #22190,000 T ( =& —+
£ AR#9481,0007T ) (Fff 5%
8) e

RZEBE—XRFRAMAB ' &
EEREBEAAERARE
22,990,0007T * JAFEIR I B
R — BB A B ER—18
RITHME - BRERN_ZF—+
F—A+hB KEBE—
TIREEERBEEARE
77,000,0007T e RZZE—t4F
ZA=1+—8 ' AR HERD
ARABEITEKX  AEEIT &
FEL EMERMERAE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

49. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 49. B H R 5 (&)
(Continued)

(d) Transactions with a listed company in the PRC (d) E—ERPBEzZLETARARER

and companies controlled by business partners
of Mr. Meng, the controlling shareholder of the
Company (Continued)

Financial guarantees provided to Hareon Solar
(Continued)

The Directors are of the opinion that the financial
condition of the borrowers have significantly
deteriorated with certain of their debts are default in
payment. The Directors considered that it is probable
the creditors will demand the Group to settle the
outstanding principal and interest of the subject debts
under the financial guarantee provided by the Group.

On 26 June 2018, three statutory demands were served
on the Company by a creditor to demand the Company
to settle the three outstanding debts totalling of
RMB278,153,000 pursuant to the financial guarantee
contract. The Company is in the course to engage legal
advisors in assisting the Company in reviewing the
statutory demands and/or negotiating with the creditor
in respect of the debts.

The Group has recognised a financial guarantee
provision of RMB496,793,000 which is the Directors’
best estimation on the probable cash outflow on the
obligations of the financial guarantee contracts.

Mr. Meng is also a guarantor of one of the financial
guarantee contracts with a guarantee amount of
RMB383,361,000. The Group is in process of discussing
with Mr. Meng in the settlement of the claims. (note 35).

Financial guarantees received from Hareon Solar

On 29 September 2016, the Hareon Solar had provided
a corporate guarantee of RMB1,600,000,000 to secure a
banking facility granted to the Group.

Loan restructuring arrangement

On 31 December 2016, the Group had entered into a
loan restructuring agreement with Hareon Solar and
a company controlled by Mr. Meng. Pursuant to the
agreement, the Group had assigned net receivables of
RMB63,396,000 due from Hareon Solar group to Yingkou
Huajun Jincheng Investment Co., Ltd., which is an entity
controlled by Mr. Meng.

2017/20184F %k

DRAERBRRE R ENEBRBHF
BHORBRZRS (&)

BAEEARBHIBIER (B)

EERR/ERANTBANNEER
1t TMEREEFETER  EFR
RERE AR BE R ESRKANSKEI{E A
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RAEERNAE RFE
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BREABREBMEEREY  AAR
AIKEZITATERERE X
AARERNZIARE  aHAAR
#278,153,0007C - KA AIIRIEER
EEEER B ARREREEE
KEBENR S HEERARZESE
TEHEITRER ©

AEBEBERVBEREBEARE
496,793,0007T ' BT EREES
EREHNEANEERSREANR
ESEE

BEENABER —HUMKERE
HMPERA  EReBEAARE
383,361,0007C » AEFHIR IFHEF
EERBNZERRETwm (K
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K E BB RBBIER
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EAARRAEEERHETR
BEHER RE—BBAREK
1,600,000,0007C A A BIHELR °

EXELZH

R-ZZE—RE+-_A=+—A0 " K
SEREEEXAE—MBAHAZTLE
RN AR L EREA D
BEZHE  AEBEESRERS
HAREBZERFEFEARE
63,396,0007C T d Sc A IR HIl B A2 &
OEZSRLEFR AR °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR Rk AT

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE—T—\F=A=1—HIFFE

49. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(d) Transactions with a listed company in the PRC

(e)

and companies controlled by business partners
of Mr. Meng, the controlling shareholder of the
Company (Continued)

Share subscription

On 18 January 2016, the Group entered into a
subscription agreement with Hareon Solar, pursuant to
which the Group conditionally agreed to subscribe and
Hareon Solar conditionally agreed to issue 629,629,629
new ordinary shares of HK$1 each in the share capital
of Hareon Solar in an aggregate consideration of
RMB1,700,000,000. The aggregate consideration will
be firstly settled by the fair value of the entire 100%
equity interest of a subsidiary of the Company and the
remaining balance will be settled by cash.

On 4 January 2017, Hareon Solar proposed to revise
the subscription agreement, pursuant to which the
consideration for the subscription has been changed
from the combined consideration to cash consideration
only.

On 11 May 2017, the parties to the subscription
agreement were certain that several conditions cannot
be fulfilled on or before the condition fulfilment
date and it was uncertain as to when such conditions
can be fulfilled. After careful consideration of all
the circumstances surrounding the subscription, the
Directors decided not to proceed with the subscription
for shares in Hareon Solar.

Related party transactions and balances with
associates

Financial guarantees provided to an associate

On 24 February 2017, the Group had provided a
corporate guarantee of RMB50,000,000 to secure a
banking facility granted to Liaoning Yinzhu. As at 31
March 2017, the Group had not recognised liabilities in
respect of the above guarantee issued because the fair
value of this guarantee was insignificant.

Balance with an associate
As at 31 March 2017, the Group had a payable of

RMB21,372,000 with Hareon New Materials, an associate
of the Group (note 25).

49. BHAERF (&)
(d) E—BRPEZETATREE

(e)

RAERBRREEENEBRH
BHNRBRZRS (&)

R 1720

AEBER-_ZE—XRNF—A+NH
BB IRET LR E W - H L
AEBEKGREREmMSRE K
BGRB8 17629,629,629 K /& 8
S AR RS AN AR B %1 7 T R FT E R AR
# KRB A ARH1,700,000,0007T °
BREBEAKRDT —FEHBERQ A
ZEE100% BAERZZ AR EE
- MBFTAGABEEN -

R-ZB—tF-—AWEA - BELRK
EEREFRABHE - B RER
BEAGHAEEZERRSNRE -

R-ZB—tFHEA+—B  RER
#ZEI T B EE TR ERE R
fhiEEpk BBk 2 BT A - 3 A RE
TE fr] B BE S A % R A - R AP A
ZEEAMRBBOMERBRN  BFR
ENEETRE SRR

HBRE AT CHAB LIRS k&S

BB E N R R EER

R-ZEBE—+E_A-+mWB K&
= 12 4 A Al &R A K ¥ 50,000,000
T AESEERRER -8R
BmE R _T—+tF=A=+—
B HRERNAABITEK
AEBIWEFREL FERMER
afE-

H— B2 R A2

R-ZZE—+F=A=+—8 #&X&E
EEMAER — BB Z QB8 EHT
MR FRIE A R #21,372,000 7T (Bt 5
25) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

49. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

49. BEARZ (&)

(Continued)

(f) Related party transactions and balances with
other related parties

The Group had the following transactions with other

() BREMBEBTZEABLIXSERE

=3

F A& B BH A BE B 5 B9 R 5 40

related parties during the year: g
Nature of Name of
balance EamnE related parties BHLER 2018 2017
—E-N\F S 3
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
fifet AR®TR ARBTT
Loan receivables EKEFRK  Yingkou Huaxin BOZEEE
and interest FEUFI S Industrial Co., Ltd. BRAOFE
receivables (“Yingkou Huaxin") ([&0EE]) (i) - 118,741
Yingkou Huarong EOERMEE
Industrial Co., Ltd. AR AT
("Yinkou Huarong”) =ES=0) (ii) - 141,599
- 260,340
Other HAEYHRIE  Liaoning Fubon Real REEARME
receivables Estate Development FEARAR
Co., Ltd (iii) 6,700 6,700
Notes: Ftat -

(i)

(if)

(i)

2017/20184F 3k

The amount was secured by the entire equity interest of
the borrower and is interest bearing at 18% per annum and
repayable on 24 June 2018. Yingkou Huaxin is a shareholder
of Changzhou Zhongrong Energy Technology Co., Ltd, a
company controlled by business partners of Mr. Meng and
conducted sales and purchase activities with the Group and
Hareon Solar, so it was considered as a related party of the
Group.

The amount was secured by the entire equity interest of
the borrower and is interest bearing at 18% per annum and
repaid during the year ended 31 March 2018. On 24 March
2017, Huajun Culture Tourism (Liaoning) Co., Ltd., a company
controlled by Mr. Meng, acquired the entire equity interest of
Yingkou Huarong, so it was considered as a related party of
the Group from the date onwards.

The amount is unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable
on demand. A director of the Company has control over this
company.

(i)

(iii)

ZERIMETT R BAE(EER - RF
ME18%T B RAR =T —N\FRA
“THREE - EOEERAEMTE
BERMBEERARZER(—FHh&
REMEBBHIZFZAR) L&
AEE BB RETIHE RIRBE
B EULERR A EE L B

ZERIMETT B R BAE(EER - IRF
MEIB%A B RERBE_T—/\F
ZRA=+—HLEFEHEE N2
—tF=A-+TWB - EFRELKRE
(BE)BRAR(—MA&REEE
2R WS OER 2 25
Eit B3 B AR LR G AR EE 2
B

ZE R AEEM - Tat B RARER
BE - AR —BEFTHEAZAT
A HIl4E o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR Rk AT

For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

50. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING

FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,
classified in the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows

as cash flows from financing activities.

50.

METDEE2EBEZHER

TERAMARTASERETHEL A
Bz28 BERASIIFRCEY -
BRPELZAEBN RS REEENK
AXRREREBEARESRAREAE
RADERBERDRESREZARE -

Amount
due to
immediate Amount due
holding  Corporate ~ Convertible Bl Dividend toan
Borrowings  company bonds bonds  payables  payables  associate Total
EfER
ERAR AF B FEf Eff Ef-8
EE ZHE &% % 34 e BEATRE it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT  ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETR  ARETRT  ARETR
At 1 April 2017 RZE-t4EMmA-A 3,120,356 999,321 243,161 218931 1,027,391 - 21312 5,690,538
Cash inflow (outflow): RERA(R) :
Proceeds from borrowings ESHRERE 2,784,852 = = = = = - 2784852
Repayment of borrowings BRET (785,388) - - - - - - (785,388)
Repayment of bill payables ~ EEERERE - - - - (673,930) = = (673,930)
Interest paid ERfE (359,867) - (16,134) (24,390) - - - (400,391)
Proceeds from issue of RmhRESRRS
convertible bonds Er) S = = 486,180 = = = 486,180
Proceeds from issue of EIRRGESHERE
corporate bonds S = 50,902 = = = = 50,902
Repayment of corporate bonds  BEAAER S = (24.390) = = = = (24,390)
Payment of transaction costs for ¥ {%{TT 1k E%
issue of convertible bonds ZRBHR S = = 4,706) = = = (4,706)
Payment of transaction costs for XEAARESZ
issue of corporate bonds RHMAR S = (4,43) = = = = (4,438
Repayment to immediate BEFERERAR
holding company S (999.321) = = = = = (999.321)
Advance from immediate REERERAEZ
holding company 8 S 805,812 = = = = = 805,812
Repayment to an associate ERT-HBEAT - - - - - - 21372) (21,372)
Dividend paid to non-controlling B —FHBA R
shareholders of a subsidiary 2R EZRE S = = = = (2,667) = (2,667)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBmRME

For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

50. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 50. MEEEEE BB ZHER
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (Continued) (%)

Amount
due to
immediate Amount due
holding  Corporate  Convertible B Dividend toan
Borrowings  company bonds bonds  payables  payables  associate Total
BHER
BRAA 28 [k Jeft Bt EG-E
R LHE &% &% £ RS BELRME Lh
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AR®TR  ARBTR ARBTR ARMTR ARMTr ARMTR ARMTR ARETR

Non-cash transactions: FReRG
Recognition of deemed BRRETE

contribution - (50,812) - - - - - (50,812)
Reversal of deemed contribution EEE{ET4 - 65,766 - - - - - 65,766
Net foreign exchange gain MEWETE (21,163) 33,651 (22,017) (22,989) 4,625 - - (27,893)
Disposal of subsidiaries HENBAR (504,603) - - - - - - (504,603)
Finance costs §BER 359,866 15,858 29177 61,692 260 - - 466,853
Change in fair value of ThRES

convertible bonds NMEES

- derivative component - TSR - - - 74,484 - - - 74,484
Dividends ) - - - - - 2,667 - 2,667
Debt restructuring EHER - (85,275) - - - - - (85,275)
Disposal of asubsidiaryand ~ HE-EHBATR

an associate —AkE R - (265,000) - - - - - (265,000)
At 31 March 2018 RZE-N\E=A

St 4,594,053 520,000 256,265 849,208 358,346 - - 6577872
2017/2018%5 5K 227
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR Rk AT

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE—T—\F=A=1—HIFFE

51. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 March
2018 and 2017 are disclosed as follows:

AR ETEMBERARR T —

51. ARABEEMMB AT 2FE

—tF=ZRA=+—HZHBRERT :

Place of Principal Issued and fully
incorporation/  place paid share/ Effective equity interest
Name of subsidiary establishment  of business registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
e/ BRTRAR
WEARER kit ITEXHE  RO/EMEX AAAEREERE TEXH
Indirectly Indirectly
;3 ik
2018 2017
—2-0\F “EtF
Bao Hua Properties Management ~ PRC PRC RMB100,000,000 100% 100% Property investment and
(China) Limited (note a) HE e AK#100,000,0007T investment holding
REEXER(PAERAA (Hita) MERERREER
Bao Hua Properties (Jiangsu) Co., Ltd. PRC PRC RMB100,000,000 80% N/A" Property development
(formerly known as Yangzhou el EF AK%100,000,0007 TER NERE
Bao Hua Jianfeng Real Estate
Limited) (note b)
REBE(THRERAAMBANRE
BEERARMA) (Wib)
Bao Hua Properties Development ~ PRC PRC RMB200,000,000 100% 100% Property development and
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (formerly i i AR 200,000,000 investment
known as Shanghai Baohua NERERRE
Wanlong Real Estates Company
Limited) (note b)
REFWERE(LBARZAGR
LEREBRERARAT)(Hib)
Bao Hua Properties (Dalian) PRC PRC RMB21,000,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Co., Ltd. (note b) el hE AR 21,000,000 RERR
RENE(RE)BRRA(HZD)
Bao Hua Properties (Yingkou) PRC PRC RMB20,000,000 100% 100% Property development
Real Estate Co., Ltd. (noteb) i AR E20,000,0007C mERE

REBE(EN)EXARDA (Hitb)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARE BTSRRI RE
For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

51. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

1. A2 RARAETEMB AR Z+15

(&

N—

Place of Principal Issued and fully
incorporation/  place paid share/ Effective equity interest
Name of subsidiary establishment  of business registered capital held by the Company  Principal activities
i/ ERORAE
HELREE RIBE ITEEME  RO/EREX ARARKEERE IERH
Indirectly Indirectly
[}:3 i3
2018 2017
I A T 2
Chenzhou Sonic Manufacturing PRC PRC US$1,000,000 100% 100% Provision of subcontracting
Company Limited (note a) i B 1,000,000 services to a fellow
BMENSIRERAR (Hia) subsidiary for paper and
packaging products
RA-HRZHELAREERR
BRERNDBRE
Changzhou Jintan Ruixin PRC PRC RMB100,000,000 100% 100% Manufacturing and sales of
Optoelectronic Co, Ltd. (note b) i AR100,000,0007C solar control equipment,
BT RN EER AR (Hitb) monocrystalline silicon
wafers, polycrystalline
silicon, solar cells, coated
glass, rare metals, solar
modules and silicon
materials and related
products
RERHEAGRIHRE E
RN SRE - AGRE
b BERE RELE -
KB R REEM LA R B
BER
Dalian Haitong Properties PRC PRC RMB600,000,000 100% 100% Property development and
Development Co,, Ltd. (noteb) i AR 600,000,007 investment
REERFHEREERAA (Hitd) NEFRERKE
Dalian Taiyuan Properties PRC PRC RMB186,300,000 100% 100% Property development and
Development Co,, Ltd. (noteb) i AR 186,300,000 investment
RERTERERERRAA (Hitd) NEFRERKE
Dongguan New Island Printing PRC PRC HK$162,000,000 100% 100% Production and distribution of
Company Limited (note a) i i 162,000,000 paper products
REFMEIRIERAR (HiZa) EERD H4ST

2017/20184F 3k
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR Rk AT

For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

51. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Place of Principal Issued and fully

ZK:&
(42

\/

AEEMB AR ZFE

incorporation/  place paid share/ Effective equity interest
Name of subsidiary establishment  of business registered capital held by the Company  Principal activities
i/ ERTRAE
HELRER R IEEENY  RO/HERER ALARBRERRE TEXH
Indirectly Indirectly
[}:3 173
2018 2017
ZR-NE CER4F

Huajun Big Hotel Ltd (formerly PRC PRC RMB50,000,000 100% 100% Provision of food service,
known as Yingkou Royal el i AR #50,000,0007C commercial service and
Lakes Garden Health and accommodation
Wellness Centre Co. Ltd.) (note b) REEEHRE - BERBREE

FENEERRAR(MBEOEAE
BB O ERAT) (Kith)

Huajun Capital Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$50,000,000 100% 100% Securities investments

FEEABRAA &b Bt 50,000,007 ErRE

Huajun Credit Services Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100% Money lending

FREERBERAA &b Bt 10,0004 7 &

Huajun Energy Group Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$150,000,000 100% 100% Investment holding, trading
(formerly known as Huajun &% b 150,000,0007C and logistics
Logistic Company Limited) RERR  BSROR

ZRRREEARLA
(MBZENRBRAA)

Huajun Financial Group Limited Cayman Islands  Hong Kong US$10,000 100% 80% Investment holding and
(formerly known as Huajun HEHS BE 10,000%T securities investments
Financial Ho\dmgs Limited) RERRRERRE

2EEREEARAA
(MEZRERE Hxﬁ RAR)

Shenzhen Huajun Financial Leasing ~ PRC PRC US$50,000,000 70% 70% Provision of financial leasing
Limited ("Huajun Leasing") (note ¢) A& i 50,000,000% 7 and associated services

MImEERERERRAH RUERERERABRS
([EZHE ) (Wic)

Huajun Management Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$100 100% 100% Provision of management

ERERARAA B BB 1007 services to group

companies

REELARKEERE
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e IR AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

51. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

ZK:&
(42

\/

AEEMB AR ZFE

Place of Principal Issued and fully
incorporation/  place paid share/ Effective equity interest
Name of subsidiary establishment  of business registered capital held by the Company  Principal activities
i/ ERTRAE
HELREE R IEEENY  RO/HERER ALARBRERRE TEXR
Indirectly Indirectly
[}:3 173
2018 2017
ZR-NE CER4F
Huajun Power (Changzhou) Limited ~ PRC PRC RMB100,000,000 100% 100% Production and sale of
(formerly known as Hareon Solar ~ FEL B AR #100,000,00070 photovoltaics products,
Energy) (Changzhou) Limited monocrystalline silicon,
(note b) solar stent and related
ZZEN(EM)AERR products
(R R AR ?EJJ( M) TERHERRER  ERER
BRAR)(Ab) AEEZRAREBER
Huajun Properties (Dalian) PRC PRC RMB8,000,000 100% 100% Property development and
Co., Ltd. (note b) H w AR%8,000,0007 investment
FREX(NE)BRAAKED) NEFERKE
Huajun Power Technology (Jiangsu) ~ PRC PRC RMB200,000,000 100% 100% Production and sale of
Limited (formerly known as Huajun i AR #200,000,00070 photovoltaics products
Power (Ju Rong) Limited) (note b) monocrystalline silicon,
ERBIMROIE)ARAR (AR Solar stent and related
EREN(9R)ERAA)(Hitb) products
TERBERRER  ESR-
AR R ERER
Huajun Equity Investment Fund PRC PRC RMB30,000,000 100% 100% Fund management
Management (Shenzhen) Limited i AR#30,000,00070 HEEEE
(note a)
FERERAESRR(MERAR
(Hita)
Sl
2017/20184 3R 231




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR Rk AT

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE—T—\F=A=1—HIFFE

51. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

1. A2 RARAETEMB AR Z+15

(/I‘/%:E

N—

Place of Principal Issued and fully
incorporation/  place paid share/ Effective equity interest
Name of subsidiary establishment  of business registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
L/ BRTRAR
WEARER it IEEXHE  RO/EMEX AAAEREERE IEXK
Indirectly Indirectly
;3 ik
2018 2017
—2-0\F “EtF
Jiangsu Zhong Xiang Energy PRC PRC RMB150,000,000 100% 100% Manufacturing and sales of
Co., Ltd. (note b) HE e AR 150,000,000 solar control equipment,
&R A RER AR (Hztb) monocrystalline silicon
wafers, polycrystalline
silicon, solar cells, coated
glass, rare metals, solar
modules and silicon
materials and related
products
HERRERGRIEHRE &
Blih 28 AG#E
b EERE - RELE
REaeRE REM A BB
BEm
Liaoning Bao Hua Properties PRC PRC RMB42,000,000 100% 100% Property development
Development Co,, Ltd. (noteb) = AE#42,000,0007 MERE
REREEHEREERLA (WD)
New Island Management Services  Hong Kong Hong Kong US$1,000,000 100% 100% Investment holding
Limited & i 1,000,000%7 RERRK
MNERRBARAA
New Island Printing Company Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$200 ordinary shares 100% 100% Investment holding and
MR BR AR & i and HK$1,000,000 distribution of paper
non-voting deferred products
shares RERRRAHART
200 TR EBRE
1,000,000 7
ERTREL
)

ANNUAL REPORT 2017/2018



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

51. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

1. ARRETEWB QR ZF1E
(42

OF THE COMPANY (Continued) )
Place of Principal Issued and fully
incorporation/  place paid share/ Effective equity interest
Name of subsidiary establishment  of business registered capital held by the Company  Principal activities
AL/ BRTRAR
MEARER RUBE ITEENY  RO/ERER AAREREERE TEEK
Indirectly Indirectly
;3 ik
2018 2017
—2-0\F “EtF
New Island (Shanghai) Paper Products PRC PRC US$2,500,000 100% 100%  Production of paper products
Co. Ltd (note a) G B 2,500,000% 7T FESHR
M E8) S ARAR(Hifa)
NITNS LLC The US The US 100 ordinary shares of 51% 51% Provision of marketing services
%8 % US$1 each RETSRERS
100B&R 18
il
Shanghai Huajun Chemical, Ltd. PRC PRC RMB100,000,000 100% 100%  Investment holding, trading
(note a) G B AE100,000,0007 and logistics
LEERIIARRA (Hia) REERR  BHRIR
Shanghai Huajun Rubber Technology PRC PRC RMB30,000,000 60% 60% Trading of rubber and
Co., Ltd (note b) i = AK#30,000,0007 products
LEEEBBHURARAR WD) BBRIERES
Shanghai New sland Packaging PRC PRC US$5,700,000 100% 100% Production and distribution of
Printing Co Ltd (note a) g i 5,700,000 paper products
LEANBEIRERAR (Hita) EERDHART
United Securities Limited (formerly  Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$29,500,000 100% 100% Brokerage
known as Hong Kong eCapitalist. ~ &7 X 29,500,007 R
com (Asia) Lim\'ted)
BEEFERARMBEHREAGN
ARAT)
Yingkou Xiang Feng Properties PRC PRC RMB50,000,000 100% 100% Property development
Company Limited (note b) e i AR50,000,00070 nERE

BOAEEXARDA (Hitb)

2017/20184F 3k
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE—T—\F=A=1—HIFFE

51. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES  51.
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Note: For those subsidiaries established in the PRC, their classification of

establishment is as follows:

(@)  wholly foreign owned enterprise
(b)  domestic invested company
(c) sino-foreign enterprise

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in
the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results
or assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries
would, in the opinion of the Directors, result in particulars of

excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the

end of the year.

The table below shows details of Huajun Leasing, the only
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Group at 31 March 2018

and 2017 that have material non-controlling interest:

Proportion
of ownership
interests and

ARBEEMBRR ZFH1F

(&

ffex - ZEMBRBATIRPBEKYT - ERIZHD R
W

N—

(@) SIEBEDLE
(b) WERH

(@ HIEERE

EERR - ERAIIZAKENBRR
HARBEZRENEERTEFZE -BEF
R BEMMBRE 2 FH1E5 LK AR
TR °

BENEARNFERBETEMEBES °

TRIIR-ZBE-NFR_ZE—LF=A
=t BAEEREAERFFERBREER
ZHE—REMBRAREEZEE 2 FI15

(Loss) profit
allocated to

Place of voting rights non-controlling Balance of
incorporation held by interests for non-controlling
and principal non-controlling the year ended interest as
Name of subsidiary place of business interest 31 March at 31 March
BZ=A=1t—-AH
FERRRES LFEEABRT R=A=+—H
S BR 3L i 2 BFEZBEER FERRRES ZHERRR
MEARER TEEEWY RERELL G 2 (E#8) &7 R
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBFT
2018
—AS
Huajun Leasing PRC 30% (2,093) 111,469
¥FEHE aal=
2017
—T—tF
Huajun Leasing PRC 30% 13,830 113,562
¥EHE el
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

51. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Summarised consolidated financial information prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs before intragroup eliminations in
respect of the subsidiary that has material non-controlling

interest is set out below.

N—

m.ﬁgﬂi%%%ﬂﬁZﬁ%

BRBAERFFERR R R ZHE AR
REFBVBHRER LR 2 EE AR Y
HATZSRA M B RRMEFHIIAT -

Huajun Leasing

EEHE

2018 2017

—E-N\F S

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR¥T R ARETIT

Non-current assets EMENEE 19.721 289,720

Current assets MENEE 434,518 494,683

Current liabilities mENBE (43,097) (405,863)

Huajun Leasing
EEHE

Year ended Year ended

31 March 31 March

2018 2017

BZE HE

—E-N\F —T—tF

ZA=+—-B =A=+—H

LFEE LEFE

RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR¥T R ARET T

Revenue EERE 17,928 85,225
(Loss) profit and total comprehensive (BR)RAMNEE2E (A )WES

(expense) income 4a%E (6,975) 46,100

(Loss) profit allocated to DT IEFERE IR R A

non-controlling interests 2 (E18) =7 (2,093) 13,830

Cash flows from operating activities KETHELEZRESRE 255,896 49,176

Cash flows from investing activities KRERDHEEZHRSRE 92 300,628

Cash flows used in financing activities REEEFERA R RE (281,814) (317,274)

’

2017/20184F %k
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

52. STATE T OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 52. D\ Z B EAR R 3
CO ANY
2018 2017
—E—N\EF —E—+F
RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARBFR ARETT

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERERE
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Interests in subsidiaries A GIENGIP Fa 1,221,641 903,459
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUHI B A R 2 KA 5,739,030 3,344,510
6,960,671 4,247,969
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries I ENCIPE e 638,852 3,019,684
Deposits and prepayments e RIE B 19,655 3,610
Tax recoverable BB 300 329
Bank balances and cash IRITHEBNIRS 17,336 4,347
676,143 3,027,970
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBER
Other payables H At e~ 5k 18,865 4,876
Amounts due to subsidiaries FETHI B R R 2 kI8 3,144,079 2,447,007
Convertible bonds - liability component  AJ[#& &% - BE3H 723,506 -
Convertible bonds — derivative component AJ# &% — P74 5D 125,702 =
Corporate bonds NAElfES 128,042 =
Bank borrowings RITER 103,366 265,039
4,243,560 2,716,922
NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES) ASSETS EREB(EH/EE (3,567,417) 311,048
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERRDEE
LIABILITIES 3,393,254 4,559,017
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FEREBEE
Borrowings from immediate REBBREZERARZER
holding company 520,000 999,321
Corporate bonds NGIIEES 128,223 243,161
Convertible bonds - liability component — A[# & &4 - BEZH - 259,864
Convertible bonds — derivative component RAJ3#2RX &% — $THE 2D - 19,073
648,223 1,521,419
NET ASSETS BEE 2,745,031 3,037,598
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXNH#E
Share capital R& R 55,203 55,203
Reserves 1 2,689,828 2,982,395
TOTAL EQUITY ERBEE 2,745,031 3,037,598
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

52. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF  52. KQATZHHEMRRE (&)
THE COMPANY (Continued)
Movement in reserves REEE
Retained
Share-based Deemed  Convertible profits
Share Share  Contrbuted ~ payment  Exchange contribution  bonds equity ~(accumulated
capital ~ premium surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve losses) Total
HRfaERE fif  TERES  REE
Re  RGEE SRS NERE  ERBR  RERE  RGRE  (2RER) ]
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETT  ARETR  ARETT  ARETT  ARETR  ARETT ARETT  ARETR
At 1 April 201 N-E-7EMA-H 58T 2295604 69,589 17,059 14,403 13735 - 10185 2564013
Loss for the year FEER = = = = = = = (95,808 (95,808)
Other comprehensive income A2ElE = = = = 7158 = = = 7158
Total comprehensive income ERAENA(RR)EE
(expense) for the year = = = = 11582 = = (95,806) (18,224)
Issue of shares ki 346 23,176 - - - - - - 266,592
Expense incurred in connection BFREENRY
with the issue of new shares = (6932 = = - - - - (6932
Deemed contribution from immediate  B{EARTERER
holding company of the Company ~~ AFZ 34 - - - - - 81,624 - - 81,624
Deemed contribution from acquisition /Wi —TEHI B
of asubsidiary DElZHE - - - - - 105 - - 005
Recognition of share-based payment ~ BEAMRA BER 213 - - - 49900 - - - - 1990
At 31 March 2017 ARtk
ZR=t-H 55,203 2,551,048 09,589 66,959 92,025 195,924 - 6,050 3,037,598
Loss for the year EEER - - - - - - - (31,648)  (31,648)
Other comprehensive expense H2ERY - - - - (245,965) - - - (245,965)
Total comprehensive expense FELTRYAR
for the year - - - - (245,969) - - (31,648  (217,613)
Expiy of share options EiEnD - - - (15,970 - - - 15,970 -
Deemed contribution from RERARERERATZE
immedfate holding company g
of the Company - - - - - 50812 - - 50812
Reversal of deemed contrbution from  AEREARA
the contralling Company LA - - - - - (65.766) - - (65.766)
At31 March 2018 RoE-NE
=R=t-H 55,203 2,551,848 69,589 50989 (153,940) 180,970 - (9,628) 2,745,031
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR Rk AT

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE—T—\F=A=1—HIFFE

53. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS 53. FEHFBEERS

subsidiary of the Company, has entered into a debt
restructuring arrangement with a private company
wholly owned by Mr. Meng and Changzhou Zhongrong,
pursuant to which Jintan Ruixin is agreed to offset
the amount due from Changzhou Zhongrong of
RMB85,275,000 with amount due to immediate holding
company.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the consideration
from the disposal of Zhejiang Linhai and Liaoning Yinzhu
of RMB190,000,000 and RMB75,000,000, respectively, are
settled against the amount due to immediate holding
company upon completion.

On 31 December 2016, the Group has entered into a
loan restructuring agreement with Hareon Solar and
a company controlling by Mr. Meng. Pursuant to the
agreement, the Group has assigned net receivables
of RMB63,369,000 due from Hareon Solar and its
subsidiaries to Yingkou Huajun Jincheng Investment Co.,
Ltd., an indirect wholly-owned subsidiarity controlled by
Mr. Meng.

54. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 17 May 2018, the Group entered into equity transfer
agreements with an entity indirectly ultimately owned by
Mr. Meng and Ms. Bao (the “Seller”), pursuant to which
the Seller has conditionally agreed to sell, and the Group
have conditionally agreed to purchase the entire equity
interest in Yingkou Yi Hua Green Packaging Printing
Company Limited for a consideration of RMB30,000,000.
The equity transfer agreements are subject to a number
of conditions precedent which include, without limitation,
the approval by the independent shareholders of the
Company. Completion of the equity transfer agreements
is subject to the conditions precedents have not been
fulfilled up to the date of this report. The Directors are
in the process of assessing the financial impact of this
proposed acquisition. It is not practicable to provide a
reasonable estimate of that effect until a detailed review
has been completed.

(@) On 30 March 2018, Jintan Ruixin, a wholly owned (@ RZZE—NF=ZA=+H ' A2Q7

EEWMBARZERME R AR
BEERERBOMLARRREIM
hRIFTZEEEATE Bl £
B35 R B B A JE A9 B B #E AR X B3R
HEEREEMPROKBARE
85,275,0007T °

HE-_Z—NE=A=t+—HBI*#E
B HENIRESEREERKENA
B 5 3 A E #190,000,0007T & A R
575,000,000 7T H SEAK 14 AR E 1S EL 3%
AR N Bl FRIE IS o

R-ZTE—XRE+-_A=+—H " &
SEEGEEX R NE —MHRLER
FIR AR — D ERERHZ -
BIEZZE - AEEDEERSE
KRREMBRARZERKBFRE
AR #63,369,0007T F 5 LE 12l /9
ME2ENBARLNEE IR
BEBHRAT o

. REBERR 2SR

RZB-N\FEA++LAH Fx&£H
E-RpakERBLE((ES]
MESEEANERI LREER
W& B BEHEEKRERER
& MAKECDERUEREBEAZ
ARESERRNBERAF 2
Pt - 1B A AR¥30,000,0007T °
BEEERBEIE T EREMEHR
B BFEERRR) AREEILRK
ROV - RIEEZBHRART LR
R ZERIRTT AT SERK » T A B 61
BEEAHSHPHARER - BEFLE
AEZEBRRBETENYBEZE -
RERFARS MY ZTERES
BEEF ) E A AT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBmRME

For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—T—\F=HA=1—HIFE

54. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
(Continued)

(b)

On 23 May 2018, Huajun Wisdom Energy Limited
Company, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group entered into six non-legally binding memoranda
of understanding with several different vendors of the
potential acquisition of the entire equity interest in six
separate companies.

In June 2018, Jiangsu Nantong Erjian Group Company
Ltd. (“Jiangsu Nantong Erjian”) has initiated several
legal proceedings as plaintiff against several subsidiaries
of the Company in the PRC in respect of certain
construction contracts disputes. The total amount
in disputes was approximately RMB552,957,000. In
addition, the Group has received court orders to freeze
and preserve parcels of land owned by the Group in
Shanghai and Dalian, certain properties in Yingkou, and
certain bank accounts.

The Group has sought legal opinion on the disputes from
its legal counsel in the PRC, who is of the opinion that
certain amounts claimed by Jiangsu Nantong Erjian are
without sufficient grounds. Accordingly, the Directors
consider no further provision is necessary.

As at the date of these consolidated financial statements
were approved for issuance, with the intention to settle
some of the claims of the legal proceedings, the Group
has made payment to Jiangsu Nantong Erjian in an
aggregate amount of RMB209,224,000.

2017/20184F %k

54. RIEHRZFR(E)

(b)

R-E—NFRA=-+=H' 4%
EfE2EMNBAREE S Z4)
ERAAIHEEEBEINRE HRILNE
NEEBARNNBRBESRE - A
AEBBEREAEERARNE
B A o

S

R-E—NFEARA I1#HEBE -2
EEAERAR(IHmAE-ZE
RETEEADUDBUREZHRA
AAERFEZ ZEHEAR RS
HIEARFR RSBz aRE
#45 ANR#552,957,0007T ° IS -
AEEEWEBUEEE S RE RIRTF
AREBREBRRBEZET L -
REAZETWERETRITERR -

AEEC AR BEAEREREB
ERAUMEDMER - ERBIIEHE
B_RRRNETREYERRE
BRIl EERRERIFLE—
TR -

B RERETAEFRBHEAR
AREERIHMA_BZXMEH
AR #209,224,0007T °
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY
FEBHRE

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS e

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1t-HALFE
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
—ET-mNFE ZET-RF ZIET—RF ZIET—+tF ZE-N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AREBETFIT AREFT ARETFT AREFr AR%ETx

Revenue ] 542,750 598,772 1,374,919 3,313,992 3,921,601
Profit (loss) before tax BRELATEF (E518) 118,392 338,358 26,223 134,548 (925,030)
Income tax expense Frigiifa s (20,435) (116,505) (50,712) (91,147) (3,425)

Profit (loss) for the year from FE I EL LA

continuing operation (EB#R) 97,957 221,853 (24,489) 43,401 (928,455)

Profit from discontinued 1R A
operation 1,500 28 — — -
Profit (loss) for the year FERF(EE) 99,457 221,881 (24,489) 43,401 (928,455)

Attributable to: FE1G

Shareholders of Vi/NET]E
the Company 99,257 193,891 27,090 22,717 (931,079)
Non-controlling interests eI IR AR BR R 2 200 27,990 (51,579) 20,684 2,624
99,457 221,881 (24,489) 43,401 (928,455)
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

FFEERE

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL RE BRI R
POSITION
As at 31 March
R=BA=+—-H
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
—T—mFE —T-—FF —T—RF —T—+F ZBE-NE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
AREBETFIT AREFT ARETFT AREFr AR%ETx
Total assets BEE 782,728 2,974,923 5,266,919 11,672,189 11,764,556
Total liabilities maE (276,448)  (1,896,926)  (2,291,593)  (8,146,342) (9,083,035)
506,280 1,077,997 2,975,326 3,525,847 2,681,521
Share capital R A 27,170 31,473 51,787 55,203 55,203
Reserves i 467,069 994,255 2,812,443 3,336,717 2,481,599
Equity attributable to ARBIRREEER
shareholders of
the Company 494,239 1,025,728 2,864,230 3,391,920 2,536,802
Non-controlling interests  JFHE AR A% SR AE R 12,041 52,269 111,096 133,927 144,719
Total equity RS 506,280 1,077,997 2,975,326 3,525,847 2,681,521
2017/2018F
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SUMMARY OF PROPERTIES
YE A

Particulars of the Group’s major investment properties, properties
held for sale and properties under development as at 31 March 2018
are as follows:

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

KEBR - ZE—N\F=ZA=+—H2Z2ETEBREY
¥ BEHENMERBRAMEZFBOT

BREY=

Approximate

gross floor Group’s  Land lease
Location Purpose areas interest  duration
BHBHE rEE L
i Jick: BEER FricfEzm HEHH
(sg.meter)
(FI7K)

1. Jincan Garden, Xiong Yue Town, Commercial 2,072 100%  Medium
Yingkou City, Liaoning Province, the PRC [HES H Hj
FREEEEOTREERESREE

2. Jinfeng Guesthouse, Sanjiazi Community, Commercial 2,031 100%  Medium
Bayuquan District, Yingkou City, [ f 8
Liaoning Province, the PRC
FEEERLEATRABR=RFHRSIEER

3. Medical Building, the middle of Kulun Street, Commercial 5,687 100%  Medium
Bayuquan District, Liaoning Province, the PRC SES AR ER
FEEEAHABERERAHTRBEAR

4. The basement of Xianghe Commercial Building, Commercial 3,737 100%  Medium
Xiguan Community, Gulou Office, SES  Hj
Gaizhou Country-level city, Yingkou City,

Liaoning Province, the PRC
REEERE O EMNERTREEEN LR
ANESIE

5. Commercial units at No. 4 Sanba Square, Commercial 17,309 100%  Medium
Zhongshan District, EES f HA
Dalian City, Liaoning Province, the PRC
FEEER AETHILE = \BEHAH A FE B

6. Annexe to Shun Hing Square, Residential 1,759 100%  Medium
Shennan East Road, F=E f HA

Luohu District, Shenzhen City, the PRC
R BRI T 28 A O i R R R LB IS P A
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SUMMARY OF PROPERTIES
Y E A

PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE FELERE
Approximate
gross floor Group's  Land lease
Location Purpose areas Year of interest duration
Bhem completion AEE i
B R# BEER TRHEH itk HEHR
(sq.meter)
(F%)
South-gastern side of Wang'ershan Avenue Bayuguan District, Yingkou City,  Residential 0,019 2013 100%  Long
Lianing Province, the PRC i “3-cE &8

TERERENMEARRERIAGREE

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE #REH#&FEMXE

Approximate

grossfloor  Stage of Expected Group's  Land lease

Location Purpose Site areas areas  completion completion Interest  duration
L

13 i3 HETR RAER  xARA B REEAERE  IHEREE
(sq.meter) (sq.meter)

(¥1K) (¥1k)

The south of Moon Lake Park and the west of Lizodongwan Avenue,  Residential/ 30100 199513 Final stage August 2018 100%  Medium-
Bayuguan District, Yingkou City, Liaoning Province, the PRC Commercia 5. meter F¥ ZZ-\ENR Commercial
REEER e NTHARE ARRERNER EAGEY fz/8% B0 F5 RE-A%
Long-
Residental
R
Intersection of Dongyuan Road and Jianmin Road, Gaoyou City, ~ Resicential/ 10777 307530 Superstucture  September 2020 80%  Medium-
Jiangsu Province, the PRC Commercial 5. Meter npogress  ~E-TEAR Commercil
DETERRE TR ERERRRER fiz/B% NIITTAR LERENER G
Long-
Residential
RB-fix
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SUMMARY OF PROPERTIES
YE A

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES UNDER BRPRENF
DEVELOPMENT
Approximate
gross floor ~ Stage of Expected Group's  Land lease
Location Purpose Site areas areas  completion completion Interest  duration
L
5 i3 BEER REER  7ARR REEA FEEAERE  LHEEEE
(squmeter) (sqmeter)
(FhK) (Fh%)
Investment properties under construction at Xinzhuang Town, Office/Commercial 385 185,068 Foundation 2019 100%  Medium
Minhang Distrit, Shanghai, the PRC HoE/ B mpogress  “E-N1F i
8 ETRTEER A ARRRDR RATENEES
\nvehstmemhproperties.énd?rEonstrugtion ‘{O;atedRaTd ' Office/Commercial 10857 16200 Superstructure 2019 100%  Medium
the soutn-eastern siae of the junction of itan Road an WAE Sy : —=_
Thongshan Road, Shahekou District Dalian Ctt, #E/B t]é“lﬂiz[?gf&ej‘; EAF i
Liaoning Province, the PRC ERRDRER

REREEAETYANRRERARIARRRE ) ERRANZ
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